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Revenue: R4,5 billion 
(2015: R3,6 billion)

Profit: R393 million 
(2015: R331 million)

HEPS: 255,3 cents 
(2015: 220,7 cents)

Power order book:  
R5 billion
excluding R2,3 billion  
of Round 4 renewable  
energy projects 
(2015: R4,1 billion)

Earnings ex-SA up to 68% 
(2015: 54%)

ROIC 15,7%

WACC 13,7%

CFROI 9,2% 

Successfully closed 
Conlog acquisition 
31 October 2016

▲
 26%

▲
19%

▲
15,7%

▲
 22%

Key data 
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration no: 2007/004935/06) 
ISIN: ZAE000153888 
JSE Main Board sector: Electrical Equipment 
JSE share code: CIL 
Listing date: 2007 
Shares in issue at year-end: 156 972 186 
Shares in issue at reporting date: 202 091 069 

The group’s executive directors are Raoul Gamsu (CEO) and Ivor 
Klitzner (Financial Director). They can be contacted at the registered 
office of the company (see inside back cover). 

CIG’s Integrated Annual Report 2016 is available in hard copy from 
the company secretary, on request, and is also posted on the group’s 
website:  http://www.ciglimited.co.za. 



Scope and boundary

RD Gamsu 
Chief Executive Officer 

IM Klitzner 
Financial Director 

A Dixon 
Chairman audit and risk committee

CIG is an infrastructure-focused company listed on the 
JSE Main Board in the ‘Electrical Equipment’ sector. In 
the year under review the group operated through 
four reportable divisions: Power, which supplies high 
voltage infrastructure to the energy sector; Building 
Materials, which supplies heavy building materials to the 
construction industry; Oil & Gas, which provides waste 
management services for the industrial and natural 
resources exploration sectors; and Rail, which provides 
maintenance solutions and railway electrification. 

Scope of the report 
Our 2016 integrated annual report endeavours to present a 
concise integrated overview of the ESG performance of the 
group for the year 1 September 2015 to 31 August 2016, 
and follows our integrated annual report for the previous 
year published in February 2016. Our intention is to make 
the report as easily navigable and accessible as possible,  
with all extraneous information edited out. 

Content encompasses all divisions and subsidiaries of  
the company, as illustrated in the group structure on  
page  4, across all regions of operation. However content is 
weighted according to the size of each division relative to the 
group, with Conco still the major driver of group performance 
albeit diminished overall by ongoing diversification. 

There was no change to any measurement techniques 
nor were there any restatements of previously reported 
information. For more information please see the annual 
financial statements. 

Basis of preparation 
The report primarily targets current shareholders and 
potential investors in the group, but also covers areas of 
interest to other stakeholders such as suppliers, employees, 
customers, providers of capital and government. 

The company has applied the majority of the principles in 
the King III Report. In respect of those which have not been 
applied, explanation is offered. CIG has further considered 
and applied many of the recommendations contained in 
the International Integrated Reporting Framework issued 
in December 2013. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, the requirements of the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008 (as amended), the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 
the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council.

Assurance  
The combined assurance model of the group is built 
on  three bases: 

◗ Management-based assurance 

◗ Risk and legal-based assurance 

◗  Independent assurance, which includes external and 
internal audit, ISO certification and audits conducted 
by consulting engineers and other parties. 

Responsibility statement and review 
The audit and risk committee and the board acknowledge 
their responsibility to ensure the integrity of this report. 
It has been reviewed by the audit and risk committee, the 
board, company secretary, sponsor and investor relations 
consultants. The annual financial statements included in 
this integrated annual report have been audited by the 
external auditors. 

Forward-looking statements  
This integrated annual report contains forward-looking statements that, unless otherwise indicated, reflect the company’s 
expectations as at 31 August 2016. Actual results may differ materially from the company’s expectations if known and unknown 
risks or uncertainties affect its business, or if estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate. The company cannot guarantee that any 
forward-looking statement will materialise and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements. The company disclaims any intention and assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statement even if new information becomes available as a result of future events or for any other reason, save as required to do 
so by legislation and/or regulation. The group’s external auditors and/or assurance providers have not assured these statements.



Achieving our vision

Investment case

Five-year 
compound  

average growth rate  
of share price 

▲
25%

Five-year  
compound 
PAT growth 

▲
30%

Significant  
financial growth  

through diversification

Five- 
year 
compound 

growth

Proven investor value

Our vision

To enhance shareholder value by acquiring and operating infrastructure assets  
and services that are shaping the future of Africa.

Multi-region and 
multi-sector  

strategy

Sound 
Pan-African  

strategy

Established 
track record in 
South Africa in 

renewable 
energy

Local knowledge 
and market 
intelligence

 
Innovative 

organic growth 
of new business 

streams

Delivery of  
world-class  

services and 
products

Strong 
stakeholder 

relationships

Long-term, 
prudent  

approach
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Living our values

Integrity
◗◗ Treat our employees with care, concern and respect

◗◗ Promote workplace diversity

◗◗ Support the right to employees’ freedom of association

◗◗ Employee wellness programme

◗◗ Committed to environmental responsibility

◗◗ Actively focus on preventing corruption and 
anticompetitive behaviour in a market with finite suppliers

◗◗ Committed to promoting and maintaining respect for 
human rights

◗◗ Independent external assurance on financials

Proudly a world citizen 
(starting at home!)
◗◗ Job creation

◗◗ Prioritise employment of locals

◗◗ Strong CSI programme

◗◗ Uplift skills in a skills-challenged 
industry (Conco Skills Academy)

◗◗ Ensure all completed sites are 
rehabilitated

◗◗ Develop power infrastructure in 
Africa for economic development

◗◗ Electrical and civil engineering 
internship-work integrated learning 
phase

◗◗ Bursaries for engineering students

Encourage entrepreneurship, 
ingenuity and ownership
◗◗ Operate on a decentralised basis with appropriate executive 

and management incentivisation on performance

◗◗ Develop, empower and enable our people through 
ongoing training and development (Conco Skills Academy)

◗◗ “Grow our own timber”

◗◗ Provide work for newly qualified engineers through 
Engineer in Training Programme

◗◗ Actively encourage innovative business ideas

◗◗ Support development of small and medium enterprises

Excellent service, 
quality and advice
◗◗ Delivery on time and within budget

◗◗ Target-based performance 
assessment

◗◗ Turnkey solutions at competitive 
prices

◗◗ Proven track record

◗◗ Conco ISO accreditation

◗◗ Stringent quality control

Deliver superior 
solutions
◗◗ Conco Skills Academy

◗◗ Offer recognition and appropriate 
incentives for our diverse team
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◗

Milestones

1986 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

CIG lists on AltX as 
‘Buildworks’, comprising 
the Consolidated Building 
Materials division

Conco secures a  
R200 million contract  
from Eskom for 400kV 
overhead lines 

Conco is pre-selected for  
South Africa REIPPPP bids 

Achieves R1,4 billion 
revenue

Achieves R1 billion 
revenue

Conco established as a 
family business 

CIG transfers to JSE 
Main Board ‘Electrical 
Equipment’ sector

Establishes a renewable 
energy offering in Conco 

Achieves R1,2 billion 
revenueCIG acquires Conco

Five-year review

▲ 
+187%

PAT (R’000)

136 904

171 626

258 108

331 406

392 885

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Five-year g
rowth

▲ 
+192%

Revenue (R’000) 

1 553

2 037

2 636

3 604

4 532

2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Five-year g
rowth

▲ 
+111%

EBITDA (R’000) 

225 059

278 496

317 156

414 461

475 532

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

    

Five-year g
rowth

CIG INTEGRATED 
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◗

2012 2013 2014 2015

Acquires 100% of 
electricity and smart 
meter provider Conlog 
(post year-end)

Ex-South Africa profit 
exceeds 60%

Achieves R4,5 billion 
revenue

Assisting in management 
of AES 

Achieves R2,0 billion 
revenue

Tractionel included 
in results

CIGenCo established

Achieves R3,6 billion 
revenue

CIG announces intention  
to acquire 30,5% interest 
in AES 

Establishes O&M in Conco 
to focus on long-term 
annuity contracts in 
renewable energy

Achieves R1,5 billion  
revenue

AES included in results 

Achieves R2,6 billion 
revenue

2016

For further information on the  
performance of our business  
divisions refer to pages 

 
18 to 35.

▲ 
+122%

HEPS (cents) 

115

138

188

221

255

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

    
    

Five-year g
rowth

▲ 
+150%

Order book (R billion) 

2,0
2,2

3,0

4,1

5,0

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

    
    

Five-year g
rowth
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Our operating divisions

CIG at a glance

CIG overview

CIG is a decentralised Pan-African infrastructure group, with close to 70% profit 
derived outside South Africa. 

Our core executives offer strong strategic, financial and 
operations support to each business’s individual executive 
team. Given this decentralised business model, people are the 
bedrock of our organisation and we are committed to investing 
in skills on an ongoing basis. 

Strategically as a group we seek to grow through diversification 
– both geographically and sectorally – at this stage reinvesting 
our capital to fuel growth rather than returning funds to 
investors. 

WE ARE AFRO-OPTIMISTS AND AIM TO BE  
‘THE CAREFUL AFRICAN BULL AMONGST THE BEARS’ 

Mauritius serves as the head office of the 
international operations for CIG and Conco.

*

Power Building 
Materials

Oil & Gas Rail

CONLOG**
Consolidated 

Power  
Maintenance

 
 International

 
Africa

Consolidated 
Power  

Projects  
Group

Consolidated 
Building  
Materials

CIGenCo
CIG  

Angola 1*

Angola  
Environmental 

Services

*  Additional international 
investments will fall  
under CIG International.  
CIG Angola 1 is a SPV  
serving as a holding  
company

** Acquired post year-end

CIG  
International* Tractionel

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016
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Power geographical revenue split (R million)

 SA       International       Renewable energy

1 713

2014

48%

29%

23%

2015

34%

2 236

50%

16%

18%

53%

2016

2 951

29%

100%

Power order book (R billion)

 SA       International       Renewable energy

2,9

2014 2015 2016

5,0

0,4

2,1

2,5

4,1

1,7

1,2

1,1

0,4

1,5

+32%

+43%

+22%

1,0

FY16 CIG segmental PAT (R million)

45
11

136

32

Total

393

269

124

169

101

68

 SA       International

CIG a growth stock – ROIC and CFROI (%)

2015 2016

ROIC

WACC

CFROI

Focus on Power – 80% contribution to revenue

18%

53%
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◗ Funding
◗ Manufacturing facilities
◗ Financial, engineering and manufacturing skills
◗ Industry expertise
◗ On-the-ground local knowledge
◗ Cash resources
◗ Partnerships 

What we use

Our business model

◗ High voltage turnkey electrical substations
◗ Overhead power lines
◗ Renewable energy – wind and solar solutions
◗ Containerised substations
◗ Smart grid solutions
◗ Low voltage products and services
◗ Batteries and chargers
◗ Control centre applications
◗ Smart meters 
◗ Oil and gas waste management services 
◗ Crushed stone and rock
◗ Face, semi-faced and plaster clay bricks
◗ Concrete roof tiles 
◗ Railway electrification 

What we produce

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016
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◗ Innovative products and solutions
◗ Access to power for homes, businesses and 

industry
◗ Improved transport links through electrified 

railway lines
◗ Improved environmental impact of oil and gas 

companies through support services 
◗ Improved infrastructure
◗ Construction of housing, schools and roads
◗ Shareholder value
◗ Job creation
◗ Skills development
◗ Economic upliftment
◗ Transformation

The value we create 

WELL-DEVELOPED 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
IS CRITICAL TO THE 
STRENGTH OF A 
COUNTRY’S ECONOMY. 
EFFECTIVE TRANSPORT 
AND POWER NETWORKS 
CREATE THE CONDITIONS 
UNDER WHICH 
BUSINESSES GROW AND 
THE WIDER ECONOMY 
FUNCTIONS EFFECTIVELY



8 Leadership reports

Chairman’s report

Reaping the benefits of our five-year plan 
Despite a challenging economic environment CIG’s five-year 
growth strategy proved its mettle and delivered another 
commendable set of results. We have seen revenue and  
HEPS increase by 192% and 122%, respectively since FY12. 

OUR RELENTLESS 
EXECUTION OF STRATEGY 
HAS DELIVERED REAL, 
TANGIBLE RESULTS FOR 
SHAREHOLDERS BY 
EFFECTIVELY COUNTERING 
THE DRAMATIC UPHEAVAL 
ACROSS OUR MARKETS 

This was achieved through continued focus on diversification – 
both geographically and by sector – within our three-pronged 
strategic framework:

1. Strategic growth of divisions

2. Transformative investments

3.  Formation of Pan-African growth engine.

CIG continues to invest innovatively ahead of the curve. 
Investments in renewable energy, AES and Tractionel as well 
as an ever increasing geographical footprint across Africa have 
proven to be earnings enhancing, and we believe CPM, CIGenCo 
and Conlog are investments which will prove their value to 
shareholders by enabling the group to tap into market needs 
early. (See Chief Executive Officer’s report on page  12◗for 
more detail on the Conlog acquisition.) In light of the updated 
group structure, strategy has been refined to better position 
the group for 2021 (see graphic on page  10).

Measuring our success
For the past year we have looked at institutionalising measures 
of efficiency – return on invested capital (ROIC) and cash flow 
return on investment (CFROI). Our achievements in this regard 
demonstrate our viability as a growth stock with a ROIC of 
15,7%, which is above the weighted average cost of capital 
of 13,7%, and CFROI improving to 9,2%, ahead of the global 
average of 6%.

Africa in focus
Despite the slump in commodities and pockets of socio-
economic and political upheaval, which have dampened 

growth prospects for Africa, the continent is still rising, albeit 
slower than anticipated. There are a number of reasons to be 
optimistic such as dramatic reforms, increased infrastructure 
investment, respect for voter outcomes and the improved 
performance of technocrats. For instance, of the  
48 countries measured in the World Bank’s Ease of Doing 
Business Report, 37 have adopted approximately 80 or more 
reforms to improve governance.

In the past year Africa’s growth has dropped to below 4%. 
However normalising the macro-economic shocks of  
the past year, Africa is still projected to be the second  
fastest growing continental economy in the world. Over  
USD90 billion is needed for infrastructure investment, of which 
USD40,8 billion is required for power infrastructure alone, 
with widespread support from the international community. 
Given that an improved power infrastructure is the ultimate 
facilitator of long-term growth in an economy, and the 
urbanisation and development mandate across Africa,  
CIG’s aggressive growth strategy is based on solid drivers. 

Source: McKinsey, IMF, Trading Economics

Spending need by sector (USD billion)

 Capital      O&M

93,4

Total

40,826,7 14,1

18,28,8 9,4

3,52,9

0,6

9,07,0

2,0

21,914,9 7,0

60,4

33,0

ICT

Irrigation

Power

Transport

Water supply

CIG has further seen international competition in Africa 
decrease recently, as internationals ‘get their fingers burnt’ 
or conversely, African companies improve their ability to 
compete. 

When assessing risk in Africa, CIG takes the approach of 
looking past public perception in order to understand the 
real factors on the ground. Having offices and skills at source 
has been key in achieving the risk assessment and, as an 
added bonus, has also ensured that CIG is in the right place to 
identify and capitalise on opportunities early. 

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016
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GDP growth 2016
◗  Ethiopia 8,7%

◗  Kenya 6,2%

◗  Ivory Coast 9,5%

◗  Rwanda 5,4%

◗  Senegal 5,7%

◗  DRC 4,7%

Renewable energy
◗  West Africa: Many West African 

countries setting RE generation 
capacity targets

◗  East Africa: Track record of  
RE projects under construction 
or completed

◗  Southern Africa: Growth in 
smaller REIPP initiatives

Leadership reports

Our regional approach and markets in context

  CIG presence       Not present

Geographical footprint

Saudi Arabia
Oman

Nigeria

Morocco

Algeria

Mauritania

Libya Egypt

Tunisi
a

Chad

NigerMali

Cameroon

Senegal
Gambia

Guinea

Sierra Leone

Guinea-Bissau

Liberia

Ghana

Nigeria

Côte  
d’lvoire

Be
ni

n

Burkina Faso

Togo

Gabon
Congo

Equatorial Guinea

Sao Tome 
and Principe

Angola

Zambia

Namibia Botswana

Zimbabwe

South Africa

Lesotho

Swaziland

Moza
mbique

MauritiusM
ad

ag
as

ca
r

Malawi

Tanzania

Burundi

Rwanda
KenyaUganda

Democratic 
Republic of the 
Congo (DRC)

Ethiopia
South Sudan

Sudan

Djibouti

Somalia

Central African 
Republic

Saudi Arabia
Oman

United Arab 
Emirates

Eritrea

SOUND PAN-AFRICAN  
STRATEGY

MULTI-REGION AND 
MULTI-SECTOR STRATEGY
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1 2 3 

Accelerate growth by applying 
strategic, operational and financial 
levers to navigate market conditions 
and outperform competition

Seek and acquire infrastructure 
companies and projects which can 
significantly enhance the value of the 
group, strategically and financially

Build a group support structure which 
extends reach, adds management 
capacity to subsidiaries and properly 
‘corporatises’ new investments, 
making the whole greater than the 
sum of its parts

◗  Slowdown in SA impacting  
Conco SA, CPM and Energy 
Solutions

◗  International power business 
taking off

◗  Building Materials facing stagnant 
SA market

◗  AES performing in Angola

◗  SA rail stabilising

◗  CIGenCo making substantial 
progress on building pipeline

◗  R750 million to R850 million 
Conlog acquisition concluded

◗  Development of human capital 
becoming a growing focus

◗  Group assisted in closing a 
number of deals for subsidiaries

◗  Africa risk becoming increasingly 
difficult to manage

Highlights FY16
◗ Power

–   Revenue up 28%

–   EBITDA up 21%

–   4x growth in International 

–   Energy Solutions evolving

◗  Building Materials EBITDA up 12% 
despite decline in revenue

◗  AES contribution up 24%

◗ Tractionel order book up 131%

◗  CIGenCo pipeline of 10 projects 
worth R1,3 billion

◗  Conlog revenue 60% to 70% 
international with high cash 
conversion ratio. FY15 results 
would have added 13% to CIG 
revenue

◗  Hired talent management 
executive to oversee 
development of human  
capital across the group

◗  Looking to hire additional  
group support

◗  Continue to apply vigorous  
risk management across  
the group

What we plan to do

◗   Deeper regional integration and 
market-based growth

◗    Bring the best of the group to 
every market we touch

◗    Further enhance efficiency

◗    Aggressively manage risk at 
subsidiary level

◗  Find new ways to diversify and 
extend the CIG platform

◗  Adapt investment approach or 
launch and stabilise start-ups if 
there is an unfulfilled market need

◗  Find new and innovative ways to 
partner for regional growth

◗  Aggressively address talent and 
risk management

◗  Continuously seek to optimise 
capital structure (debt, equity)

Our strategy in action 

Status

Chairman’s report continued

Leadership reports

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016
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Our hands-on understanding of the dynamics on the continent and our ability to adapt accordingly mean that we:

◗  Manage volatility well by diversifying our business

◗  Manage technological disruption by investing in the newest trends

◗  Favour a long-term growth strategy  

◗ Utilise debt conservatively 

◗ Understand our clients’ needs and preferences 

◗ Invest in human capital 

◗ Maintain an entrepreneurial culture.

Dividend
The dividend policy was reviewed by the board and after taking into account prevailing circumstances and future cash 
requirements, all earnings generated by the group will continue to be utilised to fund the anticipated growth, to settle 
the additional payment due on the Conlog acquisition and for investment opportunities within CIGenCo. Accordingly, 
no dividend was recommended for the year.

Outlook
Our investments during the year have positioned us well for HEPS growth in FY17.

What we did in FY16 …to capitalise in FY17

Conservative management of 
leverage positions the group 
well for HEPS growth

Frugal utilisation of debt vs. equity at 
approximately 15% ratio to fund growth

◗  Headroom to fund future growth without 
negatively impacting HEPS

Investment in South African 
projects poised to pay off if 
2017 picks up

Endeavoured to counter the slowdown in 
South African government spending on 
renewable energy – impacted earnings 
and HEPS

◗  Start of Round 4 could provide significant 
immediate uplift – R2,3 billion ‘shovel 
ready’ work

◗  Municipality tenders picking up pace – 
CIG well positioned 

Focus on structural changes 
to diversify profile of 
profitability and cash flows 

Invested in stabilising Conco International, 
CIGenCo and CPM and acquiring Conlog

◗  Conco International expansion – three 
new countries and one mega project

◗  CIGenCo, Conlog and CPM balancing 
earnings and cash flow profile

Appreciation
I thank Raoul Gamsu, Ivor Klitzner and the management team for their commitment and hard work in realising the group’s 
strategic objectives which has yet again led to sterling results. My appreciation also to my fellow board members for their 
ongoing wise counsel and our shareholders for their valued support.

Frank Boner
Chairman

22 February 2017

Leadership reports
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CEO’s report

Another stellar performance for the 
group is pleasing, with our subsidiaries 
achieving real earnings growth despite 
macro-economic uncertainties.  
All key indicators reflect commendable 
growth: revenue was up 26% to  
R4,5 billion, EBITDA increased 15%  
to R476 million, PAT grew 18% to  
R392 million and HEPS rose 16% to  
255 cents compared to 221 cents  
in the prior year. 

We achieved growth outside South Africa with ex-South 
Africa profits increasing to 68% from 54% of total profits in 
FY15. Power remained our largest contributor to profit at 
42%, during the year, comprising mainly Conco. 

Given that local skills and presence are increasingly beneficial 
both strategically and operationally, we have focused on 
ensuring these are in place and have made this one of our 
distinctive strengths. While this strategy may increase our 
cost base, we are better able to identify viable prospects 
early and mitigate execution risk, making it worth the 
investment. 

             Revenue

▲◗26%
             EBITDA

▲15%
             HEPS

▲16%

Funding
We have created short-term headroom in our funding 
strategy with cash on hand and facilities of R958 million. 
With anticipated cash calls of R217 million, this is headroom 
of around R740 million. In the long term we are seeking 
to reduce the cost of capital and better align the funding 
structure with the business model by seeking USD- or  
Euro-based funding as opposed to ZAR-based.

Conlog acquisition
Post year-end we concluded our largest acquisition to date 
with an up to R850 million purchase of smart meter leader 
Conlog. With strong sector momentum, outstanding financial 
performance, capable management and a remarkable export 
track record to Africa, Conlog is a seamless fit with the CIG 
group. It is also the ideal extension to our primary electricity 
infrastructure operation Conco and further diversifies 
our earnings in the fast-growing sector. (See ‘The Conlog 
acquisition in a snapshot’ on page  13◗for further detail.)

Conlog’s dynamic management team complements CIG’s 
existing business management teams and the business will 
dovetail seamlessly into our decentralised operations model. 

Importantly Conlog is less capital intensive than Conco and 
is strongly cash generative, which will strengthen the Power 
division’s business and financial model. The inclusion of 
Conlog in CIG should boost group EBITDA by more than 
35% ahead of FY16. 

In order to fund the Conlog acquisition we undertook a rights 
offer fully underwritten by Investec and Pinecourt Advisors. 
The offer closed on 25 November 2016 and we raised R750 
million through the issue of 36,8 million shares at R19,30 a 
share – equating to a discount of 19,75% – in a ratio of 23,8 
shares for every 100 existing shares. 

Leadership reports

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016



13

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 

2016

The Conlog acquisition in a snapshot
The transformative acquisition ticks all our criteria:

1 Strong business 
intrinsics 2 Excellent growth 

prospects 3 Attractive  
deal

Demonstrates compelling business 
model and attributes necessary to 
outperform competition

Further positions CIG to benefit from 
Africa’s infrastructure growth

Earnings enhancing with 
attractive ROI

◗  Track record of delivery across 
global footprint

◗  Robust commercial and 
operational capabilities

◗ Few competitors

◗  Security of revenue more critical 
as governments move to cost- 
reflective tariffs

◗ Hard currency contracts

◗  Can leverage CIG relationships in 
under penetrated regions 

◗  Solid margins and working capital 
and capex light

◗  Strong cash generation

◗   Exceeding financial performance 
expectations 

Conlog 
ticking the 

boxes

* Source: IEA World Energy Outlook; Market Data; Expert Interviews; DD analysis

Established in 1965, Durban-based Conlog is a leading developer, manufacturer and distributor of pre-paid electricity meters and 
related applications and support services for Africa and other international emerging markets. Pre-paid meters help ensure both 
improved access to electricity for consumers in emerging markets and enhanced operations for cash-starved utilities as a reliable 
tool for revenue capture. To this end Conlog provides utilities and municipalities with services such as revenue management, 
revenue protection, pre-payment with smart load control and load management. 

Conlog’s footprint spans 20+ countries in Africa – with pole position in southern and eastern Africa – generating 60-70% of revenue 
ex-South Africa. Locally Conlog is one of the top suppliers of pre-paid electricity meters and management. Conlog is looking to build 
significant positions in the Middle East and West Africa going forward and will look to continue its penetration in East and southern Africa. 
The R&D department is focused on developing product features and price points specifically for the African and other emerging markets.

Market drivers*
◗  Rate of electrification expected to increase to 51% of households by 2020 – CAGR of 5% per annum

◗  Meter penetration expected to increase from 24% to 37% of connected households – a CAGR of 15% per annum

◗ 15% real growth rate in African meter market

Leadership reports
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CEO’s report continued

Smart pre-paid meters: 
how they work

1.  End-users purchase pre-
paid tokens to load utility 
onto their conventional 
pre-paid meters and 
manage spend

2.  Utility can 
leverage wireless 
communications from 
smart-thin meters to 
monitor consumption

3.  Utilities are piloting 
smart meters for 
two-way wireless 
communications 
with the utility

Wind farm

PV plant

Transmission

Utility control 
operations

Generation 

Leadership reports
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1.  Purchase pre-paid  
tokens (meter)

2.  Utility personnel 
inspections (installation)

3.  Wireless communications 
with the utility

Distribution

Homes

Commercial

Pre-paid tokens

Leadership reports
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CEO’s report continued

Divisional overview
See pages  18 to 35 for further detail on our operations.

Power
Conco continued to expand its footprint across the African 
continent and generated R1,85 billion revenue ex-South Africa. 
The international order book grew by 92% to R2,3 billion. 
Conco’s expanded presence is improving its ability to source 
new projects and become established as a preferred supplier 
by region. Overall demand for electrification remained high, 
particularly in East and southern Africa.

In South Africa Conco’s performance was impacted by the low 
level of municipal project awards and a delay to the Round 4 
REIPPP. On the upside, work obtained from Eskom increased 
considerably.

A proposed acquisition by management of an equity interest 
in the Conco South Africa business remains a key objective 
and should be concluded in the year ahead. The highly 
experienced team of black engineers and managers buying  
in is led by Conco managing director Mr Slu Gesha. 

CONSOLIDATED ENERGY 
SOLUTIONS PERFORMED 
WELL WITH GROWTH IN 
REVENUE AND EBITDA. THE 
DIVISION WON A NUMBER 
OF LONG-TERM ANNUITY 
CONTRACTS IN THE YEAR, 
WHICH WILL BOOST 
REVENUE AND PROFIT  
FROM 2017

Consolidated Power Maintenance reported a loss for the 
year due to insufficient new contract wins, inappropriate 
over investment in resources and an inadequate response 
to soft market conditions. In order to improve performance 
going forward, the business has refined its tendering model 
and ramped up tender submissions to municipalities for 
transmission and distribution maintenance work. In addition, 
it has increased its business development outside South Africa 
to target the renewable energy sector as well as traditional 
transmission and distribution projects. CIG remains confident 
that the business will be able to gain further traction in 

the South African renewable energy sector once the initial 
maintenance warranty periods on existing projects reach  
their expiry dates over the next few years.

CIGenCo secured two small solar PV projects in Namibia 
during the year and has further established a pipeline across 
the continent. Two of the potential projects are currently in 
the financing phase and the intention is to secure funding 
for approximately 75% of the project costs from export 
credit agencies and commercial banks. The business did 
not generate revenue in FY16.

Consolidated Building Materials
The division delivered outstanding results at odds with a 
poor trading environment. It managed to sustain pricing 
and achieved a favourable sales weighting of higher margin 
products. Cost containment was excellent and allowed the 
division to deliver profit growth despite a decline in total 
volumes.

Oil & Gas 
Profits from AES were bolstered by higher volumes processed 
following the zero discharge law brought into effect on  
1 January 2016 and foreign currency devaluation. While it 
has been challenging to remit foreign currency from Angola, 
remittances nonetheless improved by 30% for the eight 
months to August 2016 compared to the same period in 2015. 
CIG is currently earning a USD 23% cash return on our original 
investment and a USD 26% return on the average carrying 
value of the investment.

Rail
Despite the year-on-year increase in performance, the 
business performed below expectations as Transnet cut its 
capex budget on the back of weaker commodity prices and 
there was a slowdown in activity at PRASA.

Our people
Investing in human capital and our partnerships has proven 
essential to CIG’s sustainable growth. As a decentralised 
business, the right people in the right positions is a key risk 
mitigator for us. In the year we appointed a strategic talent 
management executive at group level and continued to invest 
heavily in talent management, executive development and 
recruiting. 

Our committed approach to relationship building extends 
outside the group to our external stakeholders including 
customers, partners and funders. To this end, in the year 
we sought to improve coordination between group businesses 
to bring our customers the best options and expanded our 
relationships with our financial partners to extend across 
the continent.

Leadership reports
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Looking to the medium term we are encouraged that the 
sector is stabilising and that the oil majors are planning 
increased exploration from 2017. Our private equity partner 
in AES continues to explore an exit strategy with regard to its 
16,5% interest in the business. This is not expected to have 
an impact on AES and CIG.

The recent order book gains in the Rail division will drive 
growth in Tractionel in the short term. While further delays 
are expected from PRASA, the eventual roll-out of the new 
locomotive programme will substantially enhance the potential 
for new work.

In order to reduce the cost of funding we are exploring the 
option of matching international revenues with either USD or 
Euro funding. It is anticipated that the cost of funding would 
then be lower than current funding rates in South Africa.

CIG HAS ENTERED THE 
NEW FINANCIAL YEAR 
OPTIMISTIC THAT OUR 

GEOGRAPHIC AND 
SECTOR STRATEGIES ARE 

YIELDING RESULTS AND 
THAT SUFFICIENT CAPITAL 

IS AT OUR DISPOSAL TO 
TAKE ADVANTAGE OF 

OPPORTUNITIES

Raoul Gamsu
CEO

22 February 2017

Prospects
Prospects remain positive in the Power division across  
South Africa and into sub-Saharan Africa. The order book has 
continued to grow substantially in absolute terms as well as in 
the average size of projects, demonstrating Conco’s reputation 
for providing innovative, large scale technical solutions on 
time and on budget. Conco’s improved focus across multiple 
sectors and a diversified geographic base further enables the 
business to mitigate the risk of a sector- or region-specific 
downturn.

The South African market is difficult to assess, with Eskom 
spend increasing substantially while municipalities have 
curtailed expenditure despite the backlog of almost R39 billion.

Conco has previously won contract awards of R2,3 billion 
from Rounds 4 and 4,5 of the Renewable Energy Feed-In 
Tariff Programme. Despite announced commitments by both 
government and Eskom to proceed, the commencement dates 
have been delayed by months. We have therefore excluded 
these contracts from the reported order book.

The group has competence in the provision of electrical 
Balance of Plant in the renewable wind sector and is working 
to expand our offerings to the solar PV market. It is pleasing 
that renewables work ex-South Africa is gaining increasing 
momentum and we have orders of R350 million and  
21 submitted proposals in this regard. In the event that  
South Africa continues to slow the roll-out of the REIPPP,  
the impact on CIG will be mitigated by work from outside 
South Africa. African utilities are expected to continue 
providing strong growth prospects and while awards in the  
oil-exporting countries are slow, the majority of the countries 
on the continent are oil importers and remain committed 
to the expansion of infrastructure. As a result, Conco 
International should be able to leverage the increasing 
number of quality opportunities, particularly in East Africa, 
Ethiopia and southern Africa, to deliver growth. 

The recently acquired Conlog business is on track to exceed its 
profit warranty for 2016 and the introduction to the company 
of some of Conco’s clients will enhance performance in the 
medium term. Expansion of Conlog’s pre-paid services offering 
will be a priority going forward.

Building Materials has seen a moderate pickup in demand post 
municipal elections and the division is particularly innovative 
in sourcing new opportunities. The increasing trend among 
cement manufacturers to explore alternative strategies for 
future growth could be advantageous.

The market for Oil & Gas services in the short term will remain 
flat. AES will continue to process high volumes of materials but 
rental utilisation, currently just above 50%, will be stagnant. 
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Our operations in a snapshot

Operational review

CONCO SA AND CONCO  
INTERNATIONAL

CEO: David van Zyl

CONSOLIDATED POWER  
MAINTENANCE 

CEO: Pius Gumbi

CONCO ENERGY 
SOLUTIONS

CEO: Andreas Richelmann

◗  Africa’s leading supplier of high 
voltage turnkey electrical substations, 
overhead power lines, renewable 
energy – wind and solar – and related 
products 

◗  Completed almost 2 000 projects
◗  Recognised as the largest high voltage 

turnkey solutions provider in  
sub-Saharan Africa constructing  
11kV to 765kV substations

◗  Provides long-term operational and 
maintenance services to wind farms, 
solar parks, municipalities and utilities 
– often on projects constructed 
by Conco

◗  Responsible for maintaining the 
power infrastructure for clients 
(typically municipalities and mines) 
or owners of renewable assets

◗  Provides customised secondary 
plant solutions to protect and 
automate EHV, HV and MV electrical 
infrastructure. These include 
containerised substations, smart 
grid solutions, low voltage products 
and services, batteries and chargers, 
control centre applications as well as 
telecommunications solutions

◗  Offering includes remote monitoring 
with full visualisation of substations

◗   Skilled, committed and engaged 
workforce with solid Africa knowledge

◗  Agnostic product = flexibility in 
tailoring solutions to customer 
requirements

◗   Largest Africa-based turnkey EPC 
in sub-Saharan Africa

◗   Deep African market knowledge
◗   Active in over 25 countries in sub-

Saharan Africa and the Middle East

◗   Only large scale local operator
◗   Redeploys skills transfer recipients 

to other projects – maintain skills
◗   Well established skills training model 

(Conco Skills Academy)

◗   In-house design 
◗   Strong automation and protection
◗   Having all processes in-house 

ensures full supervision and provides 
flexibility to clients in customisation

◗   No supplier allegiance – tailors 
solution to project requirements

◗   SAPVIA (South African Photovoltaic Industry 
Association)

◗   ISO 9001:2015

◗   International Electrotechnical Commission
◗   South African National Standards
◗   ISO 9001:2008
◗   ISO 14000

◗   ISO 9000 ◗   ISO 55000 in process

Power See page 
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◗   ISO 18000
◗   9EP Construction Industry 

Development Board rating 

◗   ISO 14001:2015

◗ OIFNS 180001:2017

CIG INTEGRATED 
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DRIFT SUPERSAND 
WEST END CLAYBRICK

CEO: Jannie Hooman

Drift Supersand
◗  Provides crushed stone and rock 

for the construction industry for 
application in roads, readymix, 
concrete and for stabilisation

◗  Produces 2,2 million tonnes of 
aggregate per annum

West End Claybrick
◗  Manufactures face, semi-faced and 

plaster clay bricks and a range of 
concrete roof tiles for the building 
sector including developers, 
contractors and wholesalers

◗  Produces 15 million roof tiles and  
70 – 75 million bricks per annum

◗   Continued strong performance  
in challenging market

◗   Availability of material (aggregates)
◗   Production to sales ratio of  

1:1 – no stockpiling
◗   Quality of product (aggregates)  

– both inherent and production
◗   Reliable supplier
◗   Strong service and client relationships 

– single largest supplier to large scale 
projects and clients

◗   Efficient and effective fixed plant backed 
up by flexible mobile crushing units 

  What we do      What makes us stand out       Our accreditations

◗   SABS certified

Consolidated Building Materials See page 
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AES

CEO: Morten Eriksen

◗  Provides full integrated waste 
management services to the oil and 
gas industry. This encompasses the 
collection, recycling and disposal of  
oil-based waste created during the 
drilling process

◗   Local company with over 95%  
local content

◗   World class technology
◗   Ten-year track record servicing 

major players
◗   Cradle to grave services for oil and 

gas industry in Angola

TRACTIONEL

CEO: Danie Lubbe

◗  Leading railway electrification 
company in South Africa

◗  Provides transmission lines, 
substations up to 132 kV as well 
as installation and maintenance of 
electrical lines for railway lines

◗  Provides railway maintenance 
services to Gautrain, Transnet, 
PRASA, private siding owners such 
as mining houses

◗   33-year track record 
◗   Largest privately owned fleet of 

specialised rail/road vehicles to 
execute rail-based construction 
and maintenance

◗   Turnkey solutions
◗   Four sole agencies for specialised 

railway electrification materials
◗   Diversified in railway and power sector

◗   ISO 9001
◗   OHSAS 18001

◗   ISO 14001

◗  Application for ISO 14001 and  
OHSAS 108001 IN FY17

Oil & Gas

Rail See page 

 34

See page 

 32
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Power
Conco SA and Conco International

Despite tough market conditions we again delivered double-digit growth for all key 
indicators. The South African economy continued to grow at a slower rate than the 
rest of the continent.  

Operational review

Revenue (R’million)

2014 2015 2016

2 236

2 951

3 778

▲◗
+28%

EBITDA (R’million)

2014 2015 2016

225

301

364

▲◗
+21%

Order book (R’billion)

2014 2015 2016

3,0

4,1

5,0

▲◗
+22%

Spending by government entities and municipalities was 
subdued save for in the transmission space, and activity in 
the mining sector was minimal. Within the renewable energy 
sector, the main drivers were wind and solar PV projects.   

We continued targeting high growth countries with the long-
term aim of achieving 80% of revenue ex-South Africa in hard 
currency. Massive demand for power has continued with 
current power penetration only at 25-30%, driven mainly by 
urbanisation. While markets such as South Africa and Egypt 
are more mature power markets where renewable energy is 
now a growing sub-sector, in markets such as Nigeria, power 
penetration remains incredibly low, requiring a different 
approach and solutions offering.

Traditionally projects on the continent are funded by DFI loans 
at concessional rates and subject to borrowing limits followed 
by a tender. 

The former accounts for 80% of Conco’s projects. Given this, 
we have embarked on a new modus operandi whereby we 
approach utilities to assess their capital extension projects, 
identify which of those are suited to our capabilities and 

(excluding R2,3 billion of awarded but 
delayed Round 4 renewable energy projects)

FY16 
◗  Revenue, EBITDA and order book up 28%, 21%   

and 22%, respectively

◗  SA impacted by delays in renewable energy and 
municipal spending

◗  Conco International extending footprint in Africa 
with big wins (Ethiopia, Malawi)

◗  Collections up 50% to R3 billion

◗  CPM impacted significantly by SA slowdown 
– adapted by winning international work 
(Mozambique, DRC, Ethiopia, Burkino Faso)

◗  CIGenCo near closure on first project

CIG INTEGRATED 
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then seek to bring in third party funding on behalf of our client. 
Our greatest constraint to this approach has been HR capacity 
and we will look to increase this going forward.

We have streamlined operations for better efficiency. 
Renewable energy has been separated out into a fast growing 
business in Africa where the bulk of demand is for solar. 
Our aim is to get closer to our clients with an on-the-ground 
presence. We continued to deliver projects on time including 
renewable energy projects at Noupoort and Gibson Bay. 

Operationally we have split into regions – South and Central 
Africa, East Africa, West Africa and the Middle East. This move 
bore fruit when we debuted into Ethiopia on the back of a 
USD50 million project to provide new power from hydro.  
The project is expected to have a significant socio-economic 
impact on Addis Ababa, which recently received an upgrade in 
voltage and capacity levels for the first time in decades. 

In South Africa the split is more client-focused. During the 
year we expanded into KwaZulu-Natal where we have opened 
a formal office in order to entrench our position as a leading 
provider to municipalities. 

The greater proportion of large-scale projects in the year 
resulted in increased investment in working capital. We are 
currently assessing the possibility of sourcing USD-based 
debt funding outside of South Africa. 

LOOKING FORWARD 
WE ARE CONSTANTLY 

RESEARCHING NEW 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
AND EACH BUSINESS UNIT 

IS ASSESSING THE OIL AND 
GAS, THERMAL POWER AND 

NUCLEAR SECTORS FOR 
OPPORTUNITY 

This aligns with our strategy of diversifying product and 
geographic footprint with the ultimate aim of getting closer  
to our customers. We are eagerly awaiting a bounce-back  
in commodities.

Top projects completed in 2016

1 Noupoort Wind Farm 

Size: 80,5MW 

Location: South Africa 

Value: R245 million

2 Amakhala Wind Farm 

Size: 134MW 

Location: South Africa 

Value: R275 million

3 Gibson Bay Wind Farm Project 
Size: 100MW 

Location: South Africa 

Value: R230 million

4 Nojoli Wind Farm Project 
Size: 90MW 

Location: South Africa 

Value: R206 million

5 Walvis Bay Substation 

Size: 132/11km 

Location: Namibia 

Value: R182 million

6 Collector Substation 

Size: 161kV 

Location: Ghana 

Value: R309 million

7 Borutho Witkop Transmission Line 

Size: 400kV 

Location: South Africa 

Value: R270 million
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Power continued

CSI
We are committed to CSI and supported a number of organisations during the year as set out below. For the year we 
contributed R2,9 million to CSI which amounted to a 50% increase on the previous year. 

Nompumelelo Institute of Leadership (NIL)
NIL is a youth leadership and life skills development 
programme established in 2006, and is supported by 
the Minister of Home Affairs, Malusi Gigaba. A non-
profit organisation, NIL’s primary focus is creating a 
platform for the development of leadership and life 
skills in men and women in South Africa and in Africa 
at a later stage.

Dr NB Ngcipe Foundation (NBNF) –  
Nojoli Project 
NBNF is a registered non-profit organisation founded 
in 2012 in honour of the late Dr Norman Bantwini 
Ngcipe, who sacrificed his life for humanity and 
freedom. The Foundation seeks to empower the  
Blue Crane Municipality’s youth, so that they can 
flourish, succeed and break the cycle of poverty.  
The Foundation aims to drive positive change by 
providing quality formal and informal education, 
knowledge and skills needed to become active and 
contributing members of the broader South African 
community and economy.

Compass
Compass is a nationally recognised and registered 
organisation which has researched the culture of 
charity on a global scale and how the pressure of 
the global socio-economic climate has forced the 
lower levels of society outside of our socio-economic 
structure. It provides social services through its 
own registered social workers and trained, qualified 
teachers and caregivers for the children in its care. 
The rehabilitation programme for homeless women 
and children provides professional counselling 
programmes through registered counsellors and 
mental health practitioners.

Angels Baby Sanctuary
Angels is dedicated to the welfare of abandoned, 
orphaned, sickly or abused babies. For a sponsored 
golf day Conco encouraged its suppliers to contribute 
and matched 50% of each contribution.

Kaalfontein High School Winter School
The holiday enrichment programmes are underpinned 
by diagnostic assessments of learner performance 
to ensure informed teaching strategies and that 
each learner receives appropriate individual 
attention to improve his/her academic performance. 
The engagement with learners includes career 
guidance sessions. 

Mashashane Community – Borutho Project 
Conco sponsored equipment for crèches in the 
Mashashane community in Limpopo, including TVs, 
educational toys and computers.

Loeriesfontein Primary
Conco donated a new fence to ensure a secure 
environment, kitchen equipment and new desks and 
chairs for the classrooms, as well as supporting some 
refurbishment of the buildings. The school is situated 
in an underprivileged community in the Northern Cape.

CIG INTEGRATED 
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Our people
We have 790 employees and 271 LDCs. We 
remain under the three-year wage negotiation 
agreement concluded in 2014 and experienced 
no labour issues during the year. We maintain 
good relationships with all worker forums, which 
meet twice a year. No major issues were raised 
at either meeting. 

Safety, health and quality
We apply South African standards across the 
group as well as complying with specific domain 
requirements where applicable. We conducted 
a review of all our systems and received new 
accreditation for ISO 14000 while maintaining 
our ISO 18000 and 9001 accreditations. In 
line with ISO 9000 requirements we have 
split out the safety and quality for continuous 
improvement, which included a move to an 
electronic-based system. We have since placed 
increased emphasis on quality and conducted 
audits on certain major suppliers for more than 
merely compliance on-site and at factories.

Occupational health services are outsourced  
to EOH, which provides medical exams, 
certificates of compliance and all record-
keeping. HR continues to administer our 
ARV programme through Discovery, which 
is the company’s appointed medical aid. 
Each employee has received key care cover 
with the option to upgrade. 
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Power continued

Our commitment to the environment 
Conco is committed to the principle of zero harm to the 
environment and communities in which we operate. Our 
overall objective is to eliminate or minimise any adverse 
impacts from our activities and projects on the environment 
and to raise employee and community awareness of the 
importance of environmental management.

During the year we made a number of improvements 
to ensure we truly live these values. One of these was 
the appointment of Dineo Kwili as our Environmental 
Specialist to oversee our environmental management 
and measure and track our performance in this regard.

ISO 14001 certification 
A formal Environmental Management System (EMS) 
is in place, which complies with the requirements 
of ISO 14001 (Environmental Management), and 
codifies the company’s commitment to environmental 
responsibility. The EMS outlines a systematic approach 
to planning, implementing and reviewing Conco’s 
environmental performance and aims to minimise 
environmental impact. Effective implementation of the 
EMS has assisted Conco in creating a company culture 
that is focused on incorporating sustainable practices 
into everyday business decisions. Objectives set out in 
the EMS include:

◗  Improving energy efficiency

◗  Improving waste management and enhancing 
recycling opportunities

◗  Complying with all relevant regulations 

◗  Ensuring all employees understand their 
environmental responsibilities 

◗  Ensuring rehabilitation of all construction sites. 

Given the company’s rapid growth over the past four 
years and the increased environmental risk, Dineo 
motivated for Conco to attain ISO 14001 certification 
which was achieved in October 2016.

Environmental policy
A detailed environmental policy is in place and reviewed 
annually. Conco is committed to operating in an 
environmentally responsible manner by:

◗ Identifying and assessing environmental impacts 

◗  Setting and reviewing environmental objectives 
and targets

◗  Complying with applicable legal and other 
requirements and/or obligations 

◗  Protecting the environment from harm and 
degradation

◗  Reducing emissions and effluent, minimising waste 
generation at source and preventing pollution

◗ Preserving undisturbed natural indigenous resources

◗  Rehabilitating land that is disturbed in the course 
of operations

◗  Preventing the harvesting of fruit, crops and firewood 
from site and the surrounding areas, as well as 
damage to property of the local community

◗  Utilising non-renewable resources efficiently and 
conservatively

◗ Conserving energy

◗ Training and motivating employees

◗  Monitoring and regularly auditing the management 
system

◗  Ensuring the continual improvement of the EMS and 
all other activities and processes.

Project Environmental Management Plans
All of Conco’s projects are operated under the framework 
of project specific Environmental Management Plans 
(EMP). These EMPs are developed to outline appropriate 
risk mitigation plans to specific environmental aspects 
such as:

◗ Vegetation clearing 

◗ Topsoil removal

◗ Erosion control 

◗ Water resource and storm water management 

◗ Heritage resource management 

◗ Dust control

◗ Hazardous chemicals management 

◗ Community liaison. 

Project managers develop and document environmental 
objectives and targets for each project during the 
planning stage. Achievements against these set 
objectives and targets are measured throughout the 
project and on project completion.
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Dineo graduated with an Honours Degree in Geography 
and Environmental Management from the University 
of KwaZulu-Natal in 2008 and is currently undertaking 
her Master of Science Degree at Wits University. Her 
work experience in environmental management cuts 
across various sectors throughout the African continent 
including electrical infrastructure, road, housing, rail 
and wastewater developments. She has been extensively 
involved in integrated environmental management 
processes including Environmental Impact Assessments 
(EIAs) and Basic Assessment Reports (BARs), and the 
EMP and implementation and operation of EMS. In 2013 
Dineo received the DHL Rising Stars Award: Energy and 
Chemicals Category. 

Dineo Kwili receiving the DHL Rising Stars Award  
in the Energy and Chemicals Category

Environmental and social impact 
assessment in action – Ethiopia
In January 2016 Conco was appointed as the 
Engineering, Procurement and Construction 
(EPC) provider for the Addis Ababa Power HV 
Network Rehabilitation and Upgrading Project 
in Ethiopia. At this flagship project we have 
demonstrated our commitment to reducing 
significant impacts on local communities and 
safeguarding the livelihoods of those affected. 

An Environmental and Social Impact Assessment 
(ESIA) was previously undertaken and an 
Environmental Authorisation had been issued. 
Conco’s first task was to review the ESIA and 
the approved transmission lines and identify 
high level red flags in terms of compliance 
with International Finance Corporation (IFC) 
Performance Standards (PS). Conco appointed 
ERM Consultants to assist in undertaking 
this review. The review showed that the three 
transmission lines had the potential to relocate 
244 buildings and would impact 2 632 residents, 
including loss of agricultural land, and that the 
current ESIA does not meet the requirements 
of the IFC PS.

Conco and ERM commissioned a route 
optimisation study with the objective of 
identifying the transmission line routes that 
would be economically and technically feasible 
to build while minimising the environmental 
and social impacts. The study included site 
visits, surveys of the project area of influence 
and consultation with affected persons and 
community representatives, and revealed the 
extent of vulnerability arising due to the project 
and project-related activities.

The revised routes require minimal physical 
displacement and are likely to impact fewer 
than 10 households, significantly less than 
previously intended. 
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Our commitment to enterprise development is evidenced 
in the establishment of Windfall Properties, a 100% black 
woman-owned provider of services to renewable energy 
plants in the Free State.

We value all stakeholder engagement, but particularly with 
the communities in which we operate. To help the Free 
State community relate to Windfall Properties’ project in 
the Free State, we started a chess class at the local school. 

Empowering  
the community

Operational review

Power continued

Our people
We are committed to employing people from 
the communities within a 50km radius of our 
projects. All employees receive annual and 
specialised training through the Conco Skills 
Academy to ensure sustainable upskilling of the 
local communities. Our training spend during 
the year increased to R450 000 as a result of 
specialised training in the UK and Australia 
in operating and maintaining wind and solar 
plants and wind turbines. We also continued 
with our internal skills training and provided 
study assistance to two employees.

Safety, health and quality
During the year we obtained ISO 9000 
accreditation and are looking at acquiring the 
ISO 55000 standard which applies to managing 
electrical assets. Health and safety is a priority 
throughout the group and we have relevant 
policies and procedures in place. There were 
no major incidents during the year.

CPM
The delay in initiating the REIPPP impacted the entity’s ability to 
achieve scale in the market. Our current 15 projects comprise 
a combination of solar and wind across South Africa with an 
established presence in the Eastern, Western and Northern 
Cape. There are indications that the local situation will improve 
with the anticipation of Round 4 of the REIPPP closing in the 
2017 calendar year and some municipalities more eager to 
proceed with ongoing maintenance programmes. We have 
identified opportunities for wind farms in the Northern Cape. 
We have started to look outside our borders for opportunities.
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Conco Energy Solutions has made it a business imperative 
not only to contract black-owned suppliers but to prioritise 
black-owned suppliers with at least 30% black female 
ownership. In line with this and in consultation with Conco 
we took the decision to empower our own employees.

We now support Mathimba Electrics CC which will provide 
wiring services. Two of our employees – Jafta Blennis and 
Joyce Langa – are beneficiaries of this particular supplier 
development initiative as the majority shareholders in 
Mathimba.  

Energy Solutions will provide the following assistance: 

◗ Company registration 

◗ Allocation of work

◗ Back office support

◗ Office premises

◗ Start-up cash flow.

Supporting enterprise 
development

Our people
Our employee numbers are included in the 
Conco total on page  23. Internal skills 
development is facilitated by Conco. Total 
training spend for the year amounted to  
R1,2 million and six employees are benefiting 
from the bursary scheme. 

Safety, health and quality
During the year our SHEQ procedures and 
processes were drafted and updated to reflect 
the current operations. We are ISO 9001: 2015,  
ISO 14001:2015 and OHSAS 18001:2007 
accredited. Our LTIFR for the year was zero. 
Regular safety meetings are held to improve 
and minimise risks. In conjunction with Conco, 
occupational medical surveillance has been 
rolled out to all employees with the aim of 
getting ‘fit for duty’ medicals for all employees. 

Energy Solutions
South African utilities restricted spend in the year and the 
delay in South Africa’s REIPPP placed pressure on our planning 
and execution capability. However Eskom work remained 
steady.

During the year we were awarded two notable multi-year 
contracts from Eskom. The first, for the design, prototype 
development, construction and testing of automation 
equipment for Eskom’s transmission substations, is considered 
a prestige contract, which will ensure Energy Solutions remains 
at the forefront of technology development in this market. 
The successful completion could lead to a further eight-year 
contract for the developed solutions. We share this contract 
with one other provider. 

The second award, for the supply, delivery, installation, testing 
and commissioning of the engineering server and data 
concentrator for Eskom substations, runs over four years.  
This is a sole source contract.

OUTSIDE SOUTH AFRICA 
WE GAINED SIGNIFICANT 

TRACTION WITH A 
NUMBER OF PROMISING 

OPPORTUNITIES 
We have also been gaining increasing exposure to the end 
client and serving these more directly to our benefit. 

We remain bullish about Africa and are presently dovetailing 
with Conco’s expansion into Ethiopia. In the year we expanded 
into EPC in Namibia under contract for two 5MVA PV plants 
and are awaiting notice to proceed. On the renewable front 
we have been developing Human Machine Interface (HMI) 
systems for wind farms which allow the operator to remotely 
control the wind farm operation and are fully integrated with 
the wind turbine. 

We are leveraging Conco’s presence in the UAE where we 
scooped our first contract from SEL (Middle East) for the design 
and engineering of a SCADA system for a substation owned by 
Dubai Electricity and Water Authority. This milestone contract 
will involve us engineering an HMI system for monitoring the 
plant as well as a reporting system for long-term data storage 
and analysis.
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Consolidated Building Materials

It was a tough year with revenue down on the prior year. The 
three months leading up to the municipal elections, which 
historically are our strongest calendar months, were negatively 
impacted with slower drawdowns. However, our defensive 
business model, which utilises scalable outsourcing, enabled 
us to cut costs and ensured EBITDA and profit were up. 
Operationally the year was sound with no major issues.   

The Laezonia acquisition has been fully bedded down and 
is producing volumes of 937 000 tonnes per annum or 
approximately 100 000 tonnes a month. During the year we 
erected a sand production plant at Laezonia to ensure we 
use the full ‘waste’ material to produce additional product 
and create new income streams. 

Alongside the new product in river sand and dust we started 
producing precast concrete, which saw us take on board 
disruptive technology. An on-site machine pre-blends sub 
base G5 which significantly speeds up road construction, 
only requires one delivery and single use of graders and 
compactors and results in better gradient and quality. 

We continue to foster our strategic partnerships with readymix and precast 
concrete producers. 

FY16 
◗  EBITDA up 12% despite revenue 

down 3%

◗  Defensive business strategy

◗  Slow economic growth in South 
Africa negatively impacted the 
sector

◗  Favourable product mix and 
lower volumes resulted in 
positive margins

◗  Assessment of acquisition 
opportunities continued

WE EXPECT THE NEW 
PRODUCT TO OPEN 
ADDITIONAL MARKETS AND 
ENABLE US TO ACCESS THE 
BLUE ROCK REQUIRED BY 
OUR STRATEGIC PARTNERS 

Drift Supersand – Muldersdrift operations and West End 
continued to perform as expected. 

Looking ahead we remain bullish despite continuing tough 
conditions. We will continue to develop our disruptive 
technology which we expect to open new avenues for growth. 
We have seen a number of our competitors close during the 
year and will remain on the lookout for suitable acquisition 
opportunities in a consolidating industry. 

▲ 
+12%

EBITDA (R’million) 

76

86

96

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2014 2015 2016

▲ 

-3%

Revenue (R’million) 

399

500
485

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2014 2015 2016
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Our people
We have 550 employees. During the year we 
introduced a double shift in the brick business 
and ramped up production at Laezonia. This 
resulted in a number of previous LDCs being 
made permanent employees. There were no 
labour issues and 97 employees are members 
of NUM, with whom we maintain an open 
and transparent relationship. We place great 
emphasis on skills and development training 
and all our programmes, which include artisan 
training, are in line with our Social and Labour 
Plan (SLP). Total training spend for the year 
amounted to R3,3 million. 

Safety, health and environment  
We are committed to providing a safe and 
healthy workplace and appropriate policies and 
procedures are in place. We achieved a LTIFR of 
zero with no major incidents during the year. 

We follow a DMR approved SHE health and 
safety system and are further subjected to 
regular ASPASA and Fish Eagle audits. West 
End was subjected to its first and successful 
ASPASA audit during the year and Laezonia was 
awarded ‘most improved quarry’. All employees 
receive annual and exit health screening 
including hearing, eyesight and blood pressure 
checks. Agreements are in place with local 
clinics and doctors for treatment of staff where 
necessary. While there is a low incidence of  
HIV within the company, we continue to provide 
voluntary counselling and testing. 

On the environmental front we adhere to  
best industry practices. Both Drift Supersand 
and Laezonia achieved level 5 awards in the 
Fish Eagle audits.  

Our communities
Community upliftment forms part of our SLP 
and we have projects in place at all operations 
which support charitable organisations as well 
as foster enterprise development. 
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Consolidated Building Materials continued

Sydney Mabala (24) 
Sydney’s father, supervisor Plant Operator, Lucas Mafelo, 
has worked for Drift Supersand since 1989 and approached 
us to assist in his son’s education. Sydney was our first 
bursar and attended a maths bridging course at Jeppe 
College before commencing his studies in civil engineering. 
He successfully completed his Civil Engineering Diploma 
at Victory College and was employed by Drift Supersand 
in April 2016.  

Sydney has completed our internal fixed plant basic training 
and is mentored by Engineer Trevor McAdam. He has also 
successfully designed a Safety Management System for  
the company and relieves the current Mine Manager at  
Drift Supersand when necessary. He plans to study Industrial 
Engineering at Unisa.

Khulekani Mbokane (21)
Bursar 

Khulekani is a bursar studying Electrical Engineering at 
Unisa and is achieving good results. He is mentored by the 
Drift Supersand Mine Manager who also has a degree in 
Electrical Engineering.

Sibongile Qundele (26) 
Debtors Clerk 

Sibongile obtained a National Diploma in Accounting  
from the University of Johannesburg and was employed 
by Drift Supersand in November 2015.  

Sandile Bhembe (32)
Accountant

Sandile obtained a BCom (Accounting) from the University 
of Johannesburg and was employed by Drift Supersand in 
January 2015. In August 2016 he enrolled at CIMA Global  
for a Management Accounting course sponsored by  
Drift Supersand.  

Terrence Ralebala (27) 

Rotshidzwa Khubana (24) 

Lerato Lephoto (28) 
Terrence has a degree in Mining Engineering from Wits 
University and Rots holds one from the University of Venda. 
They were both employed by Drift Supersand in January 
2016. Lerato holds a National Diploma in Mechanical 
Engineering from Orbit FET College and was employed at 
Drift Supersand in October 2015 as a Qualified Artisan 
(Fitting). They have all completed their Rock Breaking 
Certificate (Blasting) and the internal fixed plant basic 
training with Engineer Trevor McAdam.

Terrence and Rots have now been transferred to Laezonia, 
where there are a number of key mining challenges and 
both are being mentored by the Laezonia Mine Manager. 
Lerato is being mentored by the Drift Supersand Mine 
Manager. She has also enrolled for a Project Management 
course and is doing extremely well.

Developing skills 

We believe strongly in promoting from within and our skills development and upliftment initiatives 
are concentrated on our own employees. We have appointed a number of junior engineers as well 
as junior accountants. These are our most recent stars:
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Oil & Gas

The rental business was down due to a decrease in exploration rig activity in Angola, 
where the exploration rig count reduced from over 25 to 10.

Our new treatment facility in Soyo was well received with 40% revenue derived from 
this facility. As the facility was originally conceived prior to the promulgation of the 
new environmental law and opened just prior to its implementation, it has been 
running at full capacity from the start. 

FEEDBACK FROM CLIENTS, 
AUTHORITIES AND THE INDUSTRY IN 
GENERAL HAS BEEN VERY POSITIVE 

Through its location the facility offers clients a shorter transportation distance, which 
means they save significantly on costs.

AES

The new discharge law came into effect in January 2016 requiring all oil companies 
to dispose of waste responsibly onshore. This saw a significant increase in oil-based 
mud waste volumes that required treatment and disposal. 

Operational review

FY16 
◗  AES’s contribution to group profit up 24% to R136 million (accounting 

for 35% of group earnings)

◗  Cash remittances from Angola up 30% and USD cash return on  
USD investment steady at ±23%

◗  Exploration volumes lagged due to the oil price while revenue 
from production increased due to higher volumes and the zero 
waste discharge law

◗  Structural changes in the sector improving prospects

◗  Potential exit of PE partner not expected to negatively impact  
on CIG

▲ 
+24%

Revenue (R’million) 

83

110

136

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2014 2015 2016
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Ana Trovoada joined AES in July 2009 as a Human 
Resources Assistant Coordinator and within a year 
was promoted to Human Resources Senior Assistant 
Coordinator, followed by Human Resources Assistant 
Manager in 2011 and in 2013 HR Deputy Manager.  
In 2014 she was appointed Human Resources Manager  
in charge of a team of seven.

Matuzalém Sukete is AES’ Operations Manager and 
joined the group in 2007 as an Assistant Electrician and 
within a month was promoted to Main Electrician and in 
2008 to Assistant Operations Manager. He was promoted 
to his current position in 2011. As Operations Manager, 
Matuzalém is accountable for a department of  
314 employees spread across seven divisions headed  
by their respective managers who report into him. 

During his career progression within AES, Matuzalém 
continued his studies and completed a Diploma in 
Project Management via Cambridge International College 
(CIC) as well as diplomas in Accounting and Finance in 
Business Management and Business Administration and 
Management. In 2014 he completed a Graduate Certificate 
in Management Studies via Robert Gordon University (RGU), 
Aberdeen and is currently completing an MSc. Purchase  
& Supply Chain Management with the same institution. 

Empowering  
our people

Our people
We employ 465 people, of which 234 are 
permanent employees. During the year we 
created an additional 28 jobs. In all, 95% of our 
team are Angolan, significantly ahead of the 
industry benchmark of 70%, with the split at 
management level being 50/50. Approximately 
10% of the workforce is women.

Our skills and development programme  
during the year encompassed industry-
specific training on confined space entry and 
interventions, BST, HUET, radio protection, 
bobcat operation as well as fire prevention 
and fire fighting, health and safety courses, 
12 Golden Rules of Safety and AES values and 
leadership. Total training spend for the year 
amounted to AOA14,2 million. Average  
training hours per employee amounted to  
13,44 (2015: 15,39).

Health and safety
We had a zero LTI◗frequency rate for the year. 
We do not currently have ISO accreditation  
but are planning to apply for ISO 14001 and 
OHSAS 108001 in the coming year.

We undergo continuous audits by our major 
international oil company clients. All audits 
are incorporated into our action tracking log. 
Through training, reporting performance has 
improved as staff are reporting workplace 
anomalies more regularly, which assists in 
identifying and mitigating workplace risks.

Environment and CSI
By the very nature of what we do – treating, 
recycling and disposing of industry waste – 
we are continually aiding in protecting the 
environment for future generations. During 
the year we also continued our support of 
community development by helping to maintain 
the buildings used by a local orphanage. 
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Rail
Tractionel

It was another tough year in South Africa, with the run-up to the local elections 
impacting performance and the mining industry suffering the knock-on effect of 
depressed commodity prices.

We operate in a highly competitive environment which was 
further hard-hit by budget cuts from Transnet and PRASA. 
However we successfully secured projects and were able  
to maintain our scarce skills, which is a critical strength in  
the industry.

We expanded geographically with three new branches added 
in the Western Cape, Northern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal, 
providing us with an on-the-ground presence in these regions. 

Notably we won the Majuba rail project which is the largest 
railway contract in Tractionel’s history. The one-year,  
R182 million contract is unique in terms of its size and, 
alongside Gautrain, represents an industry flagship project.  
It is funded by the World Bank; construction has commenced 
and will carry into FY18. 

FY16 
◗  Revenue and order book up 91%  

and 131%, respectively while EBITDA 
rose 10%

◗  Order book growth is mainly on the 
back of two big PRASA projects in 
Cape Town and the award of the 
Majuba Rail Project

◗  2017 looking promising from 
potentially large projects with 
Transnet and PRASA

◗  New management team beginning  
to find its way – integration into  
CIG ongoing

◗  Finalising five-year plan focused on 
offering extension and geographic 
growth outside South Africa

The project encompasses the electrification of a 77km railway 
line running from Ermelo to Amersfoort and linking the 
Majuba Power Station. In addition we are working on two large 
rehabilitation and signalling projects in Cape Town and Durban 
for PRASA which are set to continue for another three years.  

Looking ahead there are a number of new tender possibilities 
and we have tendered for a project in Braamfontein. Critical 
is having a local presence in specific key municipalities to 
capitalise on opportunities as well as qualify for tenders 
requiring local resources. We will also seek to expand into the 
rest of Africa independently as well as by leveraging off Conco’s 
existing footprint. 

▲ 
+91%

Revenue (R’million) 

153

292

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2015 2016

▲ 
+10%

EBITDA (R’million) 

20

22

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2015 2016

▲ 
+131%

Order book (R’million) 

240

550

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

2015 2016
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At Tractionel our mission is to create wealth for 
stakeholders, add value and strive for excellence.  
In doing so we are cognisant that community is one of  
our stakeholders and that South Africa is a diverse country 
with a past that shapes how business is conducted. With 
this in mind the company leadership decided to embark 
on skills development in our community underpinned by 
the value of “Empower”.

Our aim is to become one of our country’s key incubators 
by empowering the youth through education, both formal 
and informal. We have dedicated resources to developing 
the youth and equipping them with scarce skills within the 
rail sector. The ‘Linesman’ programme is an example of 
this and is recognised by TETA and MERSETA.

In 2016 we took the development to the next level 
by sponsoring training for youth with disabilities. 
We identified eight candidates for assistance with their 
post-matric qualifications at recognised institutions in 
the country. Candidates receive sponsorship as well 
as workplace experience. 

One of the candidates is due to graduate shortly from his 
three-year qualification in Public Relations Management 
and will complete 200 hours in-service training with 
Tractionel. Although no formal communications 
department exists, we accepted the challenge of 
developing a programme for this recipient to ensure 
a 100% success rate on the programme. 

Supporting youth 
empowerment

Our people
We have 330 permanent employees and  
302 LDCs. During the year we created 246 jobs, 
which included 21 women.

Operating in a skills scarce industry we are 
committed to providing training and together 
with Palesa Rail Academy offer a three-year 
SAQA accredited linesman course (see case 
study). Training spend for the year totalled  
R2,9 million. 

We are a member of the Electrical Bargaining 
Council and 67% of the workforce is covered by 
collective agreements, with 18% being unionised. 
There was no labour unrest during the year.

Health and safety
We are committed to providing a safe and 
healthy work environment and were recertified 
for OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001 during the 
year, with ISO 9001 certification also in place. 
Mandatory procedures are currently being 
updated and aligned to ISO 14001 (2015), 
ISO 9001 (2015) and ISO 45001, while risk 
assessments are being aligned to ISO 31000. 
Safe work procedures are being revised to be 
more picture-based with clearer explanations. 
All safety officers are required to be registered 
with SACPCMP and additional formal training 
was provided to supervisors and safety officers 
in the year to facilitate their understanding of 
legal compliance. A range of health and safety 
training was also conducted during the year. 

The company was subjected to 11 third party 
audits as well as multiple internal compliance 
audits. 

There were only minor injuries reported during 
the year of which one was recorded as a lost 
time injury.
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Stakeholder engagement

As engagement with stakeholders guides our strategic objectives, fostering and 
maintaining stakeholder relationships is critical to our sustainability. This is 
particularly important in the context of our partnerships in local markets, where 
we are making a concerted effort to improve communications. We are committed 
to open and timeous communication and this is done via our website, integrated 
report, SENS, one-on-one meetings, media, the annual general meeting and ongoing 
informal discussions.

Our key stakeholders and what is material to them are set out below: 

Key stakeholders

Investors

Sustainability, profitability, ROI, 
ROCE, cash generation, corporate 
governance and compliance, risk 
management, growth prospects, 

accessibility of leadership, 
succession 

Local communities

Job creation, impact on the 
communities and environment, 

rehabilitation of site on completion 

Government, regulators

Employment equity, environmental 
impact, taxation, compliance, 
adherence to the JSE Listings 
Requirements and company 

legislation 

Local business partners
Job creation, skills transfer, 

fair business practices 

Funders
Solvency and liquidity, capital 
management, sustainability,  

credit rating  

Suppliers
Timely payment,  

fair business practices 

Customers
Project execution and delivery, 

quality, service, value for money, 
security of supply

Employees
Job security, sustainability, personal growth and development, skills 

development, remuneration and incentives, working conditions, safety,  
support of families during absences, wellness checks   
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Managing risk

Risk management is critical to the group’s success with margin erosion, localisation, 
partnership risk, human capital and capital constraints featuring on our risk matrix. 
We address these risks proactively by taking pre-emptive steps well in advance of 
the risk being realised.

Risk management framework

 Board

        Audit and risk committee

CEO, financial director

Independent risk consultant, Graham Croock

Key risks
 Risk Mitigation

Adequate capital for growth ◗   Shareholder engagement to ensure understanding of future plans

◗  Astutely managing debt:equity levels

Recruiting, developing and retaining key skills ◗  Appointed group executive for human capital

◗   Elevate human capital to strategic effort at board level across the group

Supplier risk (South Africa) ◗  Supplier engagement to manage performance

◗  Advance payments to ensure supply

Currency and forex risks across sub-Saharan Africa ◗  Natural hedge with USD contracts

Execution and marketing risk (rapid growth) ◗ Significant impact of COO role in Conco

Group structure allowing for sustained growth ◗  Boosting group level staff to support growth

◗  Group-wide IT platform currently not required – focus on ensuring each 
subsidiary adequately equipped

Clients not securing adequate funding for high  
value projects

◗  Enforce strict credit management policies

◗  Improve relationship with large funders 

Major contracts fail to timeously deliver 
adequate cash

◗  Oversight of all subsidiaries’ cash management in line with 
group mandates

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016



Accountability 39

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 

2016

Risk management system
Since 2009 CIG has used the KnowRisk system for the 
development and maintenance of the group risk management 
framework, knowledge base and integrated registers.

◗  Material risks are identified and categorised on an annual 
basis for each company and for the group as a whole

◗  Appropriate and feasible mitigation actions are developed 
and implemented for each of the identified risks 

◗  Risks are then terminated or eliminated, transferred 
outside the company in question or the group as a whole 
or treated or mitigated to acceptable levels (individual risks 
are not managed outside the system).

KnowRisk is refined on a regular basis as and when required 
by the members of the audit and risk committee. In addition, 
as and when software updates are released by the Australian 
vendor, patches are run to ensure the system functions as 
designed. It remains fully compliant with ISO standards and 
King III requirements.

Detailed risk registers for each business unit are maintained 
on KnowRisk, which allows for aggregation of risk at holding 
company level. The respective risk registers are regularly 
updated and where appropriate, structural changes are 
recommended by the members of the audit and risk 
committee. This means that annual risk assessments are not 
required as more frequent assessments provide improved 
results in terms of integrity, completeness and validity.

Risk reports are generated from the live system subsequent 
to regular updates and then reviewed by the CEO and 
financial director.

Audit planning has been incorporated into the risk registers 
and audit reports prepared by the various assurance providers 
are fed back into the system, automatically updating the levels 
of assessed risk to ensure accurate and timely reporting on 
a consistent basis.

KnowRisk is also used to develop integrated risk-based internal 
audit plans. The internal audits are conducted by qualified 
internal auditors who comply with IIA standards. Internal 
audit findings are used to re-adjust the control effectiveness 
recorded in the registers, thereby adjusting the residual 
risk ratings.
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Managing risk continued

Risk appetite and tolerance
The group’s risk appetite and tolerance are set and approved 
by the board. Risk appetite is defined as the amount and 
type of risk the company is willing to accept in the pursuit 
of its objectives. Risk tolerance is the specific maximum risk 
the company is willing to take and is derived from translating 
the risk appetite into more measurable quantitative or 
qualitative terms.

Risk is calculated using two primary inputs – likelihood 
and impact – and in this regard, the definitions are 
consistently applied.

Internal controls
The board and management make use of the KnowRisk 
system to ensure a practical and effective internal control 
environment. These internal controls are designed to provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance regarding the 
safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the integrity and reliability of financial information, 
and the minimisation of significant fraud, potential liability, loss 
and material misstatement while complying with applicable 
laws and regulations. The systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate risk of failure and opportunity risk.

This control environment enables the board to provide 
reasonable assurance of the group’s achievement of strategic 
objectives and compliance with applicable laws, regulations 
and supervisory requirements. In addition the system of 
internal control enables the board to ensure business 
sustainability under normal and adverse operating conditions, 
and responsible behaviour towards all stakeholders.

An audit by qualified internal auditors has confirmed that the 
systems of internal control are effective and that management 
assertions made during risk workshops are accurate and 
reliable, facilitating effective risk reporting on a regular, 
consistent basis.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate 
that a material breakdown in the controls within the group 
has occurred during the year.

Legal compliance
The financial director, assisted by the outsourced risk manager 
and company secretary, manages legal compliance at group 
level. At subsidiary level, legal risk assessments are conducted 
and where weaknesses are identified, remedial action is 
provided by the subsidiary CFO/financial director who in 
turn reports to his/her group peers. No significant areas 
of  non-compliance were identified in the year.

IT governance
The financial director, supported by the CIO of Conco, 
continues to fill the role of CIO. However, to bolster the 
CIO function, they were further supported in the year by 
a CISA-certified outsourced risk manager. During the year 
an IT strategic plan was also compiled. This was reviewed 
and approved by the IT steering committee. Formal IT risk 
assessments are conducted by the outsourced risk manager 
and IT audits are conducted by the external and internal 
auditors. IT systems are continuously enhanced  
to accommodate all governance requirements. 

During the year disaster recovery and business continuity 
plans were improved by provision of increased redundancy. 
In addition, data security procedures were strengthened with 
improved technology. The disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans are integrated and supported by world class 
technology. Risk-based evaluation of critical systems required 
for sustained operation is performed regularly and used for 
design of enhanced control procedures. These are audited  
by the external and internal auditors.
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Risk heat map
Set out below is the group’s heat map for the one-year strategic high road, reflecting on both an inherent and residual basis.

The residual basis heat map indicates that risk within the group is well managed.

Consequence

0 – 1 Insignificant
1 – 2 Minor
2 – 3 Moderate
3 – 4 Major
4 – 5 Catastrophic

Likelihood

0 – 1 Rare
1 – 2 Unlikely
2 – 3 Possible
3 – 4 Likely
4 – 5 Almost certain

◗◗◗Clients are not able to secure adequate funding on multiple 
high value projects

◗◗◗Contracts fail to deliver adequate returns. (Profitability is 
inadequate)

◗◗◗Major contracts fail to timeously deliver adequate cash

◗◗ Significant or potentially excessive growth strain within 
multiple business units across product lines

◗◗ The growth strategy of new sectors/geographies has reduced 
execution capacity (Spreading capacity too wide)

◗◗ Weak economic outlook (Recession)

◗◗Excessive reliance on key suppliers

◗◗◗ Inability of management to respond to strategic change

◗◗◗ Increased exposures to contract guarantees

n◗ High          n◗ Tolerable
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◗◗◗Breach of contractual clauses in Renewable Energy (New 
landscape)

◗◗◗Insufficient working capital available to take advantage of 
large scale opportunities

◗◗ Short-term visibility of performance is historic and 
insufficiently predictable (monthly)

◗◗ Failure to implement adequate BEE structures and 
partnerships in business units or at group level

◗◗◗Inability to comply with the country taxation compliance 
requirements

◗◗◗The original signed contracts are not securely stored in a safe 
central location where they can be readily accessed as and 
when needed.
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Remuneration committee
During the year the remuneration committee comprised 
independent non-executive directors Alex Darko (Chairman), 
Frank Boner and Anthony Dixon. CEO Raoul Gamsu attends 
by invitation, but is excluded from any deliberations regarding 
his own, or the financial director’s remuneration. Details 
of directors’ attendance at the remuneration committee 
meetings are set out on page  137. 

The structure of the committee demonstrates to stakeholders 
that the remuneration of executives is set by independent 
directors who have no personal interest in the outcome and 
who will give due regard to the interests of all stakeholders 
and to the financial and commercial health of the group. 
The committee is an independent and objective body which 
monitors and strengthens the credibility of the group’s 

executive remuneration system, by linking executive 
remuneration to individual performance, the group’s 
performance and market conditions. A consulting firm is 
retained to ensure executives’ salaries are appropriately 
benchmarked against peers and these practices are aligned 
with global trends. 

The committee is also responsible for assisting in a 
performance assessment of the executive directors. KPIs have 
been set for the group CEO and financial director, measured 
on growth in profitability, integration of group strategy and 
other personalised key performance areas. 

The committee is further responsible for devising a 
remuneration policy for the group as a whole. The policy 
is tabled at the annual general meeting for a non-binding 
advisory vote by shareholders.

Remuneration policy summary
 Risk Element Purpose and link to strategy Detail

Fixed Guaranteed cost to company 
(GCTC)

Total fixed remuneration – 
cash (including contributions 
to defined contribution 
retirement plan and 
contributions to medical aid)

Guaranteed cost to company 
(GCTC)

Total fixed remuneration – 
cash (including contributions 
to defined contribution 
retirement plan and 
contributions to medical aid)

GCTC is set based on a comparative

analysis of a similar group of companies

◗   GCTC is reviewed annually by the committee 
and the following factors are considered in 
its review:

  –   Group and individual performance

 –   Internal and external benchmarks

 –   Average salary increases for the 
entire group

Variable Short-term incentive (STI) – 
cash payment

Drives and rewards the 
achievement of the group’s 
short- and medium-term goals, 
with payment levels based on 
approved key performance 
indicators (KPIs).The KPIs are 
designed to align employee 
performance with the short-
and medium-term goals of 
the group

The STI is determined by the committee on a 
discretionary basis through the assessment of 
the performance of employees against the KPIs 
set at the beginning of each financial year

Senior executives can obtain a maximum STI 
of 100% of GCTC based on the satisfactory 
achievement of KPIs

Lower percentages of GCTC are paid to 
other executives for achievement of their 
respective KPIs

Long-term incentives (LTI)

Share plan for executive 
directors, executive 
management, junior 
management and prescribed 
officers consisting of 
share appreciation rights, 
performance shares and 
restricted shares

The LTI has been designed 
as a performance driver to 
reward long-term sustained 
performance which is 
aligned with the interests 
of shareholders

Refer to paragraphs on pages  43◗to 45◗on 
details of LTI share plan

Remuneration report
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Illustrative split in remuneration (%)
GCTC Expected STI Expected LTI

CEO 42 29 29 

Top executive 43 30 27

Executive 53 21 26

Senior management 58 18 24

2014 share plan
A new share scheme was introduced in 2014 with the 
intention to attract, retain, motivate and reward executives and 
managers who are able to influence the performance of CIG 
and its subsidiaries, in such a way as to align their interests 
with those of the company’s shareholders. 

CIG designed the incentive plan in line with global and 
South African practices with the assistance of consultants. 
We believe that the use of long-term incentives allows CIG to 
be competitive and ensures that executives act in the long-
term interest of the company.

In terms of the scheme, executives and selected managers 
of the company and its subsidiaries are offered an annual 
weighted combination of:

◗◗ Allocations of share appreciation rights (equity settled)

◗◗ Conditional awards of (full value) performance shares

◗◗ Grants of (full value) restricted shares.

Share appreciation rights will vest and become exercisable in 
equal thirds on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the 
allocation date, but need not be exercised until the seventh 
anniversary of the allocation date, at which time they must be 
exercised or lapse. The pricing of the share appreciation rights 
will be based on the 10-day volume weighted average price 
preceding the offer.

Full value (free) shares can be offered either as:

◗◗ Performance shares, an annual conditional award which 
requires a future performance of the company according 
to criteria set by the board

◗◗ Restricted shares, which reflect the recent past 
performance and/or commitment of individuals, by either 
the matching of the prior year calculated cash bonus or, 
additionally, the elective deferral and matching of a portion 
of the cash bonus calculation.
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Remuneration report continued

In establishing a peer group against which total shareholder return performance can be benchmarked, a 
peer group has been established which the group feels offers an investor reasonable investment alternatives 
compared to an investment in CIG. Market sectors, country strategies and market capitalisation were some of 
the leading factors used in establishing the peer group who are similarly impacted by external factors.

 Which companies are included in the peer group?  

The LTI plan offer is calculated by applying a prescribed face value percentage to the total annual cost to 
company package, including any performance bonus, earned by the individual for the prior period. The face 
value percentage applied will vary depending on the reward strategy pay mix and the role of the participants. 
Stochastic modelling techniques have been utilised to inform the implementation of the reward strategy. 
Target expected value of offers range from 70% of guaranteed cost to company package for the CEO down to 
30% for junior management.

Can unvested options be claimed in the event of a dismissal? 

An individual who resigns or leaves the employ of the group through negative behavioural factors will forfeit any 
unvested portion of the LTI.

What vesting criteria apply to the share appreciation rights portion of the offer?

Annual growth of 15% in HEPS over a three-year period will be required for full vesting of the 2015 and 2016 
offer. The percentage vested will be reduced proportionally should the growth in HEPS fall below 15%.

The following companies are included in the peer group:

FTSE/JSE index series (selection) – quarterly review – September 2014

 Peer selection Ticker JSE sector

PPC Limited PPC Industrials
Grindrod Limited GND Marine Transportation
AECI Limited AFE Chemicals – Speciality
Omnia Holdings Limited OMN Chemicals – Speciality
Trencor Limited TRE Transportation Services
Reunert Limited RLO Electrical Equipment
Murray & Roberts Holdings MUR Heavy Construction
Super Group Limited SPG Business Support Services
Allied Elec Corp Pref ATNP Electrical Equipment
Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited  WBO Heavy Construction
Aveng Group Limited AEG Heavy Construction
Invicta Holdings Limited IVT Engineering – General
Metair Investments Limited MTA Automobile & Parts
African Oxygen Limited AFX Chemicals – Speciality
Mpact Limited MPT Containers & Packaging
Raubex Group Limited RBX Heavy Construction
Group Five Limited GRF Heavy Construction
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited CIL Electrical Equipment
Hudaco Industries Limited HDC Engineering – General
Howden Africa Holdings Limited HWN Engineering – General
Extract (Previously Eqstra Holdings Limited) EQS Diversified Industrials
Hulamin Limited HLM Steel
Afrimat Limited AFT Building & Construction Materials

How do employees and executives qualify for the scheme?

Frequently asked questions about the 2014 share plan

CIG INTEGRATED 
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Is the offer to an individual Impacted by below par performance?

As the offer is based on a total annual cost to company package including performance bonuses, an individual 
who receives a reduced performance bonus due to underperformance will, as a result of the below par 
performance, have his offer reduced in the following year.

Have any restricted shares been issued under the 2014 share plan?

Restricted shares were specifically included in the 2014 share plan for the retention of high performing senior 
managers. For the 2015 and 2016 awards made to participants under the 2014 share plan, no restricted shares 
were allocated to participants of the share plan. The group is cognisant of stakeholders’ views in relation to 
issuing restricted shares and would seek shareholder approval of post-grant performance conditions prior to 
issuing restricted shares.

What measurement is applied in order to calculate the performance shares?

Performance shares will be earned by benchmarking total shareholder return over a three-year period and 
comparing the return to the peer group. Outliers at the top and bottom end of the scale will be removed before 
determining the performance of CIG against its peers. Performance in the upper quartile will result in up to three 
times the performance shares being earned while a median performance will result in a one times factor being 
applied. A total shareholder return that ranks in the bottom quartile will result in no performance shares being 
earned. Pro-rated vesting will occur for ranking between these points.

Can performance shares be earned despite the group achieving negative absolute shareholder return?

Under sustained bear market conditions it is possible for a company to achieve a negative absolute shareholder 
return and still be ranked in the upper quartile of performance against its peers. Under such conditions three 
times the performance shares can still be earned. Conversely, it is also possible for a company to achieve positive 
shareholder returns and still only be ranked in the lower quartile which will result in no performance shares 
being earned.

What dilutionary impact will the existing grants out of the 2014 share scheme have on the group?

At current share prices, grants made under the 2014 share scheme would have dilutionary impact on the group. 
The table below demonstrates the number of shares to be issued at various share prices:

Award date

1 August
 2015
’000

29 February 
2016
’000

Total 
’000 %

Share appreciation rights
Dilutionary impact at following share price:

R30 – 70 269 70 269 0,04
R35 57 575 162 664 220 239 0,11
R40 115 466 231 960 347 426 0,18
R45 160 492 258 857 446 349 0,23

Performance shares* 250 104 344 853 594 957 0,30

* Assumes performance shares at a one times multiple are earned.

Frequently asked questions about the 2014 share plan
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Remuneration report continued

2007 share scheme
Share options granted under the 2007 share scheme were based on a weighted average price of a share over the three calendar 
months immediately preceding the commencement of the company’s financial year during which the offer was made or the option 
was granted.

The number of options awarded was based on the gross cost to company packages of employees and an individual performance 
assessment.

For CIG executives, options vested over a four-year period and 16% real growth in earnings has to be achieved for 100% of options 
to vest. Conco executives need to achieve 15% real growth in Conco EBITDA for 100% of options to vest.

All options granted have a 10-year expiry date.

Frequently asked questions about the 2007 share plan

What will be the dilutionary impact of the remaining shares to be issued in terms of the 2007 share scheme?

Assuming all options outstanding are exercised and after taking into account the option proceeds to be settled by 

participants, the potential dilutionary impacts will be less than 2% of the total shares in issue. 

Remuneration of directors and prescribed officers
Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 23 to the annual financial statements.

The remuneration of non-executive directors is based on the group’s market capitalisation and benchmarked against peers. During 
the year the committee and board engaged in this process to establish the new rates for non-executive directors in order to bring 
them in line with prevailing market rates.

In order to ensure the fees paid to non-executive directors are set at an appropriate level, the group utilised the following 
benchmarking approach:

◗◗ Engagement with independent remuneration consultant

◗◗ Information from industry reports compiled by leading accounting firms

◗◗ Comparison with industry peers.

The group is of the opinion that fees recommended are appropriate for services rendered and aligned to fees in the market.

The proposed rates for the next year are set out below:

Basis of fee
Chairman

R’000
Director

R’000

Board meetings per meeting 75 000 35 000

Audit and risk committee per meeting 50 000 30 000

Social and ethics committee per meeting 25 000 15 000

Remuneration and nominations committee per meeting 35 000 15 000

General involvement monthly 20 000 12 000

Alex Darko

Chairman remuneration committee

22 February 2017
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◗ Good corporate citizenship, including the group’s:

 –  promotion of equality, prevention of unfair 
discrimination and reduction of corruption

 –  contribution to development of the communities in 
which our activities are predominantly conducted or 
within which our products or services are predominantly 
marketed

 –  record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving

◗  Environment, health and public safety, including the impact 
of the group’s activities and its services

◗  Consumer relationships, including the group’s advertising, 
public relations and compliance with consumer 
protection laws

◗  Labour and employment, including the group’s:

 –  standing in terms of the International Labour 
Organisation Protocol on decent work and working 
conditions

 –  employment relationships and our contribution towards 
the educational development of our employees

◗  Corporate values and ethical standards (Code of Conduct), 
and ensuring that the company takes measures to achieve 
adherence to these in all aspects of the business.

Management reports to the committee on matters relevant 
to its deliberations and the committee in turn draws relevant 
matters to the attention of the board and reports on them to 
the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Mechanisms to encourage ethical behaviour such as the Code 
of Conduct and Values were confirmed as adequate by the 
committee in the year. 

Alex Darko
Chairman social and ethics committee

22 February 2017

Social and ethics committee report

The social and ethics committee’s 
responsibility is to ensure that the 
company acts as a responsible 
corporate citizen and establishes ethical 
guidelines for engagement with CIG’s 
stakeholders and best environmental 
practices. Although management is 
tasked with overseeing the day-to-
day sustainability of their respective 
areas of business and reporting 
thereon to the committee, the board 
remains ultimately responsible for the 
objectives which it has delegated to the 
committee.

The committee is chaired by independent non-executive 
director Alex Darko and further comprises independent 
non-executive director Judi Nwokedi, executive Slu Gesha and 
Financial Director Ivor Klitzner. Details of attendance are set 
out on page  137.

The purpose of the committee is to set the tone in respect 
of the board’s approach to the ethical conduct of business 
and regularly monitor the group’s activities with regard to any 
relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing 
codes of best practice, in respect of the following:

◗  Social and economic development, including the group’s 
standing in terms of the:

 –  10 principles set out in the United Nations Global 
Compact Principles

 – OECD recommendations regarding corruption

◗ Employment Equity Act

◗ Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act
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The reports and statements set  
out below comprise the annual  
financial statements presented  
to the shareholders: 
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Level of assurance 
These annual financial statements have been audited 
in compliance with the applicable requirements of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (as amended).

Preparer 
These annual financial statements have been prepared under 
the supervision of the group Financial Director, Ivor Klitzner 
CA (SA). 

Published 
22 February 2017

Annual  
financial  
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For the year ended 31 August 2016, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all 
such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and all such returns are true, 
correct and up to date in respect of the financial year reported on.

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

22 February 2017

While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group 
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are 
applied and managed within predetermined procedures 
and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the financial statements. However, any system of internal 
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast 
for the year to 31 August 2017 and, in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, are satisfied that the 
group has or has access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The financial statements and group financial statements 
have been examined by the group’s external auditors and 
their report is presented on page  55.

The financial statements and group financial statements 
set out on pages  56 to 116, which have been prepared 
on the going concern basis, were approved by the board 
of directors on 22 February 2017 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

RD Gamsu
CEO

IM Klitzner
Financial Director

Declaration of the company secretary

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of 
South Africa, 71 of 2008 (as amended) to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content 
and integrity of the financial statements and group financial 
statements and related financial information included in this 
report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial 
statements and group financial statements fairly present 
the state of affairs of the group as at the end of the financial 
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for 
the period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are 
engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial 
statements and group financial statements.

The financial statements and group annual financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied 
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the group and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, 
the board of directors sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of 
duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the group and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner 
that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 
The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk.

Directors’ responsibilities and approval
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report 
on the annual financial statements of Consolidated 
Infrastructure Group Limited and the group for the year 
ended 31 August 2016.

Review of financial results and activities
The consolidated annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008 (as amended). 
The accounting policies have been applied consistently 
compared to the prior year.

The group recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 
31 August 2016 of R392 885 000. This represented an 
increase of 19% from the net profit after tax of the prior 
year of R331 406 000.

Group revenue increased by 26% from R3 603 953 000 
in the prior year to R4 531 640 000 for the year ended 
31 August 2016.

Group cash outflows from operating activities increased 
by 61% from R260 203 000 in the prior year to 
R418 513 000 for the year ended 31 August 2016.

Share capital
Refer to note 15 of the consolidated annual financial 
statements for detail of the movement in authorised and 
issued share capital.

Dividends
The company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim 
and a final dividend in respect of each financial year. 
At its discretion, the board of directors may consider a 
special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the 
perceived need to retain funds for expansion or operating 
purposes, the board of directors may pass on the payment 
of dividends. No dividends were declared or paid to 
shareholders during the year.

Directorate
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation Changes

RD Gamsu Chief Executive Officer Executive
IM Klitzner Financial Director Executive
F Boner Chairman Independent non-executive
K Bucknor – Ghanaian Independent non-executive
A Darko – Ghanaian Independent non-executive
AD Dixon Independent non-executive
R Horton Independent non-executive
Dr K Kariuki – American Independent non-executive Appointed 15 August 2016
J Nwokedi Independent non-executive
K Ojah Independent non-executive Appointed 1 December 2016

Interests in subsidiaries and joint 
arrangements
Details of material interests in subsidiary companies and 
joint arrangements are presented in the consolidated 
annual financial statements in notes 6 and 7.

Borrowing powers
In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, the 
borrowing powers of the company are unlimited. However 
all borrowings by the group are subject to board approval 
as required by the board delegation of authority.

Special resolutions
No special resolutions, the nature of which might be 
significant to the shareholders in their appreciation of the 
state of affairs of the group, were made by the group or any 
of its subsidiaries during the period covered by this report.

Events after the reporting period
Post year-end the successful acquisition of 100% of the 
issued share capital of Conlog Proprietary Limited was 
concluded. Conlog designs, develops, manufactures, 
markets and distributes pre-paid and smart electronic 
metering devices and solutions.

The purchase consideration comprised an initial payment 
of R700 million paid on closing (31 October 2016), together 
with a deferred consideration and an earn-out component 
of between R50 million and R150 million, depending on 
Conlog’s 2016 adjusted EBITDA, to be paid in 2017.

The initial payment and guaranteed deferred payment 
was funded by a fully underwritten clawback rights offer. 
Any purchase consideration in excess of the initial payment 
and the guaranteed deferred payment will be funded from 
CIG’s existing cash resources.



Annual financial statements52

The directors are not aware of any other material event 
which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date 
of this report.

Auditors
Grant Thornton will be recommended to continue in office 
in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of 
South Africa, 71 of 2008 (as amended).

In accordance with the Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 
2008 (as amended) the audit and risk committee reports in 
summary as follows:

◗◗   The scope, independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors was reviewed;

◗◗  The audit firm Grant Thornton, and audit partner during 
the year, Mr Jacques Barradas, are, in the committee’s 
opinion, independent of the company, and have been 
proposed to the shareholders for approval to be the 
group’s auditor for the 2017 financial year;

◗◗  On an ongoing basis, the committee reviews and 
approves the fees proposed by the external auditors;

◗◗  The appointment of the external auditor complies with 
the Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008 
(as amended), and with all other legislation relating 
to the appointment of external auditors;

◗◗  The nature and extent of non-audit services provided 
by the external auditors have been reviewed to ensure 
that the fees for such services do not become so 
significant as to call into question their independence;

◗◗  The nature and extent of future non-audit services have 
been defined and pre-approved;

◗◗  As at the date of this report, no complaints have been 
received relating to accounting practices and internal 
audit of the company or to the content or auditing of 
the company’s financial statements, or to any related 
matter; and

◗◗  The committee has in place formal terms of reference 
approved by the CIG board of directors. It has 
conducted its affairs in compliance with its terms 
of reference during the year and discharged its 
responsibilities as contained therein.

Secretary
The company secretary is CIS Company Secretaries 
Proprietary Limited.

Refer to Annexure 2, principle 2.21 for detail on  
arm’s-length relationship.

Directors’ report continued
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Audit and risk committee report

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended 31 August 2016. 

Composition and meeting attendance 
The committee is chaired by independent non-executive 
director Tony Dixon, an experienced leader in corporate 
governance who was involved in the drafting of King III, and 
further consists of independent non-executive directors 
Rob Horton and Alex Darko. A short curriculum vitae  
for each of these directors has been set out on  
pages  134 and 135, demonstrating their suitable  
skills and experience.

The committee meets at least three times a year as per its 
terms of reference. The financial director, internal auditor, 
external auditor, sponsor and other assurance providers 
attend meetings by invitation only.

During the year four meetings were held. Details of 
attendance are set out on page  137.

Terms of reference
The committee has adopted formal terms of reference 
approved by the board. The committee has conducted its 
affairs in compliance with its terms of reference and has 
discharged its responsibilities contained therein. 

Statutory roles and responsibilities
External audit
The audit and risk committee has satisfied itself that Grant 
Thornton and Mr Jacques Barradas, the designated auditor 
during the year, are independent of the company, which 
review included consideration of previous appointments 
of the auditor, the extent of other work undertaken 
by the auditor for the company, and compliance with 
criteria relating to independence or conflicts of interest 
as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors. Requisite assurance was sought and provided 
by the auditor that internal governance processes 
within the audit firm support and demonstrate its claim 
to independence. The committee ensured that the 
appointment of the auditor complied with all legislation 
relating to the appointment of auditors.

The committee, in consultation with executive management, 
agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and 
budgeted audit fees for the 2016 year.

There is a formal procedure that governs the process 
whereby the auditor is considered for non-audit services: 

the committee approves the terms of a master service 
agreement for the provision of non-audit services by the 
external auditor and the nature and extent of non-audit 
services that the external auditor may provide in terms of 
the agreed pre-approval policy.

Financial statements
The committee has reviewed the accounting policies and 
the group and company financial statements and is satisfied 
that they are appropriate and comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

On 11 February 2016 the JSE Limited issued a report on the 
findings of their process of monitoring financial statements 
for compliance with IFRS. This report was considered by the 
audit committee during the review of the consolidated and 
separate annual financial statements.

A committee process has been established to receive 
and deal appropriately with any concerns and complaints 
relating to the reporting practices of the company. 
No matters of significance were raised in the year 
under review. 

The audit and risk committee recommended the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2016, 
for approval to the board. The board has subsequently 
approved the annual financial statements which will 
be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

Internal financial controls
The committee has overseen a process by which 
internal audit performed a written assessment of the 
effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control 
and risk management, including internal financial controls. 
This written assessment by internal audit formed the 
basis for the committee’s recommendation in this regard 
to the board, in order for the board to report thereon. 
No weaknesses have been identified in financial control 
(design, implementation or execution) that are considered 
material and that have resulted in actual material financial 
loss, fraud or material errors.

Delegated roles and responsibilities
Integrated reporting and combined assurance
The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the 
company’s integrated report and the reporting process. 
The committee considered the company’s sustainability 
information as disclosed in the integrated report and 
assessed its consistency with operational and other 
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information known to committee members and with the 
annual financial statements. The committee also discussed 
the sustainability information with management and the 
chairman of the social and ethics committee. It is satisfied 
that the sustainability information is reliable and consistent 
with the financial results.

The committee is satisfied that the group and company 
have optimised the assurance coverage obtained from 
management and internal and external assurance 
providers in accordance with an appropriate combined 
assurance model. 

Going concern
The committee has reviewed a documented assessment, 
including key assumptions prepared by management, 
of the going concern status of the company and has 
accordingly made recommendation to the board. The 
board’s statement on the going concern status of the group 
and company, as supported by the committee, is set out on 
page  50 of the integrated annual report.

Risk
The audit and risk committee determines the key risk areas 
facing the group and recommends mitigating measures. It 
is the responsibility of the committee to advise and update 
the board on issues ranging from accounting standards 
through published financial information to the implications 
of major transactions. The audit and risk committee is 
satisfied that the risk management processes, including the 
role of the outsourced risk specialist, the risk management 
software application and the methodology adopted, are 
appropriate, effective and sustainable.

Internal audit
The committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
company’s internal audit function is independent and 
has the necessary resources, standing and authority to 
enable it to discharge its duties. Further, the committee 
oversees co-operation between the internal and external 
auditors, and serves as a link between the board and these 
functions.

The committee considered and recommended the internal 
audit charter for approval by the board. The annual internal 
audit plan is developed and managed using the risk 
management database and forms part of the combined 
assurance model developed by CIG. The internal audit plan 
was approved by the audit and risk committee.

Internal Audit is responsible for reporting the findings of the 
internal audit work against the agreed internal audit plan to 
the committee on a regular basis. Internal Audit has direct 
access to the committee, primarily through its chairman. 

The committee is also responsible for the assessment of the 
performance of the internal audit function. The committee 
is satisfied with the high quality and effectiveness of the 
service provided. During the year, the committee met with 
both the external auditors and internal auditors without 
management being present. To the best of the committee’s 
knowledge the group has complied with all relevant and 
material legal, regulatory or other responsibilities.

Evaluation
The committee members were all satisfied with the 
functioning of the audit and risk committee. The board 
was satisfied that the committee members collectively 
have sufficient academic qualifications or experience in 
economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, 
commerce, industry, public affairs and human resource 
management as required by section 94(5) of the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008 (as amended), read with Regulation 42. 
In terms of the JSE Requirements, the audit and risk 
committee have considered and satisfied itself of the 
appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the 
financial director, Ivor Klitzner.

AD Dixon
Chairman
CA(SA), Finst D

22 February 2017
Johannesburg

Audit and risk committee report continued
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Consolidated Infrastructure 
Group Limited

Report on the annual financial statements
We have audited the annual financial statements of 
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited, as set out on 
pages  56 to 116 , which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statements of financial position as at 31 August 
2016, and the consolidated and separate statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information, including the 
analysis of shareholders on pages   118 to 120.

Directors’ responsibility for the annual 
financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008 (as amended), and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual financial statements that 
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the annual financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Consolidated Infrastructure Group 
Limited as at 31 August 2016, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the 
Companies Act
As part of our audit of the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 August 2016, we have read the 
directors’ report, the audit and risk committee’s report 
and declaration of the company secretary for the purpose 
of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited financial 
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the 
respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we 
have not identified material inconsistencies between these 
reports and the audited financial statements. However, 
we have not audited these reports and accordingly do 
not express an opinion on these reports.

Other matters
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475, dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
Grant Thornton has been the auditor for Consolidated 
Infrastructure Group Limited for 10 years.

Grant Thornton Johannesburg 
Chartered Accountants (SA)  
Registered Auditors

Per: Jacques Barradas
Partner
Chartered Accountant (SA) 
Registered Auditor 
Grant Thornton

Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo 2196

22 February 2017
Johannesburg
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 August 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 466 802 450 076 418 411
Goodwill 4 536 343 534 272 – –
Intangible assets 5 18 271 21 419 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 883 162 883 162
Investment in joint arrangements 7 782 854 584 170 – –
Financial assets 8 13 271 11 507 100 –
Deferred tax 9 66 768 75 070 424 424

1 884 309 1 676 514 884 104 883 997

Current assets
Inventories 10 135 252 109 050 – –
Loans to group companies 11 – – 1 247 403 854 219
Financial assets 8 1 381 – – –
Current tax receivable 22 702 6 243 – –
Amounts due from contract customers 12 3 734 851 2 707 486 – –
Trade and other receivables 13 381 452 245 101 30 484 7 779
Cash and cash equivalents 14 596 151 482 477 474 237 281 978

4 871 789 3 550 357 1 752 124 1 143 976
Total assets 6 756 098 5 226 871 2 636 228 2 027 973

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 15 1 606 059 1 356 130 1 598 620 1 349 176
Foreign currency translation reserve 178 834 115 124 – –
Share-based payment reserve 40 42 875 30 643 20 543 15 553
Accumulated income 1 564 406 1 169 383 31 073 20 157

3 392 174 2 671 280 1 650 236 1 384 886
Non-controlling interest 1 098 3 964 – –

3 393 272 2 675 244 1 650 236 1 384 886

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 1 026 504 725 191 924 000 625 000
Instalment sale liabilities 17 19 401 22 729 – –
Deferred tax 9 55 795 90 815 – –
Provisions 18 8 166 8 166 – –

1 109 866 846 901 924 000 625 000

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 48 311 8 892 36 275 –
Current tax payable 5 101 5 453 1 556 970
Instalment sale liabilities 17 18 747 23 364 – –
Trade and other payables 19 1 952 588 1 427 761 24 161 17 117
Amounts received in advance 114 075 172 645 – –
Amounts due to contract customers 12 75 912 66 611 – –
Bank overdraft 14 38 226 – – –

2 252 960 1 704 726 61 992 18 087
Total liabilities 3 362 826 2 551 627 985 992 643 087
Total equity and liabilities 6 756 098 5 226 871 2 636 228 2 027 973
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 August 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Revenue 21 4 531 640 3 603 953 10 995 10 718
Cost of sales (3 545 385) (2 818 381) – –
Gross profit 986 255 785 572 10 995 10 718
Other income 59 841 61 900 – –
Operating expenses (660 791) (495 347) (38 167) (30 160)
Foreign exchange gain 17 183 5 899 – –
Operating profit/(loss) 22 402 488 358 024 (27 172) (19 442)
Investment revenue 24 29 117 33 268 113 252 73 317
Gain on settlement of instalment sale liabilities 427 188 – –
Income from equity-accounted investments 135 789 109 517 – –
Finance costs 25 (136 963) (90 250) (68 978) (48 320)
Profit before taxation 430 858 410 747 17 102 5 555
Taxation 26 (37 973) (79 341) (6 186) (2 237)
Profit for the year 392 885 331 406 10 916 3 318

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit:
Exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations 62 982 112 502 – –
Other comprehensive income for the year  
net of taxation 29 62 982 112 502 – –
Total comprehensive income for the year 455 867 443 908 10 916 3 318

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 458 733 441 775 10 916 3 318
Non-controlling interest (2 866) 2 133 – –
Total comprehensive income for the year 455 867 443 908 10 916 3 318

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 395 023 330 226 10 916 3 318
Non-controlling interest (2 138) 1 180 – –
Profit for the year 392 885 331 406 10 916 3 318

Earnings per share (cents) 28
Basic 255,00 222,51
Diluted 248,14 216,32
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Share
capital
R’000

Foreign
currency 

trans-
lation 

reserve
R’000

Share- 
based 

payments 
reserve

R’000

Total
 reserves

R’000

Accu-
mulated 
income

R’000

Total 
attri-

butable
to equity 

holders 
of the 

parent/
company

R’000

Non-
controlling 

interest
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

Group
Balance at 1 September 2014 1 310 139 3 575 23 794 27 369 839 157 2 176 665 1 831 2 178 496
Profit for the year – – – – 330 226 330 226 1 180 331 406
Other comprehensive income – 111 549 – 111 549 – 111 549 953 112 502
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – 111 549 – 111 549 330 226 441 775 2 133 443 908
Issue of shares 42 483 – – – – 42 483 – 42 483
Share-based payments – – 10 357 10 357 – 10 357 – 10 357
Shares issued in terms of the 
share scheme 3 508 – (3 508) (3 508) – – – –
Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners  
of company recognised  
directly in equity 45 991 – 6 849 6 849 – 52 840 – 52 840
Balance at 1 September 2015 1 356 130 115 124 30 643 145 767 1 169 383 2 671 280 3 964 2 675 244

Profit for the year – – – – 395 023 395 023 (2 138) 392 885
Other comprehensive income – 63 710 – 63 710 – 63 710 (728) 62 982
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – 63 710 – 63 710 395 023 458 733 (2 866) 455 867
Issue of shares 249 431 – – – – – – –
Share-based payments – – 12 730 12 730 – 12 730 – 12 730
Shares issued in terms of  
the share scheme 498 – (498) (498) – – – –
Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners  
of company recognised  
directly in equity 249 929 – 12 232 12 232 – 262 161 – 262 161
Balance at 31 August 2016 1 606 059 178 834 42 875 221 709 1 564 406 3 392 174 1 098 3 393 272

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 August 2016
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Share
capital
R’000

Share-
based

payment
reserve

R’000

Total
 reserves

R’000

Accu-
mulated 
income

R’000

Total 
attri-

butable
to equity 

holders of
the group/

company
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

Company
Balance at 1 September 2014 1 306 707 13 114 13 114 16 839 1 336 660 1 336 660
Profit for the year – – – 3 318 3 318 3 318
Other comprehensive income – – – – – –
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 3 318 3 318 3 318
Issue of shares 42 469 – – – 42 469 42 469
Share-based payment expense – 2 439 2 439 – 2 439 2 439
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity 42 469 2 439 2 439 – 44 908 44 908
Balance at 1 September 2015 1 349 176 15 553 15 553 20 157 1 384 886 1 384 886

Profit for the year – – – 10 916 10 916 10 916
Other comprehensive income – – – – – –
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 10 916 10 916 10 916
Issue of shares 249 444 – – – 249 444 249 444
Share-based payment expense – 4 990 4 990 – 4 990 4 990
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity 249 444 4 990 4 990 – 254 434 254 434
Balance at 31 August 2016 1 598 620 20 543 20 543 31 073 1 650 236 1 650 236
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 August 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 30 (233 935) (102 880) (37 668) (14 314)
Interest income 29 117 33 268 113 252 73 317
Finance costs (133 469) (87 071) (68 978) (48 320)
Tax paid 31 (80 226) (103 520) (5 600) (1 680)
Net cash flows from operating activities (418 513) (260 203) 1 006 9 003

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3 (73 297) (59 272) (182) –
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 4 132 5 103 – –
Purchase of other intangible assets 5 (1 083) (369) – –
Business combinations 32 – (67 279) – –
Repayment of loans payable to group companies – – (393 184) (371 674)
Acquisition of financial assets (2 459) (335) (100) –
Movement in investment in subsidiary – – – (93 426)
Net cash flows from investing activities (72 707) (122 152) (393 466) (465 100)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on share issue 15 249 444 5 678 249 444 5 678
Increase in financial liabilities – – 335 275 95 000
Repayment of financial liabilities (7 987) (59 201) – –
New financial liabilities 348 719 – – –
Repayment of instalment sale liabilities (26 251) (35 644) – –
Net cash flows from financing activities 563 925 (89 167) 584 719 100 678

Total cash and cash equivalents movement 
for the year 72 705 (471 522) 192 259 (355 419)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year 482 477 948 984 281 978 637 397
Effect of foreign currency translation  
on cash balances 2 743 5 015 – –
Total cash and cash equivalents at  
the end of the year 14 557 925 482 477 474 237 281 978
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Notes to the  
annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 August 2016

1. Accounting policies
Presentation of annual financial statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and the Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 
2008 (as amended), the JSE Listings Requirements and 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee. The annual financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
unless otherwise stated in the policies, and incorporate the 
principal accounting policies set out below.

The accounting policies are consistent with the prior 
year other than the adoption of certain standards and 
interpretations which became effective during the 
current year.

1.1 Significant judgements
In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures; these judgements include:

Property, plant and equipment
Judgement is required in determining the residual value and 
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment. 
The estimation is done at each reporting date and revised 
accordingly.

Trade receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables for impairment 
at each reporting date. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement 
of  comprehensive income, the group makes judgements as 
to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
financial asset.

Group companies assess trade receivables based on 
adequacy specific to entity.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and 
obsolete stock
An allowance to write down stock to the lower of cost 
or net realisable value is made at each reporting date. 
Management has made estimates of the selling price and 
direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write 
down, if any, is included in the operating profit note.

Share options
Management used the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model to determine the value of the options at issue date. 
Additional details regarding the estimates are included in 
note 40 – Share-based payments.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and 
individual assets have been determined based on the 
higher of value in-use calculations and fair values less costs 
to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the future cash 
flows may be different to the current projections which 
may then impact our estimations and may then require 
a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill, 
tangible and intangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets 
when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, 
goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. 
Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable 
cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other 
assets and liabilities.

If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, 
estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows 
for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows 
used to determine the value in use of goodwill, tangible 
and intangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. Additional disclosure of 
impairments is included in note 4 – Goodwill.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in 
note 18 – Provisions.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for 
income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made.
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1. Accounting policies continued

1.1 Significant judgements continued
Taxation continued

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to 
deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 
income tax assets requires the group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast 
cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash 
flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, 
the ability of the group to realise the net deferred tax assets 
recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Land Indefinite 
Buildings 20 years 
Leasehold improvements Lease period
Plant and machinery
–   Earthmoving equipment 6 years
–   Plant and equipment 4 – 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 – 5 years 
Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years 
Office equipment 3 – 5 years
IT equipment 3 years
Computer software 1 year
Mobile Site Offices 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for as a change in accounting 
estimate.

1.3 Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the company’s 
interest of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment.

1.4 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end, any 
changes thereto are accounted for as changes in estimate.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values 
as follows:

Item Useful life 

Mining rights 20 years
Brand names 10 years
Computer software 1 year

1.5 Investments in subsidiaries
Group annual financial statements
The group annual financial statements include those of the 
holding company and its subsidiaries who are those entities 
which the group controls. The results of the subsidiaries are 
included from the effective date of acquisition. Subsidiaries 
are deconsolidated on the date that the group ceases 
control.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is 
the sum of:

◗◗  the consideration transferred measured in accordance 
with IFRS 3;

◗◗  the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree measured in accordance with IFRS 3; and

◗◗  in a business combination achieved in stages, the 
acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree.

All acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred.

On acquisition the group recognises the subsidiary’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair 
value, except for assets classified as held-for-sale, which are 
recognised at fair value less costs to sell.
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between group companies are eliminated 
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
but considered an impairment indicator of the asset 
transferred.

In the company’s separate annual financial statements, 
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the fair 
value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 
the company. An adjustment to the cost of a business 
combination contingent on future events is included in the 
cost of the combination if the adjustment is probable and 
can be measured reliably.

1.6 Joint arrangements
Company annual financial statements
Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which the joint 
venturer has rights to the net asset value of the arrangement. 
Joint ventures are those entities in which the group has joint 
control over the financial and operating policies.

Group annual financial statements

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method. An investment in a joint venture is carried at cost 
less any accumulated impairment. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the 
group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income (OCI) of equity-accounted investees, until the date 
on which significant influence ceases.

1.7 Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments. The group derecognises a financial asset 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred 
financial assets that is created or retained by the group 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The group derecognises a financial liability when the 
obligations expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the company has a legal right to offset the 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The group classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, 
a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Where the carrying value of short-term financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost approximates 
their fair values, discounting is not applied as the effects 
thereof are considered immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
At each statement of financial position date the group 
assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value 
through profit or loss, to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets has been impaired.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in 
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 
amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment 
is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an  
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets 
are written off, the write off is made against the relevant 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses.

Loans to/(from) group companies
These include loans to and from subsidiaries, and are 
recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to group companies are classified as loans and 
receivables which are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Loans from group companies are classified as financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.
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1. Accounting policies continued

1.7 Financial instruments continued

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund
These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables 
and measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 
fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability  
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 120 days overdue) are considered indicators 
that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance 
recognised is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans 
and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair value 
plus transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost 
approximates fair value.

Bank overdraft, borrowings and instalment sale 
liabilities
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at 
fair value, including transaction costs, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of 
borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowing 
in accordance with the group’s accounting policy for 
borrowing costs.

1.8 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid 
in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount 
due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except to the extent that the 
deferred tax liability arises from:

◗◗ the initial recognition of goodwill; or

◗◗  the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction which:

 –   is not a business combination; and

 –    at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit (loss) nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except to the extent that both of the following 
conditions are satisfied:

◗◗  The parent, investor or venturer is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and

◗◗  It is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred 
tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that:

◗◗ is not a business combination; and

◗◗  at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit (loss) nor taxable profit (tax loss).
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences arising from investments in 
subsidiaries, to the extent that it is probable that:

◗◗  the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable 
future; and

◗◗  taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward 
of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Tax expenses
Current tax and deferred taxes are recognised as income 
or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, 
except to the extent that the tax arises from:

◗◗  a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same 
or a different period, directly in equity, or

◗◗ a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to 
other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 
to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 
charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

1.9 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership to the lessee. A lease is classified as an operating 
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee.

Finance leases – lessor
The group does not have any leases of this nature.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability which is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are 
incurred.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

Inventories are disclosed net of any allowances for slow 
moving, damaged and obsolete inventories. The allowance 
is based on estimates made by management of the net 
realisable value of certain inventory items.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition.

1.11  Amounts due from/(to) contract 
customers

Where the outcome of a construction contract can 
be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
contract activity at the reporting date, as measured by the 
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed 
to date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

Amounts due from contract customers are measured at 
initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit 
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 
is impaired.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments 
are included to the extent that they have been agreed with 
the customer.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot 
be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to 
the extent that contract costs incurred are recoverable. 
Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed 
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as 
an expense immediately.

Advance payments received are assessed on initial 
recognition to determine whether it is probable that it will 
be repaid in cash or another financial asset. In this instance, 
the advance payment is classified as a non-trading financial 
liability that is carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. If it is probable that the advance 
payment will be repaid with goods or services, the liability 
is carried at historic cost.
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1.12 Impairment of non-financial assets
The group assesses at each end of the reporting period 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the group also tests goodwill acquired in 
a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating 
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating 
units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of 
the unit in the following order:

◗◗  first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the cash-generating unit and

◗◗  then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist 
or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than 
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.13 Share-based payments
The cost of goods or services received in a share-based 
payment transaction is recognised when the goods or 
services are received.

A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the 
goods or services were received in an equity-settled 
share-based payment transaction or a liability if the goods 
or services were acquired in a cash-settled share-based 
payment transaction.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the 
goods or services received are measured, as well as the 
corresponding increase in equity, at the fair value of the 
goods or services received unless that fair value cannot 
be estimated reliably.

If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot 
be estimated reliably, their value and the corresponding 
increase in equity are measured by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted is measured at 
grant date and is not subsequently remeasured. At each 
reporting date, up to and including vesting date, an estimate 
of the number of options expected to vest is carried out at 
each reporting date. Any adjustments are made through the 
statement of comprehensive income with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.

If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the 
counterparty completes a specified period of service, the 
company accounts for those services as they are rendered 
by the counterparty during the vesting period (or on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period).

1.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 
paid vacation leave, sick leave and bonuses) is recognised 
in the period in which the service is rendered and is not 
discounted.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments 
is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 
of past performance.
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Defined contribution plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or State plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the group’s obligation under 
the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan. The group has 
no further obligation once the payments due have 
been settled.

1.15 Provisions and contingencies
The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The discount rate used is in line with the length 
of the particular mining operation. Discounting is only 
performed when the effects of time value of money are 
considered to be material.

1.16 Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

◗◗  The group has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

◗◗  The group retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

◗◗  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

◗◗  It is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the group; and

◗◗  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

◗◗  Revenue associated with construction contracts is 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the construction contract at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably 
when all the following conditions are satisfied:

◗◗ The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

◗◗  It is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the group;

◗◗  The stage of completion of the transaction at the end 
of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

◗◗  The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Stage of completion is determined by the proportion of 
costs incurred to date compared to the total estimated 
costs of the construction contract.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal 
course of business, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Other income is recognised, at fair value, when the group 
has transferred to the other party the specific goods or 
services as stipulated, which is not included in revenue.

1.17 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and all 
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any 
reversal of any write down of inventories, arising from an 
increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction 
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the reversal occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write down of inventories is limited 
to the original carrying amount had no write down been 
recognised.

1.18 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon 
utilisation of the service or as incurred.

1.19 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such 
time as the asset is ready for its intended use.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.
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1.20 Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Rand, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction.

At each statement of financial position date:

◗◗  foreign currency monetary items are translated using 
the closing rate; and

◗◗  non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on translating monetary items at rates different 
from those at which they were translated on initial 
recognition during the period or in previous annual financial 
statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency 
are recorded in Rand by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the 
foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

Foreign operations
The results and financial position of foreign operations 
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from 
the group’s presentation are translated into the functional 
currency as follows:

◗◗  Assets and liabilities for each reporting period 
presented are translated at the closing rate ruling at the 
financial year-end date; and

◗◗  Income and expenses for each statement of 
comprehensive income item are translated at average 
exchange rates for the year to the extent that such 
average rates approximate rates ruling at the date 
of transactions.

Exchange differences arising on the translation are 
recognised directly in a separate component of other 
comprehensive income (foreign currency translation 
reserve). When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 
differences are reclassified in profit or loss as part of the 
gain or loss on sale.

1.21 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is based on the attributable profit 
for the year divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings 
per share is presented when the inclusion of potential 
ordinary shares has a dilutive effect on earnings per share.

1.22 Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is based on the same 
calculation as in earnings per share above except that 
attributable profit specifically excludes items as set 
out in Circular 02/2015 ’Headline Earnings’ issued by 
the South African Institute for Chartered Accountants. 
Diluted headline earnings per share is presented when the 
inclusion of potential ordinary shares has a dilutive effect 
on headline earnings per share.

1.23 Segmental reporting
The group has four operating segments: Building Materials, 
Power, Oil & Gas and Rail. In identifying these operating 
segments, management generally follows the group’s 
service lines representing its main products and services.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as 
each requires different technologies, marketing approaches 
and other resources.

For management purposes, the group uses the same 
measurement policies as those used in its financial 
statements.

In addition, corporate assets which are not directly 
attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment are not allocated to a segment. This primarily 
applies to the group’s corporate headquarters.
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2. New standards and interpretations
2.1  Standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the group.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the group’s accounting policies for the first period 
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations 
that are expected to be relevant to the group’s financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and 
interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the group’s financial statements.

Standard Details of amendment

Annual 
periods 
beginning  
on or after

IFRS 2: 
Share-based 
payment

◗◗  Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions: 
A collection of three distinct narrow-scope amendments dealing with classification 
and measurement of share-based payments.

◗◗ The amendments address:
 –    The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-

based payment;
 –    The accounting requirements for a modification to the terms and conditions  

of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction  
from cash-settled to equity  settled; and

 –    Classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement 
features

1 January 2018

IFRS 9: 
Financial 
Instruments

◗◗  A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued which replaces IAS 39: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The completed standard comprises 
guidance on Classification and Measurement, Impairment Hedge Accounting and  
Derecognition:

 –    IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, which 
is driven by the business model in which the asset is held and their cash flow 
characteristics. A new business model was introduced which does allow certain 
financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through other comprehensive 
income” in certain circumstances. The requirements for financial liabilities are 
mostly carried forward unchanged from IAS 39. However, some changes were 
made to the fair value option for financial liabilities to address the issue of own 
credit risk;

 –    The new model introduces a single impairment model being applied to all 
financial instruments, as well as an “expected credit loss” model for the 
measurement of financial assets;

 –    IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the accounting 
treatment with the risk management activities of an entity, in addition 
enhanced disclosures will provide better information about risk management 
and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial statements; and

 –    IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of financial assets and 
liabilities from IAS 39.

1 January 2018
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Standard Details of amendment

Annual 
periods 
beginning  
on or after

IFRS 10: 
Consolidated  
Financial 
Statements

◗◗  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (Amendments to IFRS 1O and IAS 28): Narrow scope amendment 
addresses an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 
10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint  venture

1 January 2016 

The effective 
date of this 
amendment 
has been 
deferred 
indefinitely until 
further notice

IFRS 11: 
 Joint Arrangements

◗◗  Amendments adding new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of 
an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a business which specify the 
appropriate accounting treatment for such acquisitions

1 January 2016

IFRS 12: 
Disclosure of 
Interest in other 
Entities

◗◗  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception: Narrow  scope 
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications to the 
requirements when accounting for investment entities. The amendments also 
provide relief in particular circumstances, which will reduce the costs of applying 
the Standards.

◗◗  Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle: Clarification of the scope of IFRS 12 with 
respect to interests in entities classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5: 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

1 January 2016

1 January 2017

IFRS 15:  
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

◗◗  New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. This core principle is achieved through a five step methodology 
that is required to be applied to al! contracts with customers.

◗◗  The new standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide 
guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively 
and improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements.

◗◗ The  new standard supersedes: 
 –    IAS 11: Construction Contracts; 
 –    IAS 18: Revenue;
 –    IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty Programmes;
 –    IFRIC 15: Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 
 –    IFRIC 18: Transfers of Assets from Customers; and
 –    SIC 31: Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

1 January 2018

2. New standards and interpretations continued

2.1  Standards and interpretations not yet effective continued
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2. New standards and interpretations continued

2.1  Standards and interpretations not yet effective continued

Standard Details of amendment

Annual 
periods 
beginning  
on or after

IFRS 16: 
Leases

◗◗  New standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 
recognise a right-of  use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased 
asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 
A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such 
as property, plant and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial 
liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee recognises depreciation of the right-of-use 
asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the 
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in 
the statement of cash flows applying IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows.

◗◗  IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees will need 
to apply judgement in deciding upon the information to disclose to meet the 
objective of providing a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect 
that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of 
the lessee.

◗◗  IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance 
leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

◗◗  IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will 
improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to 
residual value risk.

◗◗  IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards and Interpretations:
 –    IAS 17: Leases:
 –    IFRIC 4: Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
 –    SIC 15: Operating Leases-Incentives; and
 –    SIC 27: Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of 

a Lease.

1 January 2019

IAS 12: 
Income Tax

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12): 
Narrow-scope amendment to clarify the requirements on recognition of deferred tax 
assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value.

1 January 2017

IAS 16: 
Property, Plant  
and Equipment

◗◗  Amendment to both IAS 16 and IAS 38 establishing the principle for the basis of 
depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits of an asset. Clarifying that revenue is generally 
presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of 
economic benefits in such assets.

◗◗  Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41 which defines bearer plants and includes bearer 
plants in the scope of IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment, rather than IAS 41, 
allowing such assets to be accounted for after initial recognition in accordance 
with IAS 16.

1 January 2016

IAS 27: 
Consolidated and 
Separate Financial 
Statements

◗◗  Amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity method to account 
for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 
financial statements

1 January 2016
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Standard Details of amendment

Annual 
periods 
beginning  
on or after

IAS 28: 
Investments in 
Associates and 
Joint Ventures

◗◗  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception: Narrow -scope 
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications to the 
requirements when accounting for investment entities. The amendments also 
provide relief in particular circumstances, which will reduce the costs of applying 
the Standards.

◗◗  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (Amendments to IFRS 1O and IAS 28): Narrow-scope amendment to 
address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 1O 
and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

◗◗  Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle: Clarification that a  venture capital 
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities may elect, at initial 
recognition, to measure investments in an associate or joint venture at fair value 
through profit or loss separately for each associate or joint venture.

The effective 
date of this 
amendment 
has been 
deferred 
indefinitely until 
further notice

1 January 2018

IAS 38: 
Intangible Assets

◗◗  Amendments to IAS 16 and AS 38 to clarify the basis for the calculation of 
depreciation and amortisation, as being the expected pattern of consumption of 
the future economic benefits of an asset.

1 January 2016

◗◗  Amendment to both IAS 16 and IAS 38 establishing the principle for the basis of 
depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits of an asset. Clarifying that revenue is generally 
presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of 
economic benefits in such assets.

1 January 2016

IFRIC 22: 
Foreign Currency 
Transactions 
and Advance 
Consideration

◗◗  This interpretation addresses the exchange rate to use in transactions that involve 
advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency.

1 January 2018

2. New standards and interpretations continued

2.1  Standards and interpretations not yet effective continued
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3. Property, plant and equipment
2016 2015

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Group
Land and buildings 154 106 (10 477) 143 629 153 119 (9 285) 143 834
Plant and machinery 386 654 (159 187) 227 467 345 366 (129 218) 216 148
Furniture and fixtures 15 108 (7 639) 7 469 12 814 (5 493) 7 321
Motor vehicles 137 550 (95 373) 42 177 121 933 (79 943) 41 990
Office equipment 6 836 (3 946) 2 890 5 541 (3 023) 2 518
IT equipment 37 534 (26 903) 10 631 28 539 (22 041) 6 498
Computer software 55 901 (25 185) 30 716 47 290 (17 131) 30 159
Leasehold improvements 732 (488) 244 612 (366) 246
Mobile site offices 2 886 (1 307) 1 579 2 259 (897) 1 362
Total 797 307 (330 505) 466 802 717 473 (267 397) 450 076

Company
Furniture and fixtures 381 (261) 120 381 (215) 166
Office equipment 37 (21) 16 20 (20) –
IT equipment 226 (187) 39 182 (182) –
Leasehold improvements 732 (489) 243 612 (367) 245
Total 1 376 (958) 418 1 195 (784 411

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – group – 2016

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000
Transfers

R’000

Foreign
exchange

move-
ments
R’000

Depre-
ciation 

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land and buildings 143 834 1 436 – – 39 (1 680) 143 629
Plant and machinery 216 148 46 323 (516) (2 071) 612 (33 029) 227 467
Furniture and fixtures 7 321 2 039 (390) – 633 (2 134) 7 469
Motor vehicles 41 990 19 227 (2 317) – 419 (17 142) 42 177
Office equipment 2 518 1 307 – – – (935) 2 890
IT equipment 6 498 9 075 (61) – – (4 881) 10 631
Computer software 30 159 8 611 – – – (8 054) 30 716
Leasehold improvements 246 121 – – – (123) 244
Mobile site offices 1 362 627 – – – (410) 1 579

450 076 88 766 (3 284) (2 071) 1 703 (68 388) 466 802
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3. Property, plant and equipment continued

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – group – 2015 

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Additions
through

business
combi-
nations

R’000
Disposals

R’000
Transfers

R’000

Foreign
exchange

move-
ments
R’000

Depre-
ciation 
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land and buildings 127 400 12 560 5 361 (35) 33 91 (1 576) 143 834
Plant and machinery 188 641 44 232 10 204 (159) (33) – (26 737) 216 148
Furniture and fixtures 6 167 1 355 254 – – 1 147 (1 602) 7 321
Motor vehicles 33 076 5 930 14 684 (604) – 780 (11 876) 41 990
Office equipment 2 600 643 21 – – 76 (822) 2 518
IT equipment 6 822 3 680 389 (33) – 41 (4 401) 6 498
Computer software 22 443 11 840 583 – – – (4 707) 30 159
Leasehold improvements 368 – – – – – (122) 246
Property, plant and 
equipment1 – 135 1 810 – – – (583) 1 362

387 517 80 375 33 306 (831) – 2 135 (52 426) 450 076

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – company – 2016

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Depreciation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Furniture and fixtures 166 – (46) 120
Office equipment – 17 (1) 16
IT equipment – 44 (5) 39
Leasehold improvements 245 121 (123) 243

411 182 (175) 418

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – company – 2015

Opening
balance

R’000
Depreciation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Furniture and fixtures 215 (49) 166
IT equipment 3 (3) –
Leasehold improvements 367 (122) 245

585 (174) 411

Assets subject to instalment sale liabilities (net carrying amount)
GROUP

2016
R’000

2015 
R’000

Plant and machinery 27 836 38 071
Motor vehicles 20 155 23 215
IT equipment 1 525 2 105

49 516 63 391

1Refer to notes 16 and 17 for details of property, plant and equipment given as security to the group’s lenders
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3. Property, plant and equipment continued

Option on certain land and buildings
Elderberry Proprietary Limited, an external company, has an option in place to acquire the land and buildings held by  
Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited, located in Muldersdrift, for an amount of R68,4 million. The current carrying value of 
the land and buildings is R70,2 million (2015: R70,2 million). Should the option be exercised, Elderberry has an obligation to 
lease the land and buildings back to Drift Supersand, if Drift Supersand so requires. If the lease comes into effect following 
Elderberry exercising its option to acquire the land and buildings, Drift Supersand has the option to renew the lease up to 
30 September 2022. Certain directors of Drift Supersand are shareholders of Elderberry.

4. Goodwill
2016 2015

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Group
Goodwill 574 484 (38 141) 536 343 572 413 (38 141) 534 272

Reconciliation of goodwill – group – 2016

Opening
balance

R’000

Additions
through

business
combinations

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Goodwill 534 272 2 071 536 343

Reconciliation of goodwill – group – 2015

Opening
balance

R’000

Additions 
through 

business 
combinations

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Goodwill 462 220 72 052 534 272

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (CGUs) have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
The assumptions applied for each of the variables are conservative and match those applied in the preparation of group 
budgets and forecasts. Assumptions are supported by past experience. Future cash flows were discounted at a rate of  
10% to 20%, which approximates the weighted average cost of capital for the group, over a 10-year period and assuming a 
growth rate of 8%. A period of 10 years was used as it is line with the minimum investment period envisaged at the acquisition 
date. The value of goodwill determined on this basis exceeds the carrying value at year-end for Drift Supersand, West End 
Claybrick, Conco, Tractionel and Consolidated Power Maintenance.



Annual financial statements76

Notes to the annual financial statements continued 

 for the year ended 31 August 2016

4. Goodwill continued

Allocation of goodwill
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

Drift Supersand 22 717 22 717
West End Claybrick 41 565 41 565
Conco 397 938 397 938
Tractionel 72 052 72 052
Consolidated Power Maintenance 2 071 –
Total 536 343 534 272

Current year goodwill for Consolidated Power Maintenance arose through assets and liabilities and is not material. Therefore 
disclosure in terms of business combinations is not necessary.

5. Intangible assets
2016 2015

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Mining rights 21 743 (9 784) 11 959 21 743 (8 697) 13 046
Brand names 23 959 (18 025) 5 934 23 959 (15 629) 8 330
Computer software 1 861 (1 483) 378 778 (735) 43
Total 47 563 (29 292) 18 271 46 480 (25 061) 21 419

Reconciliation of intangible assets – group – 2016
Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Amortisation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Group
Mining rights 13 046 – (1 087) 11 959
Brand names 8 330 – (2 396) 5 934
Computer software 43 1 083 (748) 378
Total 21 419 1 083 (4 231) 18 271

Reconciliation of intangible assets – group – 2015
Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Amortisation

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Mining rights 14 133 – (1 087) 13 046
Brand names 10 726 – (2 396) 8 330
Computer software 21 369 (347) 43
Total 24 880 369 (3 830) 21 419

Remaining useful lives of intangible assets (years)
2016 2015

Mining rights 11 12
Brand names 2 3
Computer software 1 1
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5. Intangible assets continued

Synopsis of mining rights
Drift Supersand 
Mining

West End 
Claybrick Regal Brick Regal Brick

Reference number ML06/1998 ML07/2003 MR78/2007 MR68/2007

Mineral Sand, gravel and 
igneous rock

Clay Sand occurring in the 
slimes dam

Clay

Properties Portion 116, a portion 
of portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
26,8480 hectares in 
extent

Portion 80 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
38,86 hectares in extent

Portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
26,84 hectares in extent

Remaining portion 1 
of the farm 
Waterspan 292 –  
IQ Westonaria

Mine residue deposit 
RMT 273/77 located on 
portion 3 of the farm 
Witpoortjie 245 –  
IQ Mogale City District, 
measuring 
18,1590 hectares 
in extent

Remaining portion 
of portion 1 and a 
portion of portion 32 
of the farm Waterspan 
292 – IQ Westonaria, 
measuring 49,9934 
hectares in extent

Issue date 24 February 2012 18 May 2010 6 March 2007 6 March 2007

Expiration date 26 April 2038 17 May 2040 5 March 2017* 5 March 2037

Status New order mining  
right approved

New order mining 
right approved

New order mining  
right approved

New order mining  
right approved

*  In terms of MR78/2007, a renewal application has been submitted of which the outcome is pending. From a business continuity perspective, the 
resource to be mined is not critical to the manufacturing process of clay bricks. Alternative sources of supply have been identified in the open market.

No land is owned, leased or is adjacent to any protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas. 

As at year-end no impairment indicators existed.
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6. Investments in subsidiaries
2016 2015

Name of company
%

holding
Cost

R’000
%

holding
Cost

R’000

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited** 74 28 841 74 28 841
West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited 100 61 558 100 61 558
Consolidated Power Projects Group Proprietary Limited 100 459 027 100 459 027
Consolidated Power Maintenance and Investments 
Proprietary Limited 100 1 100 1
Consolidated Infrastructure Group International* 100 210 101 100 210 101
Tractionel*** 100 123 634 100 123 634

883 162 883 162

* All subsidiaries are incorporated in South Africa, except for Consolidated Infrastructure Group International which is incorporated in Mauritius
** On 1 September 2014, Lephatsi Investments Proprietary Limited acquired a 26% shareholding in Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited
***  On 31 October 2014, the group acquired 100% of the voting equity interest of Tension Overhead Electrification Proprietary Limited and Tractionel 

Maintenance Services Proprietary Limited, collectively referred to as Tractionel

7. Investment in joint arrangements
Joint ventures
On 30 January 2014 the group acquired a 30,5% equity interest in AES for R261,6 million. AES, an Angolan-based company, 
provides waste management services to the oil and gas sector. The shareholding in AES is held by Consolidated Infrastructure 
Group International, incorporated in Mauritius, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the group. AES is accounted for as a joint 
venture using the equity-accounted method.

Fundo De Investimento Privado Angola (FIPA) currently holds a 16% stake in AES.

In terms of a consortium agreement, FIPA has a put option in place to sell its shareholding to CIG. The option period 
commenced on 1 May 2016 and expires after four years.

The value of the shares to be acquired will be based on a 4,5 times EBITDA multiple, less any existing interest-bearing debt 
within the business. The fair value at year end is calculated to show that there is no indication of impairment to the carrying 
amount of the investment.

In the event of a material adverse condition existing at the time the put option is triggered by FIPA, CIG has the right not to 
exercise the option, following which CIG and FIPA will jointly market their shares in the open market.

The following table lists all of the joint ventures in the group:

2016 2015

Name of company Held by

% 
ownership

interest

Carrying
amount

R’000

% 
ownership

interest

Carrying
amount

R’000

Group
Angola Environmental Services Limitada (AES) CIG Angola 1 30,5 782 850 30,5 584 169
Uvuko-Tractionel JV Tractionel 65,0 4 65,0 1

782 854 584 170
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7. Investment in joint arrangements continued

Joint ventures continued
The following joint venture is material to the group:

2016 2015

Country of
 incorporation Method

% 
ownership

interest

% 
ownership

interest

AES Angola Equity 30,5 30,5

Summarised financial information of joint venture
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%)

AES

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Profit before tax 684 938 552 418
Tax expense (239 728) (193 346)
Profit after tax 445 210 359 072
Total comprehensive income 445 210 359 072

Summarised statement of financial position (100%)
AES

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Assets
Non-current 893 731 855 573
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 259 360 166 376
Other current assets 750 697 861 458
Total current assets 1 010 057 1 027 834

Liabilities
Non-current
Non-current financial liabilities 27 926 243 394
Total non-current liabilities 27 926 243 394

Current
Current financial liabilities 241 874 364 612
Total current liabilities 241 874 364 612
Total net assets 1 633 988 1 275 401

Reconciliation of net assets to equity-accounted investments in joint ventures
Interest in joint venture at percentage ownership (30,5%) 656 792 458 108
Goodwill 126 062 126 062
Carrying value of investment in joint venture 782 854 584 170

Investment at the beginning of the period 584 170 372 638
Share of profit 135 789 109 517
Share of OCI 62 895 102 015
Investment at the end of the period 782 854 584 170
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8. Financial assets
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund 10 734 9 356 – –
Non-current receivable 2 381 2 128 – –

A subsidiary company, Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited, 
disposed of certain of its plant and equipment. The balance 
is payable over a period in excess of one year.

The amount payable within one year is included in trade 
and other receivables (note 13).

Other loans and receivables 1 537 23 100 –
Total other financial assets 14 652 11 507 100 –

The carrying value of the financial assets approximates  
their fair value.

Non-current assets
Loans and receivables 13 271 11 507 100 –

Current assets
Loans and receivables 1 381 – – –

14 652 11 507 100 –

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016



Annual financial statements 81

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 

2016

9. Deferred tax
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Deferred tax breakdown
Property, plant and equipment (42 457) (36 972) – –
Deferred taxation on intangible assets (23 301) (30 495) – –
Debtors and income received in advance 13 251 12 596 – –
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 79 130 45 538 424 424
Other provisions 108 1 051 – –
Provision for doubtful debts (4 262) (192) – –
Accrual for leave pay and bonus (11 496) (7 271) – –

10 973 (15 745) 424 424

A deferred tax asset of R1,3 million was included in the  
prior year as part of the Tractionel business combination 
(refer note 32).

Reconciliation of deferred tax
At the beginning of the year (15 745) (18 376) 424 1 214
Reversing temporary difference on property, plant  
and equipment (5 485) (659) – –
Originating/(reversing) temporary difference on  
intangible assets 7 194 (5 041) – –
Originating temporary difference on debtors and income 
received in advance 655 7 473 – –
Increase/(decrease) in tax losses available for set off  
against future taxable income 33 592 (379) – (790)
(Reversing)/originating temporary difference on  
other provisions (943) (308) – –
(Reversing)/originating temporary difference on  
provision for doubtful debts (4 070) 42 – –
(Reversing)/originating temporary difference on  
accrual for leave pay and bonus (4 225) 1 503 – –

10 973 (15 745) 424 424

Disclosure on the statement of financial position
Deferred tax asset 66 768 75 070 424 424
Deferred tax liability (55 795) (90 815) – –

10 973 (15 745) 424 424

Recognition of deferred tax asset    
Deferred tax assets are raised only to the extent that future taxable income will be available against which the deferred tax 
asset can be set off. A deferred tax asset of R79,1 million (2015: R45,5 million) was raised based on tax losses available for set 
off against future taxable income. Management has projected that future taxable income will be in excess of the tax losses.
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10. Inventories
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Raw materials, components 73 859 57 622 – –
Work in progress 15 430 17 156 – –
Finished goods 45 963 34 272 – –

135 252 109 050 – –

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. There were no write downs of inventory during the current 
financial year.

11. Loans to group companies
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Subsidiaries

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited – – 86 920 80 792
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate 
plus 0,5% and has no fixed terms of repayment.

West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited – – 129 390 139 390
The loan is unsecured, does not bear interest, is repayable 
on demand and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The group has subordinated the loan in favour of the 
subsidiary’s bankers.

Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited – – 947 418 568 409
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate 
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited – – 83 675 65 628
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime interest rate 
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

– – 1 247 403 854 219

The carrying value of the loans to group companies approximates their fair value.
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12. Amounts due from/(to) contract customers
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Cost incurred plus recognised profits/(less recognised losses) 
on contracts in progress at year-end 2 600 976 2 099 399 – –
Amounts receivable on contracts (net of impairments) 1 027 610 519 335 – –

3 628 586 2 618 734 – –
Advances received in excess of work completed (75 912) (66 611) – –
Amounts receivable from contracts 3 552 674 2 552 123 – –
Retentions receivable (net of impairments) 106 265 88 752 – –

3 658 939 2 640 875 – –
Amounts due from contract customers 3 734 851 2 707 486 – –
Amounts due to contract customers (75 912) (66 611) – –

3 658 939 2 640 875 – –

Amounts due from contract customers past due but 
not impaired
Amounts due from contract customers which are past due 
are reviewed for impairment. Management has considered 
past payment performance and current financial standing  
of the customer in order to raise the appropriate impairment 
allowance. At 31 August 2016, R302,5 million (2015: 
R201,8 million) was past due but not impaired. Management 
is satisfied that these amounts are recoverable as it is in line 
with the terms associated with the industry.

An allowance of R24,4 million (2015: R24,5 million) was raised 
for past due amounts receivable from contract customers.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is 
as follows: 
31 – 60 days 106 418  18 125 – –
61 – 90 days 26 913  11 961 – –
91 – 120 days 169 173  171 675 – –

302 504 201 761 – –

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment of  
amounts due from contract customers
Opening balance 24 463  25 991 – –
Utilisation of provision (46)  (1 528) – –

24 417  24 463 – –

R3 734,9 million (2015: R2 707,5 million) amounts due from contract customers in Conco have been ceded to the bank as 
security for facilities granted.

The carrying value of amounts due from contract customers approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature of 
these instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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13. Trade and other receivables
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Trade receivables 269 625 162 997 – –
Prepayments 63 329 36 534 23 303 2 645
Deposits 10 754 4 698 – –
VAT 4 244 3 928 1 301 –
Other 33 500 36 944 5 880 5 134

381 452 245 101 30 484 7 779

Trade and other receivables pledged as security
R22,8 million (2015: R21,7 million) trade receivables in 
West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited and R118,3 million 
(2015: R43,1 million) in Tension Overhead Electrification 
Proprietary Limited have been ceded to the bank as security 
for facilities granted.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables past due are reviewed for 
impairment. Management has considered past payment 
performance and current financial standing of the customer 
in order to raise the appropriate impairment allowance.

At 31 August 2016, R17,6 million (2015: R21,0 million) was 
past due but not impaired. Management is satisfied that 
these amounts are recoverable as it is in line with the terms 
associated with the industry.

An allowance of R0,8 million (2015: R0,8 million) was raised 
for past due trade and other receivables. The ageing of 
amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
31 – 60 days 10 904 4 767 – –
61 – 90 days 1 574 4 781 – –
91 – 120 days 5 091 11 420 – –

17 569 20 968 – –

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment of  
trade and other receivables
Opening balance 825 390 – 791
Movement in provision (117) 448 – –
Written off 115 (13) – (791)

823 825 – –

The carrying value of the trade and other receivables approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 185 67 – –
Bank balances 592 286 478 095 474 237 281 978
Short-term deposits 3 680 4 315 – –
Bank overdraft (38 226) – – –

557 925 482 477 474 237 281 978

Current assets 596 151 482 477 474 237 281 978
Current liabilities (38 226) – – –

557 925 482 477 474 237 281 978

The carrying value of the cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. 

Certain amounts due from contract customers (refer to note 12), certain trade and other receivables (refer to note 13) and an 
R8,0 million (2015: R8,0 million) surety by Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited were pledged as security for unutilised 
overdraft facilities.

15. Share capital
GROUP COMPANY

2016
’000

2015
’000

2016
’000

2015
’000

Authorised
300 million no par value shares (2015: 200 million)
Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported as at 1 September 148 884 146 851 148 884 146 851
Issue of shares – no par value shares 8 000 1 416 8 000 1 416
Issue of shares – share options exercised 82 617 82 617
Closing balance as at 31 August 156 966 148 884 156 966 148 884

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

On 30 November 2015, 8,0 million no par value shares 
were issued at a price of R32,00 per share (4,98% discount 
to the 30-day volume weighted average traded price of the 
company’s shares at 19 November 2015). A total cash amount 
of R256 000 000 was raised in this issue.

Issued
No par value shares 1 606 059 1 356 130 1 598 620 1 349 176



Annual financial statements86

Notes to the annual financial statements continued 

 for the year ended 31 August 2016

16. Financial liabilities
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Held at amortised cost

16.1 BoE mortgage bond 213 305 – –
The loan is secured by the property situated on Portion 1 
of Holdings 490, Glen Austin Agricultural Holdings Ext 3. 
The loan bears interest at 8,70% and is payable in monthly 
instalments of R9 658.

16.2 IDC suspensive sale agreement 7 075 11 428 – –
The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over all land and 
buildings and by a general notarial bond over all moveable 
assets held by West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited.

The loan required interest payments in arrears compounded 
monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter capital and interest 
repayments became payable on 1 June 2012.

The loan is repayable in 71 monthly instalments of 
R357 650 with a final instalment of R356 850. At year-end 
21 instalments remain outstanding.

Interest charged is at prime less 3% compounded monthly 
in arrears from drawing date to 29 February 2016, thereafter 
at the variable rate of 0,4% below prime until repaid in full.

16.3  IDC portion A of working capital loan – 1 874 – –
The loan was secured by a first mortgage bond over  
all land and buildings and by a general notarial bond  
over all moveable assets held by West End Claybrick 
Proprietary Limited.

The loan required interest payments in arrears compounded 
monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter capital and interest 
repayments became payable on 1 June 2012.

The loan was repayable in 35 monthly instalments of 
R208 350 with a final instalment of R207 550. The loan was 
settled during the year.

Interest at the rate of 3% below prime from drawing date 
until 29 February 2016. Thereafter at the variable rate of 
0,4% below prime until repaid in full.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

16.4 IDC portion B of working capital loan 2 916 4 583 – –
The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over all land and 
buildings and by a general notarial bond over all moveable 
assets held by West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited.

The loan required interest payments in arrears compounded 
monthly until 30 May 2012. Thereafter capital and interest 
repayments became payable on 1 June 2012.

The loan is repayable in 71 monthly instalments of 
R138 900 with a final instalment of R138 100. At year-end 
21 instalments remain outstanding.

Interest charged at fixed rate of 6,3% compounded monthly 
in arrears from drawing date to 31 March 2015, thereafter 
at the normal rate of 0,7% below prime until repaid in full.

16.5 Mortgage loan 177 1 215 – –
The mortgage loan is secured over certain land and buildings 
held by Lugbell Investments Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary 
of Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited. 
The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft rate and is 
repayable in 60 monthly instalments of R90 000. At year-end 
two instalments remain outstanding.

16.6 Vendor loan 98 183 89 678 – –
The liability relates to a payout option that can be exercised 
by the vendor on either 1 March 2018, 1 March 2019 or 
1 March 2020, subject to the profitability of AES achieving 
certain cumulative profit after tax targets from the acquisition 
date to the financial years ending 31 December 2017,  
31 December 2018 or 31 December 2019.

It appears almost certain that these profit targets will be 
met, based on the current performance of the business.

The loan is denominated in US Dollars and carries no interest.

16.7 Medium-term loan 4 402 – – –
The loan is unsecured and held by Lugbell Investments 
Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary of Consolidated Power 
Projects Proprietary Limited. The loan is interest free with  
no fixed terms of repayment. 

16.8 Other 1 573 – – –

16. Financial liabilities continued
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

16.9 Senior unsecured floating rate notes
16.9.1 CIG03 36 275 131 000 36 275 131 000
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 2,75% and is 
paid quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 
31 December each year.

The note was part repaid on 27 July 2016. The maturity date 
for the remaining balance remains at 30 June 2017.

16.9.2 CIG04 134 000 134 000 134 000 134 000
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,10% and is 
paid quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and  
31 December each year.

The maturity date of the note is 30 June 2018 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.3 CIG05 135 000 135 000 135 000 135 000
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,50% and is 
paid quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 
31 December each year.

The maturity date of the notes is 30 June 2019 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.4 CIG06 70 000 70 000 70 000 70 000
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3% and is 
paid quarterly on 28 February, 31 May, 31 August and 
30 November each year.

The maturity date of the note is 31 August 2018 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.5 CIG07 155 000 155 000 155 000 155 000
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,75% and is 
paid quarterly on 28 February, 31 May, 31 August and 
30 November each year.

The maturity date of the note is 31 August 2020 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.6 CIG09 85 000 – 85 000 –
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3% and is paid 
quarterly on 7 March, 7 June, 7 September and 7 December 
each year.

The maturity date of the note is 7 June 2019 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16. Financial liabilities continued
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16. Financial liabilities continued

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

16.9  Senior unsecured floating rate notes 
continued

16.9.7 CIG10 19 000 – 19 000 –
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,00% and is paid 
quarterly on 23 January, 23 April, 23 July and 23 October  
each year.

The maturity date of the note is 23 July 2019 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.8 CIG11 147 000 – 147 000 –
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,27% and is paid 
quarterly on 29 January, 29 April, 29 July and 29 October 
each year.

The maturity date of the note is 29 July 2020 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

16.9.9 CIG12 179 000 – 179 000 –
Interest charged is three-month JIBAR plus 3,70% and is paid 
quarterly on 29 January, 29 April, 29 July and 29 October 
each year.

The maturity date of the note is 29 July 2021 at which 
time the full capital amount will be repaid.

1 074 815 734 083 960 275 625 000

Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost 1 026 504 725 191 924 000 625 000

Current liabilities
At amortised cost 48 311 8 892 36 275 –

1 074 815 734 083 960 275 625 000
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17. Instalment sale liabilities
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Non-current liabilities 19 401 22 729 – –
Current liabilities 18 747 23 364 – –

38 148 46 093 – –

It is group policy to acquire certain plant and machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment under instalment sale liabilities.

The average term was three to five years and the average effective borrowing rate was 2016: 10,5% (2015: 9,5%).

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date.

The group’s obligations under instalment sale agreements are secured by the lessor’s charge over the assets subject to 
instalment sales. Refer to note 3.

18. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Closing
 balance

R’000

Environmental rehabilitation – group – 2016 8 166 – 8 166
Environmental rehabilitation – group – 2015 8 073 93 8 166

The provision has been raised due to the group’s obligation to rectify environmental damage on the mine situated at 
remaining portion 1 of the farm Waterpan 292 – IQ Westonaria and the Drift Supersand quarry situated at Muldersdrift.

In accordance with legislation, the land contaminated by the company must be restored to a condition as prescribed by 
the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR), when mining activities come to an end. During the current year the company 
provided for this purpose. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the provision 
is the costs that will be incurred. In particular, the company has assumed that the site will be restored using technology and 
materials that are available currently. Estimated costs are based on current tariffs and guidelines. It is forecast that, due to 
continuing operations, the land will not have to be rehabilitated within the next 24 years, but as part of continuing operations 
portions of land are rehabilitated as part of ongoing operations from time to time. The group utilised Ezendalo Legal Solutions 
to determine the obligation at year-end.
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19. Trade and other payables
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Trade payables 1 805 771 1 336 108 – –
VAT 4 677 5 121 – 32
Straight-lining of leases 195 687 – –
Accrued leave pay 33 302 18 871 – –
Accrued bonus 38 373 21 655 4 000 4 020
Accrued audit fees 6 969 2 799 476 320
Accrued expenses 62 976 42 286 19 685 12 745
Other payables 325 234 – –

1 952 588 1 427 761 24 161 17 117

The carrying value of the trade and other payables approximates their amortised cost value due to the short-term nature of 
these instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.

20. Retirement benefits
Defined contribution plan
It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefits to all its employees. A defined contribution provident fund, which is 
subject to the Pensions Fund Act, exists for this purpose.

The group is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

The total group contribution to such schemes 33 180 24 971 282 –

21. Revenue
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Sale of goods 485 714 595 145 – –
Construction contracts 4 045 926 3 008 808 – –
Management fees – – 10 995 10 718

4 531 640 3 603 953 10 995 10 718
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22. Operating profit/(loss)
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after accounting 
for the following:

Operating lease charges
–   Premises 27 134 23 090 857 991
–   Equipment 455 455 – –

27 589 23 477 857 991

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (848) (3 688) – –
Profit on exchange differences (17 183) (5 899) – –
Employee costs 378 235 275 874 22 292 16 746

23. Directors’ emoluments
Executive

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Subsistence
and travel 
allowance

R’000

Share-based
payment

R’000
Total
R’000

2016
Paid by the company
RD Gamsu 4 230 3 915 120 2 561 10 826
IM Klitzner 2 666 2 475 84 991 6 216

6 896 6 390 204 3 552 17 042

104 731 and 57 985 share appreciation rights were awarded to the CEO and FD respectively during the current year, at a strike 
price of R27,06. 49 510 and 27 142 performance shares were awarded to the CEO and FD respectively during the current year. 
Based on the fair value of the options that vested at the reporting date, the cost of the share-based payment to the directors 
for those options that vested in the current financial year is included in the directors’ emoluments table above. 4 369 498 share 
options have vested in terms of the performance criteria as per note 40, 3 969 498 remain unexercised at year-end.

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Subsistence
and travel 
allowance

R’000

Share-based
payment

R’000
Total
R’000

2015
Paid by the company
RD Gamsu 3 980 3 362 120 2 873 10 335
IM Klitzner 2 516 2 080 84 1 004 5 684

6 496 5 442 204 3 877 16 019

90 990 and 50 674 performance-based share options were awarded to the CEO and FD respectively at the commencement 
of the current financial year, at a strike price of R31,26. 43 014 and 23 720 performance shares were awarded to the CEO and 
FD respectively during the current year. Based on the fair value of the options that vested at the reporting date, the cost of the 
share-based payment to the directors for those options that vested in the current financial year is included in the directors’ 
emoluments table above. 4 093 486 share options have vested in terms of the performance criteria as per note 40, 3 693 486 
remain unexercised at year-end.
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23. Directors’ emoluments continued

Board fees
R’000

Total
R’000

Non-executive
2016
Paid by the company
F Boner 387 387
K Bucknor 133 133
A Darko 411 411
AD Dixon 387 387
R Horton 260 260
Dr K Kariuki 36 36
J Nwokedi 169 169

1 783 1 783

2015
Paid by the company
F Boner 342 342
K Bucknor 97 97
A Darko 388 388
AD Dixon 365 365
R Horton 245 245
J Nwokedi 165 165

1 602 1 602

Salary
R’000

Bonus
R’000

Total
R’000

Prescribed officers
2016
DC Moore 2 357 1 237 3 594

Emoluments
R’000

Bonus
R’000

Total
R’000

2015
DC Moore 2 124 708 2 832

Prescribed officers are defined as those individuals that demonstrate executive control and management of the business and 
activities of the group.

24. Investment revenue
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Interest revenue
Bank 26 834 31 240 12 873 16 637
Other 2 283 2 028 – –
Loans to subsidiaries – – 100 379 56 680

29 117 33 268 113 252 73 317
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25. Finance costs
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Financial liabilities 1 157 1 662 – –
Profit on foreign currency borrowings (54) (483) – –
Instalment sale liabilities 4 503 4 718 – –
Bank and other 131 123 84 282 68 978 48 320
Late payment of tax 234 71 – –

136 963 90 250 68 978 48 320

26. Taxation
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax – current period 40 151 79 409 6 186 1 447
Prior period overprovision (8 588) – – –
Foreign income tax or withholding tax – current period 33 128 2 272 – –

64 691 81 681 6 186 1 447

Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences (37 093) (2 777) – 790
Changes in tax rates 18 – – –
Arising from prior period adjustments 10 357 437 – –

(26 718) (2 340) – 790
37 973 79 341 6 186 2 237

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.
Accounting profit 430 858 410 747 17 102 5 555

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% 120 640 115 009 4 789 1 555

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenditure 5 181 3 960 1 397 682
Income from equity accounted investments (38 021) (30 665) – –
Changes in tax rates 18 – – –
Foreign tax differential (48 694) (9 205) – –
Prior period adjustments 1 769 437 – –
Tax losses carried forward – 5 – –
Deferred tax asset not recognised (2 610) – – –
Exempt income (310) (200) – –

37 973 79 341 6 186 2 237

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R172,9 million (2015: R130,0, million).
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27. Auditors’ remuneration
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

External audit fees (local and foreign operations) 3 689 4 200 476 486
Internal audit fees 84 344 – –
Consulting, taxation and secretarial fees 380 327 – –

4 153 4 871 476 486

28. Earnings per share
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Basic earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 395 023 330 226 – –
Shares in issue at year-end (’000) 156 966 148 884 – –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of basic earnings per share (’000) 154 912 148 407 – –
Basic earnings per share (cents) 255,00 222,51 – –

Diluted earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 395 023 330 226 – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of basic earnings per share (’000) 154 912 148 407 – –
Dilutive options – share schemes 4 282 4 247 – –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of diluted earnings per share (’000) 159 194 152 654 – –
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 248,14 216,32 – –

Headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 395 023 330 226 – –
Less: IAS 16 profit on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment (611) (2 716) – –
Impairment of other assets 1 081 – – –
Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity holders 
of the parent 395 493 327 510 – –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of headline earnings per share (’000) 
(refer basic earnings per share) 154 912 148 407 – –
Headline earnings per share (cents) 255,30 220,68 – –



Annual financial statements96

Notes to the annual financial statements continued 

 for the year ended 31 August 2016

28. Earnings per share continued

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Diluted headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 395 023 330 226 – –
Less: IAS 16 profit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (611) (2 716) – –
Impairment of other assets 1 081 – – –
Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity holders 
of the parent 395 493 327 510 – –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  
of headline earnings per share (’000) (refer basic earnings  
per share) 154 912 148 407 – –
Dilutive options – share schemes 4 282 4 247 – –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of diluted headline earnings per share (’000) 159 194 152 654 – –
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 248,43 214,54 – –

29. Other comprehensive income
Components of other comprehensive income – group – 2016

Gross
R’000

Tax
R’000

Net
before

non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Net
R’000

Items that may be reclassified to profit  
or loss
Exchange differences on translating 
foreign operations
Exchange differences arising during the year 62 982 – 62 982 728 63 710

Components of other comprehensive income – group – 2015

Gross
R’000

Tax
R’000

Net
before

non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Net
R’000

Items that may be reclassified to profit  
or loss
Exchange differences on translating 
foreign operations
Exchange differences arising during the year 112 502 – 112 502 (953) 111 549
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30. Cash used in operations
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Profit before taxation 430 858 410 747 17 102 5 555

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 72 619 56 256 175 174
Profit on sale of assets (848) (3 688) – –
Loss on foreign exchange 88 – – –
Income from equity-accounted investments (135 789) (109 517) – –
Interest received (29 117) (33 268) (113 252) (73 317)
Finance costs 136 963 90 250 68 978 48 320
Gain on settlement of instalment sale liabilities (427) (188) – –
Movements in provisions – 93 – –
Share-based payment expense 12 731 – 4 990 2 439

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (26 202) (29 032) – –
Trade and other receivables (143 749) (3 574) (22 705) 46
Amounts due from contract customers (1 015 365) (1 261 081) – –
Amounts due to contract customers 9301 (13 852) – –
Trade and other payables 513 573 687 474 7 044 2 469
Amounts received in advance (58 571) 106 500 – –

(233 935) (102 880) (37 668) (14 314)

31. Tax paid
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 790 (23 775) (970) (1 203)
Current tax for the year recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income (64 691) (81 681) (6 186) (1 447)
Adjustment in respect of business combinations and  
effect of foreign currency translation reserve movement  
in tax balance 1 276 2 726 – –
Balance at the end of the year (17 601) (790) 1 556 970

(80 226) (103 520) (5 600) (1 680)
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32. Business combinations
Subsequent event business combination
Post year-end conclusion and successful acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Conlog Proprietary Limited. Conlog 
designs, develops, manufactures, markets and distributes pre-paid and smart electronic metering devices and solutions.

The purchase consideration comprised an initial payment of R700 million paid on closing (31 October 2016), together with a 
deferred consideration and an earn-out component of between R50 million and R150 million, depending on Conlog’s 2016 
adjusted EBITDA, to be paid in 2017.

The initial payment and guaranteed deferred payment was funded by a fully underwritten clawback rights offer. Any purchase 
consideration in excess of the initial payment and the guaranteed deferred payment will be funded from CIG’s existing 
cash resources.

Management is still in the process of determining all identifiable assets and liabilities therefore initial accounting for the 
business combination is incomplete and will be finalised during the next financial period.

33. Commitments
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Authorised capital expenditure

Not yet contracted for and authorised by directors
–   Existing operations 105 879 68 512 – –

Operating leases – as lessee (expense) 

Minimum lease payments due
–   within one year 17 396 25 097 – –
–   in second to fifth year inclusive 31 914 58 331 – –

49 310 83 428 – –

No contingent rent is payable.
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34. Contingencies
The group has procured the following performance bonds:

◗◗ Lombards Insurance: R678,0 million (2015: R775,3 million) for 128 bonds (2015: 140 bonds);

◗◗ Standard Bank: R208,7◗million (2015: R1,1 million) for four bonds (2015: one bond);

◗◗ Standard Chartered Bank: R602,1 million (2015: R643,2 million) for 36 bonds (2015: 66 bonds); and

◗◗ Standard Bank: R399,1 million (2015: Rnil) for 27 bonds (2015: nil bonds).

The group has issued the following letters of intent:

◗◗ Lombards Insurance: R35,9◗million (2015: R126,9 million) for 12 letters (2015: 10 letters); and

◗◗ Standard Chartered Bank: R5,0 million (2015: R3,3 million) for one letter (2015: two letters).

Included in the performance bonds are the following bonds issued to group companies:

◗◗ Lombards Insurance:

 –   Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited: R0,4 million (2015: R0,3 million) for two bonds (2015: two bonds);

 –   Drift Laezonia (Quarry Cats Mining): R9 million (2015: R9 million) for one bond (2015: one bond); and

 –   Tractionel Enterprise: R18,7 million (2015: R5,7 million) for four bonds (2015: one bond).

◗◗ Standard Bank:

 –   Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited: R7,2 million (2015: Rnil) for one bond (2015: nil).
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35. Related parties
Relationships
Subsidiaries Refer to note 6
Joint ventures Refer to note 7
Company controlled by director of subsidiary Consolidated Power Properties Proprietary Limited
Members of key management RD Gamsu M Farmer J Boshoff 

IM Klitzner M Prasti CJ Boshoff 
J Hooman R Dijkstra D Lubbe
IM Hambridge L Bushney WJ van Rensburg
F Aveling M Grobler D Viljoen
B Reynecke S Zondi S Roodt
T Macadam M Mabaso TG Lomkwane
M Conradie C Pillay PB Vogel
H Thomas P Gumbi J Friedman
S Gesha I van der Merwe B Lans
D van Zyl H Beukes S Muhammad 
L Heymans M Raath W Bassaragh 
A Richelman K Rathbone M Klaas
M Mulligan M Prinsloo M Tanjeni
R de Villiers E Philips
A Clacher A Ramkissoon

 

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Related party balances (refer to note 11) 

Related party transactions

Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited – – (7 044) (5 798)
Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited – – (85 037) (50 397)
Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited – – (8 298) (485)

Management fees paid to/(received from) related parties
West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited – – (792) (720)
Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited – – (4 828) (4 389)
Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited – – (5 375) (5 609)

Compensation to directors and other key management
Emoluments 110 901 81 259 17 042 16 019

Remuneration and benefits received by each director or prescribed officer directly employed by the group have been 
disclosed in note 23.

Remuneration paid across multiple group companies is sensitive in nature in terms of managing both internal and external 
relationships with multiple stakeholders. It has therefore been decided to list one remuneration figure for all key management 
to avoid any potential conflicts that may arise.
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36. Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments – group – 2016

Loans and
receivables

at
amortised

cost
R’000

Equity 
and non-
financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 – 466 802 466 802
Goodwill 4 – 536 343 536 343
Intangible assets 5 – 18 271 18 271
Investment in joint ventures 7 – 782 854 782 854
Financial assets 8 13 271 – 13 271
Deferred tax 9 – 66 768 66 768

13 271 1 871 038 1 884 309

Current assets
Inventories 10 – 135 252 135 252
Financial assets 8 1 381 – 1 381
Current tax receivable – 22 702 22 702
Amounts due from contract customers 12 3 734 851 – 3 734 851
Trade and other receivables 13 341 458 39 994 381 452
Cash and cash equivalents 14 596 151 – 596 151

4 673 841 197 948 4 871 789
Total assets 4 687 112 2 068 986 6 756 098
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36. Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments – group – 2016 continued

Financial
liabilities

at
amortised

cost
R’000

Equity 
and non-
financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent:
Share capital 15 – 1 606 059 1 606 059
Foreign currency translation reserve 15 – 178 834 178 834
Share-based payment reserve – 42 875 42 875
Retained income 15 – 1 564 406 1 564 406

– 3 392 174 3 392 174
Non-controlling interest – 1 098 1 098
Total equity – 3 393 272 3 393 272

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 1 026 504 – 1 026 504
Instalment sale liabilities 17 19 401 – 19 401
Deferred tax 9 – 55 795 55 795
Provisions 18 – 8 166 8 166

1 045 905 63 961 1 109 866

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16  48 311 – 48 311
Current tax payable – 5 101 5 101
Instalment sale liabilities 17 18 747 – 18 747
Trade and other payables 19 – 1 952 588 1 952 588
Amounts received in advance – 114 075 114 075
Amounts due to contract customers – 75 912 75 912
Bank overdraft 14  38 226 – 38 226

105 284 2 147 676 2 252 960
Total liabilities 1 151 189 2 211 637 3 362 826
Total equity and liabilities 1 151 189 5 604 909 6 756 098
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36. Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments – group – 2015

Debt
instruments

at 
amortised

cost
R’000

Equity and 
non-financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 – 450 076 450 076
Goodwill 4 – 534 272 534 272
Intangible assets 5 – 21 419 21 419
Investment in joint ventures 7 – 584 170 584 170
Financial assets 8 11 507 – 11 507
Deferred tax 9 – 75 070 75 070

11 507 1 665 007 1 676 514

Current assets
Inventories 10 – 109 050 109 050
Current tax receivable – 6 243 6 243
Amounts due from contract customers 12 2 707 486 – 2 707 486
Trade and other receivables 13 199 941 45 160 245 101
Cash and cash equivalents 14 482 477 – 482 477

3 389 904 160 453 3 550 357
Total assets 3 401 411 1 825 460 5 226 871
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36. Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments – group – 2015 continued

Financial
liabilities 

at 
amortised

cost
R’000

Equity and 
non-financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent:
Share capital 15 – 1 356 130 1 356 130
Foreign currency translation reserve 15 – 115 124 115 124
Share-based payment reserve  30 643 30 643
Retained income 15 –  1 169 383 1 169 383

– 2 671 280 2 671 280
Non-controlling interest – 3 964 3 964
Total equity – 2 675 244 2 675 244

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 16 725 191 – 725 191
Instalment sale liabilities 17 22 729 – 22 729
Deferred tax 9 – 90 815 90 815
Provisions 18 – 8 166 8 166

747 920 98 981 846 901

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 8 892 – 8 892
Current tax payable – 5 453 5 453
Instalment sale liabilities 17 23 364 – 23 364
Trade and other payables 19 – 1 427 767 1 427 761
Amounts received in advance – 172 645 172 645
Amounts due to contract customers – 66 611 66 611

32 256 1 672 470 1 704 726
Total liabilities 780 176 1 771 451 2 551 627
Total equity and liabilities 780 176 4 446 695 5 226 871
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36. Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments – company – 2016

Debt
instruments

at
amortised

cost
R’000

Financial
liabilities

at
amortised

cost
R’000

Equity 
and non-
financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 – – 418 418
Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 883 162 883 162
Financial assets 8 100 – – 100
Deferred tax 9 – – 424 424

100 – 884 004 884 104

Current assets
Loans to group companies 11 1 247 403 – – 1 247 403
Trade and other receivables 13 25 108 – 5 376 30 484
Cash and cash equivalents 14 474 237 – – 474 237

 1 746 748 – 5 376 1 752 124
Total assets  1 746 848  – 1 889 380 2 636 228

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders 
of the parent
Share capital 15 – – 1 598 620 1 598 620
Share-based payment reserve 15 20 543 20 543
Retained income 15 – – 31 073 31 073
Total equity – – 1 650 236 1 650 236

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 – 924 000 – 924 000

Current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 16 – 36 275 – 36 275
Current tax payable – – 1 556 1 556
Trade and other payables 19 – 24 161 – 24 161

–  60 436 1 556 61 992
Total liabilities –  984 436 1 556 985 992
Total equity and liabilities – 984 436 1 651 792 2 636 228
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36. Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments – company – 2015

Financial
assets at 
fair value 
through
profit or

loss
R’000

Debt
instruments

at 
amortised

cost
R’000

Financial
liabilities 

at 
amortised

cost
R’000

Leases
R’000

Equity and 
non-financial

assets and
liabilities

R’000
Total
R’000Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 – – – – 411 411
Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – – – 883 162 883 162
Deferred tax 9 – – – – 424 424

– – – – 883 997 883 997

Current assets
Loans to group companies 11 – 854 219 – – – 854 219
Trade and other receivables 13 – 5 134 – – 2 645 7 779
Cash and cash equivalents 14 – 281 978 – – – 281 978

– 1 141 331 – – 2 645 1 143 976
Total assets – 1 141 331 – – 886 642 2 027 973

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity 
holders of parent:
Share capital 15 – – – – 1 349 176 1 349 176
Share-based payment reserve 15 – – – – 15 553 15 553
Retained income 15 – – – – 20 157 20 157

– – – – 1 384 886 1 384 886
Total equity – – – – 1 384 886 1 384 886

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 16 – – 625 000 – – 625 000

Current liabilities
Current tax payable – – – – 970 970
Trade and other payables 19 – – 17 085 – 32 17 117

– – 17 085 – 1 002 18 087
Total liabilities – – 642 085 – 1 002 643 087
Total equity and liabilities – – 642 085 – 1 385 888 2 027 973
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37. Risk management
Capital risk management
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 11, 16 and 17, cash and 
cash equivalents disclosed in note 14 and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the debt:equity ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ’current and 
non-current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is 
represented in the statement of financial position.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements, except for as disclosed in note 16.9.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.

The debt:equity ratio at 2016 and 2015 respectively was as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Total borrowings
Instalment sale liabilities 17 38 148 46 093 – –
Financial liabilities 16 1 074 815 734 083 960 275 625 000

1 112 963 780 176 960 275 625 000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 14 557 925 482 477 474 237 281 978
Net (cash)/debt 555 038 297 699 486 038 343 022
Total equity 3 393 272 2 675 244 1 650 236 1 384 886
Total capital 3 948 310 2 972 943 2 136 274 1 727 908

Debt:equity ratio (%) 14 10 23 20
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37. Risk management continued

Liquidity risk
The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The group manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Within 
one year

R’000

Second to
fifth year
inclusive

R’000

Over 
five years

R’000

Group
At 31 August 2016
Financial liabilities 51 355 1 309 875 – 
Instalment sale liabilities 21 669 22 878  – 
Trade and other payables  1 947 911 –  – 
Bank overdraft 38 226 – –

At 31 August 2015
Financial liabilities 8 892 1 051 484 – 
Instalment sale liabilities 27 006 23 935 – 
Trade and other payables 1 422 640  –  –

Company
At 31 August 2016
Financial liabilities 39 319 1 207 371 – 
Trade and other payables 24 161 – –

At 31 August 2015
Financial liabilities – 942 401 –
Trade and other payables 17 085 – –

Interest rate risk
The group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 
refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these scenarios, the group calculates 
the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift.

At 31 August 2016, if interest rates on borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax 
profit for the year would have been R4,0 million (2015: R2,1 million) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
expense on floating rate borrowings.
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37. Risk management continued

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of loans to group companies, financial assets, amounts due from contract customers, cash deposits, 
cash equivalents and trade debtors. The group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits 
exposure to any one counterparty.

Amounts due from contract customers and trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates 
credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, 
if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial 
position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance 
with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or 
using major credit cards. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate. Other receivables are evaluated 
on a portfolio basis.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Financial instrument
Loans to group companies – – 1 247 403  854 219
Financial assets 14 652 11 507 – –
Amounts due from contract customers  3 734 851  2 707 486 – –
Trade and other receivables 341 458 199 941 25 108 5 134
Cash and cash equivalents  596 151  482 477 474 237  281 978

Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily 
with respect to the US Dollar, Euro, Botswana Pula, Uganda Shilling, Ghanaian New Cedi, Kenyan Shilling, Zambian Kwacha, 
Omani Rial and Ethiopian Birr. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions or recognised assets or 
liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
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37. Risk management continued

Foreign currency exposure to financial instruments is as follows:

Financial instrument – group – 2016

Total
R’000

Rand
R’000

US 
Dollar
R’000

Euro
R’000

Botswana 
Pula

R’000

Uganda
 Shilling

R’000

Ghanaian 
New Cedi

R’000

Kenyan
 Shilling

R’000

Zambian
 Kwacha

R’000

Omani
Rial

R’000

Ethiopian
Birr

R’000
Other
R’000

Amounts due from 
contract customers 3 734 851 1 915 864 1 475 102 282  197 901 7 234 1 051 49 883 31 230 – – 56 304
Other receivables 381 452 224 612 115 259 – 6 921 4 762 5 206 7 665 4 404 4 803 2 819 5 101
Cash and cash 
equivalents 596 151 460 463 24 802 16 1 896 2 387 11 146 4 968 2 300 2 262 70 601 15 310
Trade and other 
payables (1 952 588) (1 114 412) (665 650) (75 632) (52 399) (648) (11 501) (9 656) (4 599) (1 550) (4 484) (12 057)
Amounts due to 
contract customers (75 912) (27 588) (48 324) – – – – – – – – –
Bank overdraft (38 228) (30 863) (7 363) – – – – – – – – –
Net exposure 2 645 728 1 428 076 893 726 (75 334) 154 319 13 735 5 902 52 860 33 335 5 515 68 936 64 658

Financial instrument – group – 2015

Total
R’000

Rand
R’000

US 
Dollar
R’000

Euro
R’000

Botswana 
Pula

R’000

Uganda
 Shilling

R’000

Ghanaian 
New Cedi

R’000

Kenyan
 Shilling

R’000

Zambian
 Kwacha

R’000

Omani
Rial

R’000
Other
R’000

Amounts due 
from contract 
customers 2 707 486 2 085 134 474 056 – 83 274 6 844 1 051 11 453  17 293 24 253 4 128
Other receivables 245 101 217 863 6 583 – 5 702 289 2 917 6 289 2 341 916 2 201
Cash and cash 
equivalents 482 477 419 741 34 677 13 20 104 2 624 1 418 1 150 344 1 256 1 150
Financial liabilities (734 083) (731 402) (2 681) – – – – – – – –
Trade and other 
payables (1 427 761)  (1 226 585) (150 523)  (28 605) (4 931) – (1 461) (6 012) (3 422) (913) (5 309)
Amounts due 
to contract 
customers  (66 611) (31 596)  (34 681) – – – – – (334) – –
Net exposure 1 206 609 733 155 327 431 (28 592) 104 149 9 757 3 925 12 880 16 222  25 512 2 170

The group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through the earnings 
in the relevant foreign currencies.
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37. Risk management continued

The table below illustrates the effect of a 1% weakening/strengthening of the Rand against various foreign currencies, with all 
other variables held constant.

Profit/(loss) sensitivity at statement of financial position date
GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

US Dollar 7 477 3 274
Euro (753) (286)
Botswana Pula 1 543 1 042
Uganda Shilling 137 98
Ghanaian New Cedi 59 39
Kenyan Shilling 529 129
Zambian Kwacha 333 162
Omani Rial 55 255
Ethiopian Birr 689 –

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
US Dollar 14,731 13,262
Euro 16,416 14,859
Botswana Pula 1,354 1,288
Uganda Shilling 0,0044 0,0036
Ghanaian New Cedi 3,961 3,401
Kenyan Shilling 0,1453 0,1276
Zambian Kwacha 1,5439 1,4937
Omani Rial 38,240 34,430
Ethiopian Birr 0,6533 –

38. Subsequent events
Post year-end conclusion and successful acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Conlog Proprietary Limited. Conlog 
designs, develops, manufactures, markets and distributes pre-paid and smart electronic metering devices and solutions.

The purchase consideration comprised an initial payment of R700 million paid on closing (31 October 2016), together with a 
deferred consideration and an earn-out component of between R50 million and R150 million, depending on Conlog’s 2016 
adjusted EBITDA, to be paid in 2017.

The initial payment and guaranteed deferred payment was funded by a fully underwritten clawback rights offer. Any purchase 
consideration in excess of the initial payment and the guaranteed deferred payment will be funded from CIG’s existing 
cash resources.

The directors are not aware of any other significant subsequent events.
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39. Segmental information
Operating segments

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Revenue
Building materials 485 306 499 807
Rail 291 604 152 997
Power 3 754 730 2 951 149
Power – local operations 1 905 229 2 449 454
Power – foreign operations 1 849 501 501 695

Total 4 531 640 3 603 953

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Building materials 30 285 22 327
Rail 5 585 4 750
Power 36 574 29 005
Corporate 175 174
Total 72 619 56 256

EBITDA
Building materials 96 214 86 024
Rail 21 930 20 048
Power 364 301 300 698
Corporate (6 913) 7 698
Total 475 532 414 468

Reconciliation of EBITDA to profit before tax
EBITDA 475 532 414 468
Depreciation and amortisation (72 619) (56 256)
Income from equity-accounted investments 135 789 109 517
Net interest (paid)/received (107 844) (56 982)
Profit before tax 430 858 410 747

Assets acquired
Building materials 26 165 34 969
Rail 6 490 184
Power 56 121 45 222
Total 88 766 80 375

Total assets
Building materials 625 348 599 983
Power 3 042 585 2 394 459
Oil and gas 782 850 584 170
Rail 171 783 96 600
Corporate 3 024 872 2 447 727
Total assets including group loan accounts 7 647 438 6 122 939
Inter-group elimination (891 340) (896 068)
Total 6 756 098 5 226 871

Liabilities
Building materials 448 749 460 653
Power 2 032 872 1 581 365
Oil and gas 98 183 89 677
Rail 97 028 33 764
Corporate 1 028 320 694 573
Inter-group elimination (342 326) (308 405)
Total 3 362 826 2 551 627

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 
2016



Annual financial statements 113

CIG INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL REPORT 

2016

40. Share-based payments
Equity settled share-based payments

First grant Second grant Third grant Fourth grant

Director share option scheme
Grant date 10 December 2010 1 September 2011 1 September 2012 1 September 2013
Number of options granted 2 563 158 900 465 637 380 466 667
Vesting period 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years
Vesting conditions 16% real growth 

in earnings to be 
achieved for 100% 
of options to vest

16% real growth 
in earnings to be 
achieved for 100% 
of options to vest

16% real growth 
in earnings to be 
achieved for 100% 
of options to vest

16% real growth 
in earnings to be 
achieved for 100% 
of options to vest

Expiry date 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years

The fair value of the options was 
calculated using the Black Scholes 
option model and was based on  
the following inputs:

Weighted average share price  
at issue date R8,34 R8,56 R13,15 R19,80 
Expected volatility 30% 30% 30% 30%
Exercise price R5,38 R8,59 R12,52 R19,26 
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 5% 5% 5% 5%
Remaining vesting period Nil years Nil years 1 year 2 years

Expected volatility was based to a 
large extent on historical volatility.

Non-director share option scheme
Grant date 11 April 2011
Number of options granted 1 050 000
Vesting period 4 years
Vesting conditions Continued 

employment 
required during 
vesting period

Expiry date 10 years

The fair value of the options was 
calculated using the Black Scholes 
option model and was based on the 
following inputs:

Weighted average share price  
at issue date R8,00
Expected volatility 30% 
Exercise price R7,00
Expected dividends Nil
Risk-free interest rate 5%
Remaining vesting period Nil years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.
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40. Share-based payments continued

Equity settled share-based payments continued

First grant Second grant Third grant

Conco employee option scheme
Grant date 11 April 2011 1 September 2012 1 September 2013
Number of options granted 1 010 000 1 000 000 948 227
Vesting period 4 years 4 years 4 years
Vesting conditions 15% real growth in Conco 

EBITDA to be achieved for 
100% of options to vest

15% real growth in Conco 
EBITDA to be achieved for 
100% of options to vest

15% real growth in Conco 
EBITDA to be achieved for 
100% of options to vest

Expiry date 10 years 10 years 10 years

The fair value of the options was 
calculated using the Black Scholes 
option model and was based on  
the following inputs:

Weighted average share price  
at issue date R8,00 R13,15 R19,80 
Expected volatility 30% 30% 30%
Exercise price R8,00 R12,52 R19,26 
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 5% 5% 5%
Remaining vesting period Nil years 1 year 2 years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.
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40. Share-based payments continued 

Share appreciation rights
Awards made under the 2014 share plan as at 31 August 2016.

First grant Second grant

Share appreciation rights
Grant date 1 August 2015 29 February 2016
Number of rights granted 520 703 717 032
Strike price R31,13 R27,06
Final expiry 7 years 7 years
Risk-free rate 6,0% 6,0%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Portion vesting One third per annum One third per annum
Exercisable On third, fourth and fifth anniversary 

after vesting
On third, fourth and fifth anniversary 
after vesting

Performance criteria 15% growth in earnings per annum 15% growth in earnings per annum
Black Scholes option model fair value 
using the above criteria R14,49 R9,93

Performance shares
Grant date 1 August 2015 29 February 2016
Number of shares granted 250 104 344 853
Strike price R31,13 R27,06
Final expiry 3 years 3 years
Risk-free rate 6,0% 6,0%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Portion vesting On third anniversary following award. 

An assessment of performance against 
peer group will be conducted to 
determine the number of performance 
shares earned

On third anniversary following award. 
An assessment of performance against 
peer group will be conducted to 
determine the number of performance 
shares earned

Black Scholes option model fair value 
using the above criteria R32,70 R27,06
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40. Share-based payments continued

Reconciliation of share options
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Reconciliation of share-based payments
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 7 115 379 7 442 979 4 086 583 4 168 089
Expired during the year (767 036) – – (81 506)
Exercised during the year (89 562) (327 600) – –
Outstanding at the end of the year 6 258 781 7 115 379 4 086 583 4 086 583

Equity-settled share-based payments expense recognised 
in employee costs 12 730 10 357 4 990 5 236
Value of the equity-settled share options exercised during 
the year (498) (3 508) – –
Value of the equity-settled share options included in the 
share-based payment reserve at year-end 42 875 30 643 31 274 26 284
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Analysis of shareholders

Major shareholders
Shareholders that are,directly and indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the company’s issued ordinary shares,  
as far as is known to the company, are as follows:  

2016 2015

Number 
of shares

Percentage
of shares

Number 
of shares

Percentage
of shares

PGR2 Investment Proprietary Limited  15 524 804 9,89  12 392 224 8,32
Nala Empowerment Investment Company Proprietary Limited  12 164 202 7,75  13 000 000 8,73
Pan-African Investment Partners II  7 655 534 4,88  7 655 534 5,14
Corocapital Proprietary Limited  7 154 389 4,56  7 519 379 5,05

 42 498 929 27,07  40 567 137 27,25

Public and non-public shareholders
Number 
of share-

holders

Percentage 
of share-

holders
Number

of shares
Percentage 

of shares

As at 31 August 2016

Non-public shareholders
Directors and associates
Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital) 1 0,03  3 858 928 2,46
Sweetman Siluleko Gesha 1 0,03  2 565 482 1,63
Chantilly Trading 1 0,03  1 177 329 0,75
RBG Trust 1 0,03  1 366 359 0,87
Hooman Family Trust 1 0,03  623 107 0,40
Hambridge Family Trust 1 0,03  623 107 0,40
Raoul Gamsu 1 0,03  1 983 000 1,26
Ivor Klitzner Family Trust 1 0,03  300 000 0,19
Ivor Klitzner 1 0,03  553 000 0,35
David van Zyl 1 0,03  84 000 0,05
Leon Heymans 1 0,03  12 500 0,01
Anthony Dixon 1 0,03  49 500 0,03
Frank Boner 1 0,03  18 600 0,01

13 0,34 13 214 912 8,42

Public shareholders
General public  3 806 99,66  143 757 274 91,58
Total  3 819 100,00  156 972 186 100,00
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Public and non-public shareholders continued

Number 
of share-

holders

Percentage 
of share-

holders
Number

of shares
Percentage 

of shares

As at 31 August 2015

Non-public shareholders
Directors and associates
Yonbor Nominees (Global Capital) 1 0,03  3 858 928 2,59
Sweetman Siluleko Gesha 1 0,03  2 565 482 1,72
Chantilly Trading 1 0,03  1 577 329 1,06
RBG Trust 1 0,03  1 366 359 0,92
Hooman Family Trust 1 0,03  623 107 0,42
Hambridge Family Trust 1 0,03  623 107 0,42
Raoul Gamsu 1 0,03  1 983 000 1,33
Ivor Klitzner Family Trust 1 0,03  300 000 0,20
Ivor Klitzner 1 0,03  553 000 0,37
David van Zyl 1 0,03  160 000 0,10
Leon Heymans 1 0,03  87 500 0,06
Tony Dixon 1 0,03  49 500 0,03
Frank Boner 1 0,03  18 600 0,01

 13 0,40  13 765 912 9,25

Public shareholders   
General public  3 240 99,60  135 122 712 90,75
Total  3 253 100,00  148 888 624 100,00

The direct and indirect, beneficial and non-beneficial interests of the directors in the company’s securities as at the financial 
year-end, as far as could be determined is as follows:

2016* 2015

 

Beneficial 
direct and

indirect
(including

their
associates)

Total 
beneficial

percentage

Beneficial 
direct and

indirect
(including

their
associates)

Total 
beneficial

percentage

RD Gamsu  3 349 359 2,13  3 349 359 2,25
IM Klitzner  853 000 0,54  853 000 0,57
F Boner  557 061 0,35  557 061 0,37
AD Dixon  49 500 0,03  49 500 0,03

 4 808 920 3,06  4 808 920 3,23

* Post year-end dealings in securities by directors and associates due to rights offer

Rights taken up

RD Gamsu  1 614 130 
Ivor Klitzner  275 904 
Frank Boner  132 618

Other than the dealings set out above due to the rights offer there were no changes between the end of the financial year and 
the date of approval of the annual financial statements.
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Analysis of shareholders continued

Shareholder spread
Number 

of shares
Percentage 

of shares
Number of

 shareholders
Percentage of 
shareholders

As at 31 August 2016

Strate
 0 – 1 000  812 500 0,52 1969 51,56
 1 001 – 10 000  4 706 253 3,00 1434 37,55
 10 001 – 100 000  8 846 264 5,64 288 7,54
 100 001 – 500 000  14 656 414 9,34 61 1,60
 500 001 – 1 000 000  11 933 623 7,60 17 0,45
 1 000 001 and more  116 008 394 73,90 38 1,00

 156 963 448 99,99  3 807 99,69

Certificated
0 – 10 000 8 738 0,01 12 0,31
Total  156 972 186 100,00  3 819 100,00

As at 31 August 2015

Strate
 0 – 1 000  676 507 0,45 1 508 46,36
 1 001 – 10 000  4 475 565 3,01 1 308 40,21
 10 001 – 100 000  8 904 452 5,98 310 9,53
 100 001 – 500 000  14 929 117 10,03 65 2,00
 500 001 – 1 000 000  13 596 059 9,13 18 0,55
 1 000 001 and more  106 298 186 71,39 32 0,98

 148 879 886 99,99  3 241 99,63

Certificated
0 – 10 000 8 738 0,01 12 0,37
Total  148 888 624 100,00  3 253 100,00
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Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2007/004935/06) 
JSE share code: CIL  |  ISIN: ZAE000153888 
(CIG or the group or the company)

Notice is hereby given that an annual general meeting of 
shareholders will be held at Commerce Square, Building 2, 
39 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst at 10:00 on Wednesday, 
29 March 2017 (the annual general meeting or AGM), 
for the purposes of:

◗◗  presenting, considering and adopting the directors’ 
report, the annual financial statements, the audit 
and risk committee report and the social and ethics 
committee report of the company for the year ended 
31 August 2016 contained in the integrated annual 
report of the company for the same period (the 
integrated annual report);

◗◗  transacting any other business as may be transacted 
at an annual general meeting of shareholders of a 
company including the re-appointment of the auditors 
and re-election of retiring directors; and 

◗◗  considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without 
modification, the shareholder special and ordinary 
resolutions set out below. 

A copy of the integrated annual report will be posted to 
shareholders who have indicated that they would like to 
receive financial information in respect of the company 
together with this notice of annual general meeting. An 
electronic copy of the integrated annual report is available 
on the company’s website  www.ciglimited.co.za. 

Important dates to note 
2017

Record date for receipt of notice 
purposes

Friday,  
17 February 

Last day to trade in order to be eligible 
to participate in and vote at the AGM

Monday,  
17 March  

Record date for voting purposes 
(voting record date)

Friday, 
24 March

Last day to lodge forms of proxy  
by 10:00 on

Monday,  
27 March 

Annual general meeting held at  
10:00 on

Wednesday,  
29 March

Results of AGM released on SENS Wednesday,  
29 March 

Notice of annual general meeting
Directors of the company
Executive 
Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 
Ivor Klitzner (Financial Director) 

Independent non-executive
Frank Boner (Chairman)
Kofi Bucknor
Alex Darko
Tony Dixon
Robert Horton
Dr. Kevin Kariuki 
Judi Nwokedi
Professor Kalu Ojah

In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008:

◗◗  A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the 
annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy 
or two or more proxies to attend and participate in 
and vote at the annual general meeting in the place of 
the shareholder, by completing the form of proxy in 
accordance with the instructions set out therein; and 

◗◗  A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. 

Kindly note that meeting participants (including proxies) are 
required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification 
before being entitled to attend or participate in a meeting. 
In this regard, all shareholders recorded in the registers of 
the company on the voting record date will be required to 
provide identification satisfactory to the chairman of the 
annual general meeting. Forms of identification include valid 
identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Ordinary resolution number 1:
Adoption of annual financial statements
“Resolved that the annual financial statements of the 
company for the year ended 31 August 2016, including 
the directors’ report and the report of the audit and risk 
committee and the social and ethics committee, be and 
are received and adopted.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 1 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 2:
Confirmation of appointment of Professor 
Kalu Ojah as director
“Resolved that the appointment of Professor Kalu Ojah as 
an independent non-executive director of the company with 
effect from 1 December 2016 be and is hereby confirmed.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out on page  135 of the 
integrated annual report.

In order for ordinary resolution number 2 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.
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Ordinary resolution number 3:
Confirmation of appointment of  
Dr Kevin Kariuki as director
“Resolved that the appointment of Dr Kevin Kariuki as an 
independent non-executive director of the company with 
effect from 15 August 2016 be and is hereby confirmed.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out on page  135 of the 
integrated annual report.

In order for ordinary resolution number 3 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 4: 
Re-election of Kofi Bucknor as director
“Resolved that Kofi Bucknor who retires in terms of the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out on page  134 of the 
integrated annual report. The nominations committee has 
taken into account the director’s past performance and 
contribution to the company and recommended that  
Kofi Bucknor for re-election.

In order for ordinary resolution number 4 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 5: 
Re-election of Robert Horton as director
“Resolved that Robert Horton who retires in terms of the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out on page  135 of the 
integrated annual report. The nominations committee  
has taken into account the director’s past performance  
and contribution to the company and recommended  
Robert Horton for re-election.

In order for ordinary resolution number 5 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 6:
Re-appointment of members of the audit 
and risk committee
“Resolved that the members of the company’s audit and 
risk committee set out below, being eligible, be and are 
hereby re-appointed, each by way of a separate vote, 
with effect from the end of this annual general meeting in 
terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 
until the next annual general meeting of the company. 
The membership as proposed by the board of directors is:

6.1   Anthony Dixon (Chairman); 

6.2   Alex Darko; and 

6.3   Robert Horton. 

A brief curriculum vitae of each of the above audit and risk 
committee members is set out on pages  134 and 135  
of the integrated annual report.

In order for ordinary resolution numbers 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3 
to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total 
number of votes exercisable by shareholders, present in 
person or by proxy, is required to pass these resolutions.

Ordinary resolution number 7:
Re-appointment of auditors
“Resolved that Grant Thornton together with Jacques 
Barradas be and are hereby appointed as the auditors 
of the company from the conclusion of this annual 
general meeting.”

The audit and risk committee has nominated for 
appointment as auditors of the company under section 90 
of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, Grant Thornton.

In order for ordinary resolution number 7 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 8:
Control over unissued shares
“Resolved that 20 209 107 of the authorised but unissued 
shares of the company, being 10% of the company’s issued 
share capital, be and are hereby placed under the control of 
the directors of the company until the next annual general 
meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or part 
thereof in their discretion, subject to the Companies Act, 
71 of 2008, and the JSE Listings Requirements.”
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In order for ordinary resolution number 8 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 9:
General authority to issue shares for cash
“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions set out below 
and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 
71 of 2008, and the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors 
of the company be and are hereby authorised until this 
authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the 
company, provided that this authority shall not extend 
beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this ordinary 
resolution, to allot and issue shares of the company for 
cash on the following bases:

◗◗  The shares which are the subject of the issue for cash 
must be of a class already in issue or, where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such shares or rights as are 
convertible into a class already in issue;

◗◗  The allotment and issue of shares for cash shall 
be made only to persons qualifying as “public 
shareholders”, as defined in the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and not to “related parties”; 

◗◗  Shares which are the subject of general issues for 
cash shall not exceed 20 209 107 shares, being 
approximately 10% of the company’s issued shares as 
at the date of this notice of annual general meeting, 
provided that: 

 –     any shares issued under this authority, prior to 
this authority lapsing, shall be deducted from the 
20 209 107 shares the company is authorised to 
issue in terms of this authority; and 

 –     in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of 
shares prior to this authority lapsing, the existing 
authority shall be adjusted accordingly to represent 
the same allocation ratio; 

◗◗  the maximum discount at which shares may be issued 
is 10% of the weighted average traded price of such 
shares measured over the 30 business days prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 
company and the party subscribing for the shares; and 

◗◗  after the company has issued shares in terms of this 
general authority to issue shares for cash representing, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% or 
more of the number of shares in issue prior to that 
issue, the company shall publish an announcement 
containing full details of that issue, including: 

 –      the number of shares issued; 

 –     the average discount to the weighted average 
traded price of the shares over the 30 business days 
prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing 
between the company and the party/ies subscribing 
for the shares; and 

 –     an explanation, including supporting documentation 
(if any) of the intended use of the funds.” 

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, in order for 
ordinary resolution number 9 to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to 
pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 10:
Approval of remuneration policy
“Resolved that, in accordance with the principles of the 
King III Report on Governance, and through a non-binding 
advisory vote, the company’s remuneration policy and  
the implementation thereof as further detailed on  
pages   42◗and 43 of the integrated annual report, be and 
is hereby approved.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 10 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Special resolution number 1:
Share repurchases
“Resolved that the company or any of its subsidiaries be 
and are hereby authorised by way of a general authority to 
acquire ordinary shares issued by the company, in terms 
of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 
and subject to the following provisions of the JSE Listings 
Requirements:

◗◗  Any acquisition of shares shall be implemented 
through the order book of the JSE and without 
prior arrangement between the company and the 
counterparty; 

◗◗  This general authority shall be valid until the company’s 
next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not 
extend beyond 15 months from the date of passing this 
special resolution; 

◗◗  The company (or any subsidiary) is duly authorised by 
its Memorandum of Incorporation to do so; 
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◗◗  Acquisitions of shares in the aggregate in any one 
financial year may not exceed 20% (or 10% where 
the acquisitions are effected by a subsidiary) of the 
company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the date 
of passing this special resolution; 

◗◗  In determining the price at which shares issued by the 
company are acquired by it or any of its subsidiaries in 
terms of this general authority, the maximum premium 
at which such shares may be acquired will be 10% of 
the weighted average of the market value on the JSE 
over the five business days immediately preceding the 
repurchase of such shares; 

◗◗  At any point in time the company (or any subsidiary) 
may appoint only one agent to effect repurchases on 
its behalf; 

◗◗  Repurchases may not take place during a prohibited 
period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements) unless a repurchase programme is in 
place (where the dates and quantities of shares to be 
repurchased during the prohibited period are fixed) 
and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to 
the commencement of the prohibited period; 

◗◗  An announcement will be published as soon as the 
company or any of its subsidiaries have acquired shares 
constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of 
shares in issue prior to the granting of the repurchase 
authority and pursuant to which the aforesaid threshold 
is reached, and for each 3% in aggregate acquired 
thereafter, containing full details of such repurchases; and 

◗◗  The board of directors of the company must resolve 
that the repurchase is authorised, the company and/or 
its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity 
test, as set out in section 4 of the Companies Act,  
71 of 2008, and since that test was performed, there 
have been no material changes to the financial position 
of the group.” 

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements the 
directors record that although there is no immediate 
intention to effect a repurchase of the shares of the company, 
the directors will utilise this general authority to repurchase 
shares as and when suitable opportunities present 
themselves, which may require expeditious and immediate 
action. The directors undertake that, after considering the 
maximum number of shares that may be repurchased and 
the price at which the repurchases may take place pursuant 
to the general authority, for a period of 12 months after the 
date of notice of this annual general meeting:

◗◗  the company and the group will, in the ordinary course 
of business, be able to pay its debts; 

◗◗  the consolidated assets of the company and the group, 
fairly valued in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, will exceed the consolidated 
liabilities of the company and the group, fairly valued 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards; and 

◗◗  the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves 
and working capital will be adequate for ordinary 
business purposes. 

The following additional information, some of which may 
appear elsewhere in the integrated annual report, is 
provided in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements for purposes of this general authority:

◗◗ Major beneficial shareholders – page  118; and 

◗◗ Capital structure of the company – page  85. 

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors whose names appear on pages  134 
and 135 of the integrated annual report, collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of 
the information pertaining to this special resolution and 
certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there 
are no facts that have been omitted which would make 
any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 
the special resolution contains all information required 
by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in 
the integrated annual report, there have been no material 
changes in the affairs or financial position of the company 
and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit 
report for the financial year ended 31 August 2016 and up 
to the date of this notice.

In order for special resolution number 1 to be adopted, 
the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1
The reason for special resolution number 1 is to afford the 
directors of the company (or a subsidiary of the company) 
a general authority to effect a repurchase of the company’s 
shares on the JSE. The effect of the resolution will be that 
the directors will have the authority, subject to the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 
to effect repurchases of the company’s shares on the JSE.
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Special resolution number 2:
Financial assistance to related and inter-
related parties
“Resolved that to the extent required by the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, the board of directors of the company 
may, subject to compliance with the requirements of the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance, as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, by way of loans, guarantees, the provision 
of security or otherwise, to any of its present or future 
subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation 
that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008) to the company for any 
purpose or in connection with any matter, such authority 
to endure for a period of not more than two years, and 
further provided that inasmuch as the company’s provision 
of financial assistance to its subsidiaries will at any and all 
times be in excess of one-tenth of 1% of the company’s 
net worth, the company hereby provides notice to its 
shareholders of that fact.”

In order for special resolution number 2 to be adopted, 
the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2
The company would like the ability to provide financial 
assistance, in appropriate circumstances and if the need 
arises, in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act, 
71 of 2008. This authority is necessary for the company to 
provide financial assistance in appropriate circumstances. 
Under the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, the company will, 
however, require the special resolution referred to above 
to be adopted, provided that the board of directors of 
the company is satisfied that the terms under which 
the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair 
and reasonable to the company and, immediately after 
providing the financial assistance, the company would 
satisfy the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008. In the circumstances and in 
order to, inter alia, ensure that the company’s subsidiaries 
and other related and inter-related companies and 
corporations have access to financing and/or financial 
backing from the company (as opposed to banks), it is 
necessary to obtain the approval of shareholders, as set out 
in special resolution number 2. Therefore, the reason for, 
and effect of, special resolution number 2 is to permit the 
company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance 

(within the meaning attributed to that term in section 45 of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008) to the entities referred to in 
special resolution number 2 above.

Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, in respect of special resolution 
number 2
Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the company in 
terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, of 
a resolution adopted by the board authorising the company 
to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance as 
specified in the special resolution above:

◗◗  by the time that this notice of annual general meeting 
is delivered to shareholders of the company, the board 
will have adopted a resolution (section 45 board 
resolution) authorising the company to provide, at any 
time and from time to time during the period of two 
years commencing on the date on which the special 
resolution is adopted, any direct or indirect financial 
assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, to any one or more related 
or inter-related companies or corporations of the 
company and/or to any one or more members of any 
such related or inter-related company or corporation 
and/or to any one or more persons related to any such 
company or corporation; 

◗◗  the section 45 board resolution will be effective only if 
and to the extent that the special resolution under the 
heading “Special resolution number 2” is adopted by 
the shareholders of the company, and the provision of 
any such direct or indirect financial assistance by the 
company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be 
subject to the board being satisfied that (i) immediately 
after providing such financial assistance, the company 
will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as referred 
to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, and that (ii) the terms under which such financial 
assistance is to be given are fair and reasonable to 
the company as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008; and 

◗◗  in as much as the section 45 board resolution 
contemplates that such financial assistance will in the 
aggregate exceed one–tenth of one percent of the 
company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such 
resolution, the company hereby provides notice of 
the section 45 board resolution to shareholders of 
the company. 
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Special resolution number 3:
Issue of shares or a grant of options or a 
grant of any other rights exercisable for 
shares (excluding Restricted Shares, as 
contemplated under and defined in the 
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited 
2014 Share Plan) to directors or prescribed 
officers pursuant to the Consolidated 
Infrastructure Group Limited 2014 Share Plan
“Resolved that, to the extent required by section 41 of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, the board of directors of the 
company may, subject to compliance with the requirements 
of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, authorise the company to issue 
shares in the company or grant options for the allotment 
or subscription of authorised shares in the company, as 
contemplated in section 42 of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, or grant any other rights exercisable for shares to 
directors, future directors, prescribed officers or future 
prescribed officers of the company or to a related or 
inter-related person (or to a nominee) of such persons 
pursuant to the Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited 
2014 Share Plan (the 2014 Share Plan), provided that such 
authority shall specifically exclude the allotment and issue 
of Restricted Shares, as contemplated under and defined 
in the 2014 Share Plan.”

In order for special resolution number 3 to be adopted, 
the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3
The company would like to be able to allot and issue shares 
or grant options for the allotment or subscription of shares 
or grant any other rights exercisable for shares in the 
company to directors, future directors, prescribed officers 
or future prescribed officers of the company pursuant 
to the 2014 Share Plan (excluding, however, any issue of 
Reserved Shares, as contemplated under and defined in the 
2014 Share Plan) as required in terms of sections 41 and 
42 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008. No Restricted Shares, 
as contemplated under and defined in the 2014 Share Plan, 
have been awarded under the 2014 Share Plan and none 
shall be awarded until such time as the company has been 
so authorised by the requisite majority of its shareholders 
to do so. 

Special resolution number 4:
Approval of fees payable to non-executive 
directors
4.1  “Resolved that the fees payable by the company to 

non-executive directors for their services as directors, 
in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008, be and are hereby approved, for a period of two 
years from the passing of this resolution or until its 
renewal, whichever is the earlier, as follows:

Basis of fee
Chairman

R’000
Director

R’000
Board meetings per meeting 75 000 35 000
Audit and risk 
committee per meeting 50 000 30 000
Social and ethics 
committee per meeting 25 000 15 000
Remuneration 
and nominations 
committee per meeting 35 000 15 000
General 
involvement monthly 20 000 12 000

4.2  “Resolved that an annual increase not exceeding 
10% of the fees payable by the company to the non-
executive directors for their services as non-executive 
directors be and is hereby approved for a period of 
two years from the passing of this resolution or until 
its renewal, whichever is the earlier.”

In order for special resolutions numbers 4.1 and 4.2 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of the total number of 
votes exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required to pass those resolutions.

Reason for and effect of special resolution 
number 4.1
The reason for special resolution number 4.1 is to obtain 
shareholder approval by way of special resolution in 
accordance with section 66(9) of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008 for the payment by the company of remuneration 
to each of the non-executive directors of the company for 
each non-executive director’s services as a non-executive 
director in the amounts set out under special resolution 
number 4.1. In order to align the non-executive directors’ 
fees, a thorough peer analysis took place utilising various 
institutional reports. For further detail refer to the 
remuneration report.
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Reason for and effect of special resolution  
number 4.2
As the fees payable to non-executive directors have been 
benchmarked to other companies with a similar market 
capitalisation taking into account the estimated time and 
the other requirements of directors, an annual increase  
not exceeding 10% is proposed for approval in the 
subsequent year.

Ordinary resolution number 11:
Signature of documentation
“Resolved that any director of the company or the company 
secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such 
documentation and do all such things as may be necessary 
for or incidental to the implementation of ordinary 
resolution numbers 1 to 10 and special resolution numbers 
1 to 4 which are passed by the shareholders in accordance 
with and subject to the terms thereof.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 11 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

Quorum
A quorum for the purposes of considering the resolutions 
above shall consist of three shareholders of the company 
personally present or represented by proxy (and if the 
shareholder is a body corporate, the representative of the 
body corporate) and entitled to vote at the annual general 
meeting. In addition, a quorum shall comprise 25% of 
all voting rights entitled to be exercised by shareholders 
in respect of the resolutions above. The date on which 
shareholders must be recorded as such in the register 
maintained by the transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited (Second Floor, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196), 
for the purposes of being entitled to attend, participate in 
and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday,  
24 March 2017.

Voting and proxies
A shareholder of the company entitled to attend and vote 
at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one 
or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the 
company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company 
present in person or represented by proxy shall have one 
vote only. On a poll, every shareholder of the company 
present in person or represented by proxy shall have 
one vote for every share held in the company by such 
shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any 
shareholder holding certificated shares who cannot 
attend the annual general meeting but who wishes to be 
represented thereat. Forms of proxy may also be obtained 
on request from the company’s registered office. The 
completed form of proxy must be deposited at; or posted 
to the office of the transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Second Floor, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be received by not 
later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. Alternatively, the 
form of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the annual 
general meeting at the annual general meeting prior to 
the commencement of the annual general meeting. Any 
shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy 
will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person 
at the annual general meeting should the shareholder 
subsequently decide to do so.

Attached to the proxy form is an extract of section 58 of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, to which shareholders are 
referred. Shareholders who have already dematerialised 
their shares through a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (CSDP) or broker and who wish to attend the 
annual general meeting must instruct their CSDP or broker 
to issue them with the necessary letter of representation 
to attend.

Dematerialised shareholders, who have elected “own–
name” registration in the sub-register through a CSDP 
and who are unable to attend but who wish to vote at 
the annual general meeting, must complete and return 
the attached form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer 
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107  to be received 
by no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. Alternatively, 
the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the 
annual general meeting at the annual general meeting prior 
to the commencement of the annual general meeting.
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All beneficial owners whose shares have been 
dematerialised through a CSDP or broker other than with 
“own-name” registration, must provide the CSDP or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of their custody 
agreement should they wish to vote at the annual general 
meeting. Alternatively, they may request the CSDP or broker 
to provide them with a letter of representation, in terms 
of their custody agreements, should they wish to attend 
the annual general meeting. Such shareholder must not 
complete the attached form of proxy.

In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, meeting participants will be required to provide 
identification to the reasonable satisfaction of the chairman 
of the annual general meeting and the chairman must 
be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to 
participate in and vote (whether as a shareholder or as a 
proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably satisfied.

Electronic participation
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the 
meeting by way of telephone conference call. Shareholders 
or their proxies who wish to participate in the annual 
general meeting via the teleconference facility will be 
required to advise the company thereof by no later than 
10:00 on 24 March 2017 by submitting, by email to Ronelle 
Adant at ronelle@ciglimited.co.za, or by fax to be faxed to 
086 748 9169, for the attention of Ronelle Adant, relevant 
contact details including email address, cellular number 
and landline, as well as full details of the shareholder’s 
title to the shares issued by the company and proof of 
identity, in the form of copies of identity documents and 
share certificates (in the case of certificated shareholders), 
and (in the case of dematerialised shareholders) written 
confirmation from the shareholder’s. CSDP confirming 
the shareholder’s title to the dematerialised shares. Upon 
receipt of the required information, the shareholder 
concerned will be provided with a secure code and 
instructions to access the electronic communication during 
the annual general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to participate in the annual general 
meeting by way of telephone conference call must note 
that they will not be able to vote during the annual general 
meeting. Such shareholders, should they wish to have their 
vote counted at the annual general meeting, must, to the 
extent applicable, (i) complete the form of proxy; or 
(ii) contact their CSDP or broker, in both instances, as set 
out above.

By order of the board

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited
Company secretary

Registered office of the company
Commerce Square, Building 2 
39 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst
PO Box 651455, Benmore 2010

22 February 2017 
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Where appropriate and applicable the terms defined in the notice of annual general meeting to which this form of proxy is attached and forms part of bear the same 
meanings in this form of proxy.
For use by shareholders of the company holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own-name” registration, nominee companies 
of Central Securities Depository Participants (CSDP) and brokers’ nominee companies, registered as such at the close of business on Friday, 24 March 2017 (the voting 
record date), at the annual general meeting to be held at Commerce Square, Building 2, 39 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst at 10:00 on Wednesday, 29 March 2017 (the 
annual general meeting) or any postponement or adjournment thereof.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own-name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own-name” 
registration, should provide instructions to their appointed CSDP or broker in the form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the 
CSDP or broker.

I/We (full name in block letters please) 

of (address)

being the holder/s of  shares hereby appoint: 

1.  or failing him/her

2.  or failing him/her 

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting, 

as my/our proxy to attend and speak and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, 
for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting, and to vote on 
the resolutions in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in the following manner:

Number of votes

Shares

For* Against* Abstain*

Ordinary resolution number 1: Adoption of annual financial statements
Ordinary resolution number 2: Confirmation of appointment of Professor Kalu Ojah as director
Ordinary resolution number 3: Confirmation of appointment of Dr Kevin Kariuki as director
Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of Kofi Bucknor as director
Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-election of Robert Horton as director
Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee:
6.1   Anthony Dixon (Chairman) as a member of the audit and risk committee
6.2   Alex Darko as a member of the audit and risk committee
6.3   Robert Horton as a member of the audit and risk committee
Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-appointment of the auditors
Ordinary resolution number 8: Control over unissued shares
Ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to issue shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 10: Approval of remuneration policy
Special resolution number 1: Share repurchases
Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related parties
Special resolution number 3: Allotment and issue of shares or options to directors and prescribed officers pursuant 
to the Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited 2014 Share Plan
Special resolution number 4.1: Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors
Special resolution number 4.2: Approval of an annual increase not exceeding 10% to fees payable to  
non-executive directors
Ordinary resolution number 11: Signature of documentation

* One vote per share held by shareholders recorded in the register on the voting record date 
* Mark “for”, “against” or “abstain” as required. If no options are marked the proxy will be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit 

Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.

Signed this  day of 2017

Signature 

Assisted by (where applicable) 

(State capacity and full name)

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. A proxy need not be 
a member of the company. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the annual 
general meeting.

Forms of proxy must be deposited at Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Second Floor, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 
or posted to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 so as to arrive by no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the 
chairman of the annual general meeting at the annual general meeting prior to the commencement of the annual general meeting.

Please read the notes overleaf.

Form of proxy

Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2007/004935/06) 
JSE share code: CIL  |  ISIN: ZAE000153888 
(CIG or the group or the company)

Directors of the company
Executive 
Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 
Ivor Klitzner (Financial Director) 

Independent non-executive
Frank Boner (Chairman)
Kofi Bucknor
Alex Darko
Tony Dixon
Robert Horton
Dr. Kevin Kariuki 
Judi Nwokedi
Professor Kalu Ojah
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Notes to the form of proxy

1.   This form of proxy is only to be completed by those 
ordinary shareholders who are: 

◗◗ holding ordinary shares in certificated form; or 

◗◗  recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their 
“own name”, on the date on which shareholders must 
be recorded as such in the register maintained by the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, in order to vote at the annual 
general meeting being Wednesday, 29 March 2017,  
and who wish to appoint another person to represent 
them at the annual general meeting. 

2.   Certificated shareholders wishing to attend the annual 
general meeting have to ensure beforehand with the 
transfer secretaries of the company (being Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited) that their shares are 
registered in their name. 

3.   Beneficial shareholders whose shares are not registered in 
their “own name”, but in the name of another, for example, 
a nominee, may not complete a proxy form, unless a form 
of proxy is issued to them by a registered shareholder 
and they should contact the registered shareholder for 
assistance in issuing instruction on voting their shares, 
or obtaining a proxy to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote 
at the annual general meeting. 

4.   A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names 
of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the 
space, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual 
general meeting”. The person whose name stands first on 
the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general 
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of 
those whose names follow. 

5.   A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by means of a tick or a cross in the appropriate box 
provided. However if you wish to cast your vote if: (i) a 
shareholder fails to comply with the above; or (ii) gives 
contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or any 
additional resolution(s) which are properly put before the 
meeting; or (iii) the resolution listed in the proxy form is 
modified or amended, the shareholder will be deemed 
to authorise the chairman of the annual general meeting, 
if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour 
of the resolutions at the annual general meeting, or any 
other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual 
general meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of all the 
shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. If however the 
shareholder has provided further written instructions which 
accompany this form of proxy and which indicate how 
the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the 
circumstances referred to in (i) to (iii) above, then the proxy 
shall comply with those instructions. 

6.   The forms of proxy should be lodged at Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Second Floor, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or 
posted to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 so as to be 
received by not later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. 
Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the 
chairman of the annual general meeting at the annual 
general meeting prior to the commencement of the annual 
general meeting. 

7.   The completion and lodgement of this form of proxy will 
not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the 
annual general meeting and speaking and voting in person 

thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so. In addition 
to the aforegoing, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering 
a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and 
to the company. The revocation of a proxy appointment 
constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s 
authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as at the later 
of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or 
the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered 
in the required manner.

8.   The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject 
or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or  
received, other than in compliance with these notes 
provided that, in respect of acceptances, he is satisfied 
as to the manner in which the shareholder(s) concerned 
wish(es) to vote. 

9.   Any alteration to this form of proxy, other than a deletion 
of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory/ies. 

10.   Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless 
previously recorded by the company or Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited or waived by the 
chairman of the annual general meeting. 

11.   A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her 
legal capacity are produced or have been registered by 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited. 

12.  Where there are joint holders of shares: 

 12.1 any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and 

 12.2  the vote of the senior (for that purpose seniority will 
be determined by the order in which the names of 
shareholders appear in the register of members) 
who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) 
will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of 
the other joint holder(s) of shares. 

13.   If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies 
who are shareholders of the company having shares 
registered in their “own name” may, instead of completing this 
form of proxy, appoint a representative to represent them 
and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written 
notice of the appointment of that representative. This notice 
will not be effective at the annual general meeting unless 
it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution 
or other authority in terms of which that representative is 
appointed and is received at Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, at Second Floor, Rosebank Towers,  
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196, to reach the company 
by no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.

14.   This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or 
postponement of the annual general meeting, including any 
postponement due to a lack of quorum, unless withdrawn 
by the shareholder. 

15.   The aforegoing notes contain a summary of the relevant 
provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as required in terms of that section. In addition, an 
extract from the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, reflecting the 
provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 
is attached to this form of proxy.
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Extract from the Companies Act,  
71 of 2008
“58. Shareholder right to be represented by proxy

1.  At any time, a shareholder of a company may appoint 
any individual, including an individual who is not 
a shareholder of that company, as a proxy to: (a) 
participate in , and speak and vote at, a shareholders 
meeting on behalf of the shareholder; or (b) give or 
withhold written consent on behalf of the shareholder 
to a decision contemplated in section 60. 

2. A proxy appointment: 

◗◗ must be in writing, dated and signed by the 
shareholder; and 

◗◗  remains valid for: 

 –   one year after the date on which it was signed; or 

 –    any longer or shorter period expressly set out in 
the appointment, unless it is revoked in a manner 
contemplated in subsection (4)(c), or expires 
earlier as contemplated in subsection (8)(d). 

3.  Except to the extent that the Memorandum of 
Incorporation of a company provides otherwise: 

◗◗ a shareholder of that company may appoint two 
or more persons concurrently as proxies, and may 
appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting 
rights attached to different securities held by the 
shareholder; 

◗◗ a proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act 
on behalf of the shareholder to another person, 
subject to any restriction set out in the instrument 
appointing the proxy; and 

◗◗ a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must 
be delivered to the company, or to any other 
person on behalf of the company, before the 
proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a 
shareholders meeting. 

4.  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint 
a proxy: 

◗◗ the appointment is suspended at any time and 
to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act 
directly and in person in the exercise of any rights 
as a shareholder. 

◗◗ the appointment is revocable unless the proxy 
appointment expressly states otherwise; and 

◗◗ if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may 
revoke the proxy appointment by: 

 –    cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and 

 –    delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to 
the proxy, and to the company. 

5.  The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a 
complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority 
to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of: 

◗◗ the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or 

◗◗ the date on which the revocation instrument was 
delivered as required in subsection (4)(c)(ii). 

6.  If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
has been delivered to a company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice that is 
required by this Act or the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation to be delivered by the company to the 
shareholder must be delivered by the company to: 

◗◗ the shareholder; or 

◗◗ the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has: 

 –    directed the company to do so, in writing; and 

 –    paid any reasonable fee charged by the company 
for doing so. 

7.  A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from 
exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without 
direction, except to the extent that the Memorandum of 
Incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, 
provides otherwise. 

8.  If a company issues an invitation to shareholders to 
appoint one or more persons named by the company 
as a proxy, or supplies a form of instrument for 
appointing a proxy: 

 (a)    the invitation must be sent to every shareholder 
who is entitled to notice of the meeting at which the 
proxy is intended to be exercised; 

 (b)    the invitation, or form of instrument supplied by  
the company for the purpose of appointing a  
proxy, must: 

 –     bear a reasonably prominent summary of the 
rights established by this section; 

 –    contain adequate blank space, immediately 
preceding the name or names of any person or 
persons named in it, to enable a shareholder 
to write in the name and, if so desired, an 
alternative name of a proxy chosen by the 
shareholder; and 

 –    provide adequate space for the shareholder 
to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to 
vote in favour of or against any resolution or 
resolutions to be put at the meeting, or is to 
abstain from voting; 

 (c)    the company must not require that the proxy 
appointment be made irrevocable; and 

 (d)    the proxy appointment remains valid only until the 
end of the meeting at which it was intended to be 
used, subject to subsection (5). 

9.  Subsection (8)(b) and (d) do not apply if the company 
merely supplies a generally available standard form of 
proxy appointment on request by a shareholder.” 
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Shareholders’ diary

Next financial year-end  31 August 2017

Preliminary annual results announcement  8 November 2016

Annual report posted  28 February 2017

Annual general meeting 29 March 2017

Interim results announcement  5 April 2017
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The board

Kofi Bucknor (62) (Ghanaian)
BSc (Bus Admin), MBA (Finance) | Appointed: 2012

Kofi is the managing partner of private equity firm, Kingdom Africa Management, 
which evolved from Kingdom Zephyr Africa Management. He currently serves on 
the boards of Newmont Mining Corporation (US), Asset Resources Management 
(Nigeria), Saham Assurances (Morocco) and Baker Hughes Ghana Limited. 
He formerly served as a director of Ashanti Goldfields Corporation and Ecobank 
Transnational Corporation, and is a former chairman of the Ghana Stock Exchange.

Executive directors

Independent non-executive directors

Raoul Gamsu (47)
CEO | BAcc, CA(SA) | Appointed: 2007

Raoul was responsible for leading the consortium which created and subsequently listed 
CIG. Prior to this Raoul worked in various corporate roles with Bidvest, Rebhold, Rebserve 
and Mvelaphanda, culminating in his appointment as the chief operating officer at 
Rebserve and Mvelaphanda.

Frank Boner (70)
Chairman | CA(SA) | Appointed: 2010

In 1998 Frank joined Global Capital Proprietary Limited, a boutique investment banking and 
private equity firm, where he is today CEO and sits on the board of all investee companies. Prior 
to this he served as managing partner of the accounting firm now called Horwath Leveton Boner. 
He was also formerly joint managing director of Reichmans Limited prior to its sale to Investec 
Bank, where he subsequently served as manager of the corporate asset-based finance division 
for a time. Frank is a non-executive director of Mazor Group Limited where he sits on certain 
board committees.

Ivor Klitzner (48)
Financial Director | BCom, CA(SA) | Appointed: 2007

Ivor was instrumental in assisting with the listing of CIG in 2007. He completed his 
articles with Ernst & Young in 1993 and became a financial director at Hallmark Hemdon 
Proprietary Limited, before leaving in 2000 to join M&IC Distributors Proprietary Limited, 
a subsidiary of Brandcorp Holdings Limited.

Alex Darko (64)
FCCA, MSc (MIS) | Appointed: 2010

Alex is a seasoned executive and management consultant with over 30 years’ multi-industry 
experience in Europe, USA and Africa. He advises organisations on business and cultural 
transformation, change management and business strategy. He also coaches and mentors 
executives. Alex was previously group CIO at AngloGold Ashanti and Director of Finance at 
Dun & Bradstreet Europe Limited. He is currently a non-executive director of Barclays  
Africa Group and Safintra Proprietary Limited.
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Judi Nwokedi (57)
BSocSc | Appointed: 2012

Judi has a distinguished career in business and community development. She served as 
managing director of the SABC from 2001 to 2005. Judi has worked at Motorola Sub-Saharan 
Africa and AREVA. She is also the vice chair of the largest pan-African film market, Sithengi. 
She serves on the board of the University of Witwatersrand – Institute for the Advancement 
of Journalism, is chairperson of African Spirit Proprietary Limited and is chief operating officer 
at Tourvest.

Robert Horton (45)
CA(SA), BComm (Accounting and Information Systems) (UCT) | Appointed: 2011

Robert worked in the oil and gas sector at Masefield in London where he was responsible 
for East African operations. In 1998 he moved back to South Africa and worked in corporate 
finance before joining a leading private equity firm. In 2010 he joined a pan-African private 
equity fund manager where he focused largely on West and North African opportunities. Since 
2012 Rob has been investing funds into high growth opportunities on the African continent. 
He has served as a director of private companies in the building supplies, consumer goods, 
distribution and technology sectors.

Professor Kalu Ojah (57)
BSc, MA (Finance), PhD | Appointed: 2016

Kalu’s entire career has been in academia with his teaching focused on capital markets, 
financial institutional management, banking operations management, international finance, 
investment and innovation, emerging market and development finance, corporate finance, 
entrepreneurial finance, financial economics and international business. He has published over 
50 peer-referred articles which have appeared in top international journals and handbooks. 

Anthony Dixon (70)
CA(SA), FinstD | Appointed: 2007

During a 29-year career with Coopers & Lybrand (PricewaterhouseCoopers), Tony Dixon became regional 
chairman, KwaZulu-Natal and a long-serving member of the national executive and governing board. 
From 1995 to date Tony has held a number of directorships on major company boards including 
one of South Africa’s largest short-term insurance companies – Guardian National Insurance 
Company (before its merger with Santam) and Allied Technologies Limited (Altech). Tony was the 
executive director of the IoD from 2004 to 2007. He is an acknowledged expert in corporate 
governance and for a number of years provided the secretariat role to the King Committee. 
Tony is presently an independent non-executive director of Santova Limited.

Dr Kevin Kariuki (52)
PhD, Chartered Electrical Engineer, Fellow of the Institute of Engineering and Technology 
Appointed: 2016

Kevin holds a PhD in the reliability of power systems with 28 years of post-qualification experience. He is 
the Head of Infrastructure at Industrial Promotion Services – IPS (EA) and has been involved in the 
development of over US$1,75 billion of privately financed infrastructure projects, including Public 
Private Partnership projects, in his current position and formerly as a Consultant with Midlands 
Power International. Kevin was previously head of the Technical Division at Kenya’s Electricity 
Regulatory Board, the predecessor of Energy Regulatory Commission. He is a frequent global 
speaker on private sector participation in infrastructure, including PPP schemes. Kevin is currently 
a board member at Bujagali Energy Limited, SEACOM Limited and Tsavo Power Company and a 
former Chairman of the Kenya Civil Aviation Authority.
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Governance

The 
Board

Committees

Responsibilities

◗◗  Reviewing the interim 
and annual financial 
statements and the 
integrated annual report

◗◗  Internal control 
framework and 
procedures

◗◗  Confirming and 
reviewing internal audit, 
financial and operational 
controls

◗◗  Reviewing risk 
management, standards 
of grievance, reporting 
and compliance

◗◗  Monitoring the 
outsourced internal 
audit and IT governance 
functions

◗◗  Approving the 
appointment of the 
auditors for non-audit 
services

◗◗  Ensuring that levels 
of remuneration are 
sufficient to attract, 
retain and motivate 
executives of the calibre 
required for high-level 
management and key 
personnel positions

◗◗  Identifying and 
nominating suitable 
candidates for election 
to the group’s board 
of directors

◗◗  Ensuring that the group 
acts as a responsible 
corporate citizen, 
particularly in the context 
of the economic, social 
and environmental 
challenges facing South 
Africa and the other 
countries in which the 
group operates

◗◗  Overseeing the good 
corporate citizenship 
of the group, on behalf 
of the board

Responsibilities

The board retains full and effective control over the 
group and monitors the executive management 
and decisions in the subsidiary companies. 
The board remains responsible and accountable 
for the performance of the group. The directors 
exercise sound judgement and leadership with 
integrity based on the King III RAFT principles. 
The responsibilities of the board are set out 
in full in its Charter, which is available at 

 www.ciglimited.co.za.

Audit and risk committee
See full report on  
page  53

Remuneration committee
See full report on  
page  42

Nominations committee Social and ethics committee
See full report on  
page  47

3/3 3/3 3/3 2/3

Members

Anthony Dixon* (Chair) 
Alex Darko*
Robert Horton* 
By invitation
Ivor Klitzner (Financial 
Director) 
Frank Boner* 

Alex Darko* (Chair)
Frank Boner* 
Anthony Dixon* 
By invitation
Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 

Frank Boner* (Chair) 
Alex Darko*
Anthony Dixon* 
By invitation
Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 

Alex Darko* (Chair)
Ivor Klitzner  
(Financial Director) 
Judi Nwokedi*
Sweetman Siluleko Gesha

Members

Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 
Ivor Klitzner (Financial Director) 
Frank Boner* (Chairman) 
Kofi Bucknor* 
Alex Darko*
Anthony Dixon* 
Robert Horton*
Dr Kevin Kariuki* (appointed 15 August 2016)
Judi Nwokedi*
Professor Kalu Ojah* (appointed 1 December 2016)

Independent directors

* Independent non-executive
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The board
Succession planning
The succession plan is reviewed periodically as part of the annual CIG risk assessment. At the beginning of each year, the 
CEO and financial director meet with the outsourced risk manager, and the succession plan is reviewed for relevance and 
practicality. The KnowRisk system is updated, and risks associated with succession planning, or lack thereof, are discussed, 
documented and assessed, taking into account the design, effectiveness and operational adequacy of the plan’s controls.

Independent directors
The board formally evaluates the independence of the non-executive directors annually having due regard to the relevant 
factors which might impair independence. In the year under review all non-executive directors were considered to be 
independent. Eight of the total ten directors are independent.

Self-evaluation 
The board conducts an annual self-evaluation exercise, facilitated by the independent company secretary, with the individual 
directors completing self-evaluation assessments. The company secretary coordinates collation of the results and formal 
reporting in respect of the consolidated results.

All committees review their respective performances annually. The results are communicated to the members of the board. 
The outsourced risk manager and the group financial director evaluate the outcomes on an annual basis as part of the 
process of updating the IoD corporate governance assessment.

Gender diversity 
CIG supports the principles and aims of gender diversity at board level.

In terms of CIG’s existing policy, the board is required to have one female representative. The nominations committee will 
review the gender targets  and fulfilment thereof annually.

Meeting attendance

Director
Board  

meetings

Audit  
committee 
meetings

Remuneration 
committee
meetings

Nominations
committee
meetings

Social 
and ethics 
committee
meetings

Raoul Gamsu (CEO) 4/4 2/2ø 2/2ø

Ivor Klitzner (Financial Director) 4/4 4/4ø 3/3
Frank Boner (Chairman)*§ 4/4 4/4ø 2/2 2/2
Kofi Bucknor* 2/4 4/4
Alex Darko*+# 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3
Anthony Dixon*^ 4/4 4/4 1/2 1/2
Robert Horton* 3/4 4/4
Kevin Kariuki*  
(appointed 15 August 2016) 1/1
Judi Nwokedi* 2/4 3/3
Kalu Ojah  
(appointed 1 December 2016)

* Independent non-executive
^ Audit committee chairman
+ Social and ethics committee chairman
# Remuneration committee chairman
§ Nominations committee chairman
ø Attended by invitation
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Assurance 
The combined assurance model of the group is built on three bases: 

 Management-based assurance 

 Risk and legal-based assurance 

   Independent assurance, which includes external and internal audit, ISO certification and audits conducted by 
consulting engineers and other parties. 

Category Assurance Process of assurance 

Strategic

Mergers and acquisitions
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management 

Corporate governance
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗ Risk management 

Ethics
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗ Risk management

Capital adequacy
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review special project 

◗◗ External audit (limited) 

Operational

Corporate assets
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management 

◗◗   External and internal audit 

Tender management
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management, compliance

◗◗   External audit (limited) and internal audit

Financial
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management 

◗◗   External audit and internal audit

Information technology
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   External audit (limited) and internal audit

Human resources
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   External audit (limited) and internal audit

Procurement and supply  
chain management   

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management, compliance

◗◗   External audit (limited) and internal audit

Project and risk management
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management, compliance

◗◗   Internal audit

Production management
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management, compliance

◗◗   External audit (limited)

Governance continued
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Category Assurance Process of assurance 

Operational continued

Due diligence
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management (limited)

◗◗   External audit (limited)

Quality assurance
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management (limited)

◗◗   Health and safety 

◗◗   ISO certification 

Products and services
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗ Consulting engineers 

SHE and environmental 
management   

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management (limited)

◗◗   Health and safety 

◗◗ Compliance

◗◗ External audit (limited)

◗◗   ISO certification

◗◗ Consulting engineers

Covenants
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management 

◗◗ External audit and internal audit

Treasury and funding
  

◗◗ Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗ Risk management

◗◗ External audit (limited) and internal audit

Environment
  

◗◗ Self-assessment

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   Health and safety 

◗◗ Compliance

Business continuity and  
disaster recovery   

◗◗ Self-assessment

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   Compliance

Legal/statutory compliance
  

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   Compliance

◗◗   External audit (limited) and internal audit 

Integrated reporting
   

◗◗   Self-assessment, management review 

◗◗   Risk management (limited)

◗◗   Compliance

◗◗   External audit

EHSS performance
  

◗◗ Self-assessment

◗◗   Risk management

◗◗   Health and safety 

◗◗   Compliance
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The board is committed to upholding the King III RAFT principles: responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency. 
At CIG, we add discipline, independence and social responsibility.

The board recognises that governance principles and practices evolve, so our approach to governance is continually reviewed 
to appropriately embrace best practice. CIG’s financial director, with the assistance of the company’s external risk consultant, 
conducted a full review of the company’s corporate governance regime in the year under review, using the IoD Governance 
Assessment Instrument. Overall, the company achieved an ’AAA’ rating which indicates “Highest application” of the principles 
and recommendations of King III.

The full King III checklist is available on the company’s website  www.ciglimited.co.za. The extract of Chapter 2 follows.

Annexure 3 t t 

King III application: Chapter 2

*  According to the IoDSA Governance Assessment Instrument

n Not applied            n Explained            n Applied

Overall score – King III compliance and application*
Principles and recommendations

Co
m

pl
et

en
es

s 
m

et
er Board composition

Remuneration

Governance office bearers

Board role and duties

Accountability

Performance assessment

Board committees

Group boards

AAA

AAA

AAA

AAA

AA

AAA

AAA

AAA

ScoreStatus category

AAA

Highest applicationAAA
High applicationAA

Overall
score

100%
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Chapter 2: Boards and directors 
Principle 
number Description Application

2.1 The board should act as the 
focal point for and custodian of 
corporate governance.

The board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance at CIG. 
In accordance with the well-defined board charter the board is committed to 
the highest standards of corporate governance. The board meets at least four 
times a year.

2.2 The board should appreciate 
that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability are 
inseparable.

The board is responsible for aligning the company’s strategic objectives, 
vision and mission with performance and sustainability considerations. The 
board informs and approves the strategy and strives to ensure that long-term 
planning will deliver sustainable outcomes, taking account of people, planet 
and profit. The board ensures that the strategy is aligned with the purpose of 
the company, the value drivers of its business and the legitimate interests and 
expectations of its stakeholders. Strategy is translated into key performance 
and risk areas (including finance, ethics, compliance and sustainability) and the 
associated performance and risk measures are clearly identified. The board 
considers sustainability to be a business opportunity: long-term sustainability 
is linked to and guides strategy.

2.3 The board should provide 
effective leadership based on 
an ethical foundation.

The board provides effective leadership and is committed to the highest levels 
of corporate governance as a key driver of sustainability.

2.4 The board should ensure that 
the company is and is seen 
to be a responsible corporate 
citizen.

CIG’s social and ethics committee reflects and effects the company’s 
commitment to responsible corporate citizenship.

2.5 The board should ensure 
that the company’s ethics are 
managed effectively.

The board has established a social and ethics committee, which is tasked 
with ensuring that the company’s ethics are managed effectively. The board 
ensures the Code of Conduct is effected through group strategy, as well as in 
operational decisions.

2.6 The board should ensure that 
the company has an effective 
and independent audit 
committee.

The audit and risk committee is chaired by an independent non-executive 
director, Tony Dixon. It further consists of two independent non-executive 
directors. The board is satisfied with their levels of independence in 
accordance with directors’ mandatory quarterly disclosures. The board is 
satisfied that the audit and risk committee is effective.

2.7 The board should be 
responsible for the governance 
of risk.

The board’s audit and risk committee has conducted an evaluation of 
governance risk and is satisfied with the effective management of risk.

2.8 The board should be 
responsible for information 
technology (’IT’) governance.

The board’s audit and risk committee ensures that IT governance is an integral 
part of corporate governance.

2.9 The board should ensure that 
the company complies with 
applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding 
rules, codes and standards.

The board ensures that the company complies with applicable laws in 
each country of operation and considers adherence to non-binding rules, 
codes and standards including Organisation for Economic Cooperation and 
Development (OECD) and UN Global Compact principles.
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King III application: Chapter 2 continued

Principle 
number Description Application

2.10 The board should ensure that 
there is an effective risk-based 
internal audit.

The board ensures that the internal audit function continues to report directly 
and effectively to the audit and risk committee.

2.11 The board should appreciate 
that stakeholders’ perceptions 
affect the company’s 
reputation. 

The board of CIG recognises the importance of developing and nurturing 
positive and stable relationships with key stakeholders as a key driver of 
business success.

2.12 The board should ensure the 
integrity of the company’s 
integrated report. 

The board continues to ensure that the integrated report endeavours to 
provide a true view of the group’s commitment to ensuring that financial, 
social and environmental sustainability permeates the entire business.

2.13 The board should report on the 
effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal controls.

The board continuously ensures the soundness of the company’s system 
of internal controls.

2.14 The board and its directors 
should act in the best interests 
of the company.

The board acknowledges its role as a trustee on behalf of the shareholders. 
Directors are permitted to take independent advice in connection with 
their duties at company cost following a board approved procedure. Real 
or perceived conflicts of interest are disclosed to the board and managed 
appropriately. In addition to the Code of Conduct, the members of the board 
are governed by a formal policy in respect of dealing in CIG shares. The board 
has unrestricted access to all company information, records, documents and 
property subject to following a board approved process.

2.15 The board should consider 
business rescue proceedings or 
other turnaround mechanisms 
as soon as the company is 
financially distressed as defined 
in the Act. 

The board continually monitors the group’s financial position and whether it 
is financially distressed i.e if it appears reasonably unlikely that the company 
will be able to pay its debts as they fall due and payable within the ensuing 
six months or become insolvent within the ensuing six months.

2.16 The board should elect a 
chairman of the board who is 
an independent non-executive 
director. The CEO of the 
company should not also fulfil 
the role of chairman  
of the board.

The Chairman, Frank Boner, is an independent non-executive chairman and 
the roles of CEO and chairman are clearly defined. The chairman is elected by 
the board members annually and his ability to add value, and his performance 
is assessed every year. The chairman’s role and responsibility is formalised. 
Succession planning is in place for the chairman. The chairman of the board 
is not the chairman of the remuneration committee.

2.17 The board should appoint the 
chief executive officer and 
establish a framework for the 
delegation of authority.

The board has appointed Raoul Gamsu as CEO and a delegation of authority 
framework is reviewed regularly. Further the board has input in other senior 
executive appointments. The board defines its own level of materiality and 
approves a delegation or authority framework. The role and function of the 
CEO is formalised and performance measures are in place to appraise his 
performance. The CEO is not a member of the remuneration, nominations 
or audit committees.
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Principle 
number Description Application

2.18 The board should comprise 
a balance of power, with a 
majority of non-executive 
directors. The majority of 
non-executive directors should 
be independent.

The board comprises a majority of non-executive directors, all of whom 
are independent. The board has two executive directors – the CEO and the 
director responsible for finance. When determining the number of directors 
to serve on the board, the knowledge, skills and resources required as 
appropriate to the business of the company are considered. The board has 
considered whether its size, diversity and demographics make it effective. 
At least one third of non-executive directors rotate every year. The board, 
through the nominations committee, recommends eligibility for re-election 
of retiring non-executive directors, while considering past performance, 
contribution and the objectivity of business judgement call. Non-executive 
directors classified as ’independent’ by the company are subjected to an 
annual informal evaluation of their independence by the chairman and the 
board, based on a formal annual declaration of interests which includes an 
assessment of any change in circumstances.

Independent non-executive directors serving for longer than nine years are 
subjected to a rigorous review of their independence and performance by the 
board. The classification of directors as independent or otherwise is disclosed 
on the basis of the yearly assessment of the independence of the independent 
non-executive directors, in line with King III’s definition of independence. 

There is reporting on the procedure and outcome of the assessment of the 
suitability of non-executive independent directors to continue on the board  
as such, for a period in excess of nine years

2.19 Directors should be appointed 
through a formal process. 

Procedures for appointments to the board are formal and transparent and 
are a matter for the board as a whole, assisted by the nominations committee.

Procedures are in place to investigate the candidates’ backgrounds prior 
to their appointment. An agreement is concluded with all non-executive 
directors which encompasses a commitment to comply with the directors’ 
code of conduct, the contribution that is expected from the specific individual, 
the remuneration for holding office as director and the terms and extent 
of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover to be provided. Details of 
directors’ appointment procedure and composition of the board are provided 
in the integrated report. The board makes full disclosure regarding individual 
directors to enable shareholders to make their own assessment of directors. 
Reasons for the removal, resignation or retirement of directors are provided. 
The number of meetings held each year by the board and each board 
committee and the details of attendance of each director (as applicable) at 
such meetings are disclosed.

2.20 The induction and ongoing 
training and development of 
directors should be conducted 
through formal processes. 

The board ensures that inexperienced directors are developed through 
mentorship programmes. The board ensures that continuing professional 
development programmes are implemented. Directors receive regular briefing 
on changes in risk, laws and the business environment and a formal induction 
programme is in place for new directors.
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King III application: Chapter 2 continued

Principle 
number Description Application

2.21 The board should be assisted 
by a competent, suitably 
qualified and experienced 
company secretary. 

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited is an independent company 
secretarial practice providing services to a number of JSE listed companies, 
and was appointed in compliance with the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, the  
JSE Listings Requirements and the recommendations of King III. The board 
reviews the competence, qualifications and experience of the company 
secretary, and its representatives, annually and deems them to be suitably 
qualified. The board is satisfied that CIS Company Secretaries’ representatives  
Neville Toerien and Gillian Prestwich are sufficiently qualified and skilled to act 
in accordance with the requirements of the law and the recommendations of 
the King III Report and maintain an arm’s-length relationship with the board. 
The company secretary is appointed by the board and is empowered by the 
board to effectively perform its duties. The role and function of the company 
secretary is formalised.

2.22 The evaluation of the board, its 
committees and the individual 
directors should be performed 
every year.

The board determines its own role, functions, duties and performance criteria 
as well as that for the directors on the board and the board and board 
committees to serve as a benchmark for performance appraisal.

Annual evaluations of the board’s individual committees and individual 
directors’ performance are performed.

The results of performance evaluations inform training needs.

2.23 The board should delegate 
certain functions to well-
structured committees but 
without abdicating its own 
responsibilities. 

The board delegates certain functions, without abdicating its own 
responsibilities, to the following committees:

◗◗ Audit and risk committee

◗◗ Remuneration committee

◗◗ Nominations committee

◗◗ Social and ethics committee

All the committees’ terms of reference outline composition, objectives, 
purpose and activities, as well as delegations of authority – including the 
extent of the committee’s power to make decisions, tenure and reporting 
mechanism to the board

2.24 A governance framework 
should be agreed between 
the group and its subsidiary 
boards. 

A governance framework between the group and its subsidiary boards 
has been agreed and is in effect. Implementation and adoption of policies, 
processes or procedures of the holding company are considered and 
approved by the subsidiary company. Consultation takes place between the 
board and the chairmen of subsidiary boards and nominations committees 
prior to nominating a shareholder representative. The integrated annual 
report provides details of the implementation and adoption of policies, 
processes and procedures of the holding company by subsidiary companies.
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Principle 
number Description Application

2.25 Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly 
and responsibly. 

The remuneration philosophy reflects CIG’s commitment to best practice. 
The group’s remuneration committee determines the remuneration policy 
for executive and senior remuneration in line with the group’s remuneration 
philosophy and strategy. The total remuneration packages of the executive 
directors and senior management are subject to annual review and 
benchmarked against external market data, taking into account the size of the 
company, its market sector and business complexity. A detailed remuneration 
report is contained in the integrated report on pages  42 to 46.

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior 
executives.

The remuneration of directors and prescribed officers is disclosed in the 
integrated report on pages  92 and 93.

2.27 Shareholders should approve 
the company’s remuneration 
policy.

Shareholders consider and endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, 
the company’s remuneration policy, at the annual general meeting.



146 Annexure 4 t t 

Definitions

Definitions at CIG
Infrastructure At CIG we define infrastructure as support services for companies in the following sectors: 

Civils; Power; Oil & Gas; Mining; Transport; Telecoms and Water, as well as the acquisition of 
related assets in these areas

AES Angola Environmental Serviços Limitada, in which CIG holds a 30,5% stake

Conco Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited, CIG’s core business and the largest high-
voltage construction company in South Africa 

Conco Energy Solutions Conco Energy Solutions, a division which provides services to control power delivery systems 
so as to reduce the occurrence and shorten the duration of power outages

Conlog Conlog Proprietary Limited, a company acquired post year-end FY16 which is a leading 
developer, manufacturer and distributor of pre-paid electricity meters and related applications 
and support services

CPM Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited, a former division of Conco, now 
standalone, established in 2012 to provide long-term operational and maintenance services 
to wind farms, solar parks, municipalities and utilities

Drift Supersand or DSS Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited, part of the Consolidated Building Materials division which 
supplies aggregates

EPC Engineer, Procure, Construct

RE Renewable energy

Tractionel Tension Overhead Electrification Proprietary Limited, trading as Tractionel Enterprise, a 
company acquired by CIG in FY15 which specialises in electrification in the rail sector

WECB West End Claybrick Sand Proprietary Limited, part of the Consolidated Building Materials 
division which manufactures a range of clay bricks, cement bricks and roof tiles

Definitions
ABET Adult basic education and training

ASPASA Association of Sand and Aggregate Producers of South Africa

Big 5 +1 South Africa, Angola, Ghana, Nigeria, Saudi Arabia, East Africa 

board The board of directors of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited

CIG or the company Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited, listed on Main Board JSE in the Electrical 
Equipment’ sector

CSI Corporate social investment 

current year The year ending 31 August 2017

ESG Environment, social and governance, the central factors in measuring the sustainability 
and ethical impact of an investment in a company

Exco Executive committee of CIG

group Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited and its subsidiaries

IDC Industrial Development Corporation (of South Africa)

IFC International Finance Corporation
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Definitions continued

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IoD Institute of Directors South Africa

JSE JSE Limited incorporating the Johannesburg Securities Exchange, the main bourse in  
South Africa

King III Report King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2009

LDC Long duration contractors

LTI Lost time injury

LTIFR Lost time injury frequency rate

OEM Original equipment manufacturer

PIDA Programme for Infrastructure Development in Africa

PPE Personal protective equipment

PRASA Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa

the previous year The year ended 31 August 2015

REIPPPP South African Renewable Energy Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme 
launched in 2011 aimed at stimulating the renewable energy industry in South Africa

SABS South African Bureau of Standards

SAIEE South African Institute of Electrical Engineers

SANAS South African National Accreditation System

SAT Site assessment testing

SHE Safety, health and environment

SHE Plan Safety, Health and Environment Management Plan

SHERQ Safety, health, environment, risk and quality

the year under review The year ended 31 August 2016

UASA United Association of South Africa, a registered South African trade union

Financial definitions
EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

HEPS Headline earnings per share

VWAP Volume weighted average price
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Design and
production

Contact details

Country of incorporation and domicile
South Africa

Nature of business and principal activities
Turnkey contractor for the electricity supply industry, 
supplier of heavy building materials to the construction 
industry and supplier of oil waste management services 

Directors
RD Gamsu (CEO)
IM Klitzner (Financial Director)
F Boner (Chairman)*
K Bucknor#*
A Darko*#

AD Dixon
R Horton*
K Kariuki*°

J Nwokedi* 
K Ojah*+

* Independent
# Ghanaian
° Kenyan
+ USA

Registered office
Commerce Square, Building 2
39 Rivonia Road, Cnr Melville Road
Sandhurst 2196
PO Box 651455, Benmore 2010

Company secretary
CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2006/024994/07
Second floor, Rosebank Towers 
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196

Auditors
Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered auditors
Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive 
Johannesburg 2196

Sponsor
Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2006/005780/07
6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton 2196

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

Investor relations
Singular Systems IR
28 Fort Street, Birnam, Johannesburg 2196

michele@singular.co.za/jdebie@singular.co.za 
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